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GLOSSARY

The following is a glossary of terms used frequently throughout this Listing Stateme»t.

"Acquisition" means the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding securities of CHL by Issuer pursuant to the

Amalgamation Agreement dated August 26, 2019, with such acquisition constituting a reverse takeover for the Issuer;

"Affiliate" has the mea»i»g ascribed to sLicl~ term iii Nl 45-106 — Pr•ospecti+s and Regis2ra~tior~ Exem~ptior~, Luiless

otherwise defined;

"Amalco" means the company resulting from the amalgamation of CHL and Subco pursuant to the Amalgamation

Agreement;

"Amalgamation" means the three-corner amalgamation of tl~e Issuer, Subco and CHL pursuant to which (a) all of the

security holders of CHL became security holders of Cultivar and (b) Amalco will became awholly-owned subsidiary

of Cultivar;

"Amalgamation Agreement° means the agreement made as of September 23, 2019 between the Issuer, CHL, and

Subco pursuant to which the Issuer acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of CHL by way of a three-corner

amalgamation, a copy of which is available on the Issuer's profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and any amendments

made thereto;

"ASC" means the Alberta Securities Commission;

"Assets" leas the meaning ascribed to it in "Gerzer~al Deve/opfnent of the Business -General Developm.errt of the

Bti~siness of Issuer Pf~ior to tl~~e Acgur'si.tion";

"Assignor" has the meaning ascribed to it in "Narrative Description of the Ba~si.~ress -Intangible Property";

"Audit Committee" has the meaning ascribed to it in "Dir~cctor-s crn~l Officers —Committees";

"BCBCA" means tl~e B~~esir~esr Corporntion,s Act (British Columbia);

"BCSC° means the British Colti~mbia Securities Com~nissioi~;

"Board" means tl~e board of directors of the 1 suer;

°Cannabis Act" me~»s the Car2r~nbis Act of Ca~~ada, Stat~ites of Cai7ada 2018, c. 16, Assented to 2018-06-21, Bill C-

45, an Act respecti»g cannabis and to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, tl~e Criminal Code a»d other

Acts.

"Cannabis Regulations" means the reg~~lations made ~mder the Ca»uabis Act, SOR / 2019-206, for edible cannabis,

e~»nabis extracts and cannabis topicals, published i» the Canada GazeTte, Part II on June 26, 2019, and will come into

force on October 17, 2019, with two ~nail~ sets of regulations that support the Ca~~nabis Act, being Cannabis

Regulations and I~~dusTrial Hemp Regulations;

"Ca~ui1P" means Ca»~~11' Holdings ]nc. (formerly 2639745 Oi~t~u-io lnc.), a wholly-owned subsidilry of CHL;

"CannlP Securities Exchange Agreement" has the meani~~g ascribed to it ii1 "3. General Denelopi~~e~~Tt of tl~e

I3usine,ss";

"Cannabis Licensing Authority" means the agency of the Mi~~istry of Industry, Commerce, Agriculhu•e and Fisheries

established ptn•sLia»t to tl~e Dcrr~gero~us D~~~rgAn~endingAct with a specific role to establish and regulate the legal ganja

and hemp indushy i~~ Jamaica;
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°CBD" means cannabidiol;

"CEO" means Chief executive OFficer;

"Cr0" means Chief Financial Officer;

"CHL" or means Cultivar Holdings Ltd.;

"CI-1L Shares" means the common shares of CHL;

"CHL Shareholders" means the holders of CHL Shares;

"Closing° has tl~e me~iling ascribed to it in "General Development of the Business —Business of Issuer Prior' to the

Acg~uisition";

"company" unless specifically indicated othe~•wise, means a corporation, incorporated association or organization,

body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual;

"CSE" means the Canadia» Securities Exchange;

"Cu)tivar" or "Issuer" mea»s Cultivar Holdings Inc.;

"Cultivar JA" means Cultivar JA Limited;

"Cultivar Option" means the options to purchase common shares of CHL, as described in "Opti.o~s to Purcl~~ase

Securities — Acgui,sition OpGiorz";

"C~~ltivar Warrant" has the meaning ascribed to it in "General Description of'the Bi~rsi~tess - Issz~er's Fihnnci~~g

ActiviXies";

"CTO" means a Cease Trade Order;

"Dazed Leat"' means the division of CHL that is developi»g can~labis nutraceLiticals;

"Escrow Agreement" roe~i~s the escrow agreement to be entered into on or about tl~e Listing Date between Tra~lsfer

Agent and Cultivar;

"Gross Sales" ~nea~~s the amount of all reven~ie derived from the o}~eration of CHL;

"II+RS" means the Inte~natioual Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Canacli~i~ Accounting Sta»dards

Board, effective January 1, 2011;

"Issuer Board" means the board of directors of the Iss~ier;

"Issuer Shares" means the common shares of the Issuer;

"Issuer Shareholder" means tl~e bolder of one or more Issuer Share;

"Lease" leas the meaning ascribed to it in "Nnr~rative Desa~iption of tl~e B~~sirress —General I3rrsirres,r of~Ci~ltivnr —

CTiltivcrze Cnrma~is":

"Leased Premises" has the meaning ascribed to it in "Narratii~e Description of~tl~e B2~sir~ess — Cor~strtrct ~i Fncih~t~~ to

Produce Canrrrrbis";
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"Letter of Agreement" has tl~e mewling ascribed to it in "Ger~ernl Dove/opnaeytt of tl~e Business - Genern/
Developri~~ent of Xlze Ba~rsiness a»d Ter-~ns of the Acg~ui,si.tion";

°Licences" has tl~e meaning ascribed to it in "Narrative Description of~tlie Btirs~~~ae,ss —Licences";

"Listing Date" means the date that Issuer Shares are listed on the CSE;

"Listing Statement" means this listing stateineut;

"Management Fee" has the meaning ascribed to it in "Narrative Description of the Business — Mcate~^ial Contracts";

"MD&A" means management's discussion and analysis;

"NEO" or "NEOs" means any named executive officer or any named executive officers, respectively;

"NI 45-106" means National Instrument 45-106 —Prospectus and Registration Gz-empti.ons;

"NI 52-ll0" means National Instrument 52-110 —Audit Committees;

"OBCA" means the Btiisiness Corporations Act (Ontario);

"Option Plan" ]las tl~e meaning ascribed to it in "Options to Purcla.ase Securities — Cti~lU~var• Option Plan";

"person" means a company or individual;

"PredictMedix" means the division of CHL that provides artificial intelligence and genetic testing tech»ology;

"Predict Opioid" has tl~e meaning ascribed to it in "Narrati.ve Descn~ption of the Baisiness— P~•edictMedir";

°Related Party" means has the meaning ascribed to it in Multilatez•al Instrument 61-101 —Protection vf~Mir~ority
Security Holders irz Special Transactions;

"Reorganization Agreement" leas the meaning ascribed to it iii "Corporate Structure — Coy porate Ncm~e ar~d Offi-ce
— CTrltivar Holdings Inc.";

"SGDAR" means the System Por Clectronic Document Analysis ai d Retrieval;

"Share Exchange° has the meaning ascribed to it in "General Developi~~ent of the 6usi~~e.ss -General Developrtier~t
of tlae Business ar~~l Te~~rns of the Acquisitzon";

"Subco" ineai~s 2693980 Ontario life., a wholly owned stiibsidiaiy of the Issuer incor}~orated pw~suant to the OBCA
for the purpose of completi»g t11e Atnal~amation;

"Teaming Agreement" has the meaning ascribed to it in "Narrative Descrd~tiori of the Bzisir~ess - Deve/op tl~e
Prec(ic~tMediz Pr~o~k~cts";

"TechM" means Tech Mahindra Limited; and

"'Transfer Agent" means National Issuer Services Ltd.



1. ABOUT THIS LISTING STATEMENT

Effective Date of Information

All information in this Listing Statcme~lt is as of December 9, 2019, unless otherwise indicated.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING I'ORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements contai»ed in this Listing Statement that are »ot historical facts are "forward-looking statements° or
"forward-looking information" (collectively, "Forward-Looking Information") (within the meaning of applicable
Canadian securities legislation).

Forward-Looking Information includes, but is not limited to, statements relating to tl~e timing, availability and amount
of financings; expected use of proceeds; business objectives; results of operations; potential investments; the timing
and costs of developing products; success of the products and investments; and requirements for additional capital. Iu
certain cases, Forward-Looking Information can be identified by the use of words such as "plans", "expects", or "does
not expect", "is expected", "budget", "scheduled", "estimates", "forecasts", "intended", "anticipates", or "does not
anticipate ", or "believes" or variations of such words and phrases or statements that certain actions, events or results
"may", "could", "would", "might" or "will betaken", "occur", or "be achieved".

In providing the Forward-Looking Information i~~ this Listing Statement, Cultivar leas applied several material
assumptions, including but not limited to the assumption that additional financings will be available on reasonable
terms, that the objectives concerning its products and investments can Ue achieved, and that general business and
economic conditions will not change in a materially adverse manner. Other assumptions are discussed throughout this
Listing Statement and, in particular, in tl~e °Risk Factors° fo~md iu this Listing Statement.

Forward-Looking Information involves known and unknow~l risks, w~certainties ai d other factors which inay cause
the actual results, performance or achievements of Cultivai• to be materially differe»t from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the Forward-Looking Information. Such risks and other factors
i~lclude, among others, risks set out below as well as those factors discussed in the "Risk Factors" fou»d in this Listing
Statement:

Risk Factors

(1) Risks relating to the Issuer's b~isiness in general

• fail~u•e to execute any material part of its growth strategy, may harm its fut~u-e growth and ability to make
profitable investments;

• risks associated with foreign markets;
• the Issuer has no source of operating revenue and it is likely it will operate at a loss until it is able to

realize cash flow from its financings;
• holders of Issuer Shares are at risk for a sti~bsta~~tial loss of capital;
• risks related to cost overrw~s;
• risks related to proprietary protection;
• risks related to new products and technological change;
• tl~e price for Issuer Shares may fl~ichiafe greatly;
• Issuer may be subject to currency exchange risk,
• risks related to the Issuer entering info strategic alliances or expanding the scope of curre~~tly existing

relationships, with third parties;
• difficulty Yo forecast and reliance on its own ~~~arket research:
• non-operati~~g parent corporation structure:
• taking mi»ority positions in investments may limit tl~e ability o~f the Issuer to safeguard its investment;
• shared ownership or depe~~de~~cy on partners of Cultivar JA: and
• risks of litigatio~~.
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(2) Risks relating to cannabis in Jamaica and Canada

• risks associated with an investment in the cannabis sector;
• public opinion and pe~•ception of cannabis can influence regulations;
• unfavourable publicity or consumer perception may inhibit file success of Cultivar's business;
• risks related to licensure;
• risks inherent in the cultivation, and extraction of cannabis and derivative products;
• changes in laws, regulations a~1d guidelines ii1 Jamaica and Canada may alter Issuer's ability to co~ltinue

its business as proposed to be conducted; and
• lssuet-'s failtn•e to comply with applicable regulations could prevent it from being able to carry on its

business.

(3) Risks relating to Cultivar's ~nai~agement

• dependence on Issuer's management;
• risks related to growth;
• conflicts of interest of its directors and officers; and
• management may not be able to successfully implement adequate internal controls over financial

reporting.

Although the parties lave attempted to identify important factors that could affect Cultivar and may cause actual
actions, events or results to differ materially fi•o~n those described in Forward-Looking ]nformation, there may he
oflier factors that cause actions, events or results not to he as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no
assurance that Forward-Looking Information will prove to he accurate as actual results and fiitw•e events could differ
materially from those anticipated its such statements. Accordingly, readers should riot place undue reliance on
Forward-Looking ]nformation.

The Porwarci-Looking Information contai~led in t7~is Listing Statement is made as of the date hereof and unless so
required by applicable law, Cultivar undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any Forward-Looking
Ii~formaYioi~, whether• as a result of new information future events oi- otherwise.

CURRENCY PRESENTATION

Unless otherwise indicated, all references herein to dollars "$" are to Canadia» dollars, all references herein to °t1S$"
are to United States dollars and all refere»ces to $JAD are Yo Jamaican dollars

U.S. Dollar

Tl~e following table sets out the high and low rates of exchange for one US dollar expressed in Canacliai~ dollars d~~ring
each of the following periods, the average rate of exchange for those periods and Tl~e rate of exchange in effect at the
entl of eac1~ of those periods, each based on the rate of exchange published by the Bank of Canada for ec~~~version of
United States dollars into Canadian dollars.

Period from
June 12, 2019 to Year ended Year ended
December 6, 2019 January 31, 2018 January 31, 2017

Flighest rate during the period 1.3407 1.3642 1.3743
..........................
Lowest rate d~u~i~~g tl~e period 1.3038 1.2288 1.2124

Average rate foi• the 1.3214 1.3031 1.2920
period ..........................
Rate at tl~e end of the 1.3255 1.3144 1.3030
period ..........................
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On December 6, 2019, the closing rate of exchange posted by tl~e Bank of Canada for co~~versioi~ of one US dollar
into Canadian dollars was US$1.00 equals $1.3255. No representation is made that United States dollars could he
converted into Canadian dollars at that rate or any other rate.

Jan~ai.cctn Dollar•

The following table sets out the high and low rates of exchange for one Jamaican dollar expressed in Canadian dollars
during flee following period, the average rate of exchange for those periods and tl~e rate of exchange i~1 effect at the
end of each of those periods, each based on the rate of exchange published Uy Exchange-Rates.org for conversion of
Jamaican dollars i»to Canadian dollars.

Period from
June 12, 2019 to December 6, 2019

Highest rate during the period .......................... 0.01035
Lowest rate during the period .......................... 0.00937
Average rate for the period .......................... 0.00975
Rate at the end of the period .......................... 0.00943

On December 6, 2019, the rate of exchange posted by Exchange-Rates.org for the conversion of one Jamaican dollar
into Canadian dollars equals JAD$1.00 was $0.00943. No representation is made that Jamaica dollars could he
converted into Canadian dollars at that rate or any other rate.

2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE

2J Corporate Nn~ne antl Hearl a~~~~C Registered Office

Ct~lhl~ar Holdings Ihc.

This Listi»g Statement has been prepared i» connection with the RTO and listing Cultivar Holdings lnc. ("Cultivar"
or tl~e "Issuer") 0~1 the Canadian Secw•ities Exchange (tl~e °CSE").

Prior to Closing, tl~e ]ssuer's lead office and its registered a»d records office is located at 789 West Pe~lder Street,
Suite 810, Vancouver, BC V6C 1H2. Following Closing, Cultivar's Dead office is located at 3000 - 77 King Street
West, Toronto, O~ltario, MSK 1G8.

2.2 Co~l~orate Jurisdiction

The Iss~ier was formed o» September 3, 1987 under tl~e name "Riviera Explorations Ltd." upon filing articles of
incorporaYio~1 pw-suanY to the BC,BCA.

in 1993, the Issuer changed its name fi•om Riviera Explorations Ltd. to I<ei~tucky Oil &Gas Inc., i» 1994 from
Ke~~t~icky Oil &Gas Inc. to li~tegrated Card Teclu~ologies li~c., in 1997 from Integrated Card Technologies Inc. to
Arizona Ventures Ltd., and o~~ fi~om Arizona Vent~tu-es Ltd. August 31, 1998 to Adi7liral Bay Resources I»c. Most
recently, o» September 23, 2019, the Issuer changed its name from Admiral Bay Resources Inc. to Cultivar Holdings
Inc.

There Dave been no material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents of tl~e Issuer.

2.3 h~tercorporate Relatio~Ts/zips

7'he following chart shows the relationship between Ctiltivar and its stiibsidiaries ~~~:

-6-



Nods
(1) Unless otl~eiwise indicated, cacl~ company Folds 100% of the issued ai~cl outstanding shares of the subsidiary.

(2) Cultivar holdings Ltd. is a co~poratio~~ incorporated under the laws of the OBCA.

(3) Cam~IP IIoldings Inc. is a corporation incorporated wider tl~c laws of the OBGA.

(4) Ctdtivar JA Limited is a corporation incorporated Lmdcr the laws of Jamaica. CHL holds 49% of die total issued and outstanding

shares of Cultivar JA Limited. Tl~e rcm~inin~ 51% iuterest is owned by local busi~~ess parh~ecs. Please see "Nnrrntive Description q/~

tfte Business -0O~er h~come oFCcdtivm• JA", "Nurra[ire Description of the Business- Materiel Coituacts" and "Risk Factors" for

additional information.

Czsltivar JA Limited

The Issuer's Board has considered its options with respect to the corporate structure of the Issuer and its subsidiaries

and has concluded that the ownership of Cultivar JA by CHL is tl~e most practical struchu•e for the o~~eration of the

Uusiness of the CHL.

ZA Fu~zdame~ztal Cha~ige

See "Ge~aera~l Developn~e~~~t of the Business —Tee°n~.r ~~'t/2e Acquisition".

2,5 Novi-Corpor~rde Issuers any! Issuers lizco~porated Outside of Cantulr~

This section is not applicable.

2.6 Fi~~zanci~zg Activities

The following is an overview of a number of strategic financings Ctiiltivar (throtiigh iCs subsidiary, CHL) has completed

in the past 12 months:

• On December 4, 2018 CHL issued 1,5 0,000 common shires at $0. ] 0 per share for services.

• On January 30, 2019 CHL issued 200,000 common shares at ~O.10 per share for se~viccs.

• On May 1, 2019 CHL issued 800,000 convnon shares at ~O.IU for services. This includes 550,000

common shares were issued to a director valued at X55,000.

• Un Atii~ist 12, 2019 a private placement of 3,296,000 units at $0.25 per trait for consideration of

$824,000 was completed by CHL. ~~ch unit comprised of one coulmon share end one-half of one

common share pl~rchase warrant (each a "Cultiva~• Warrant"). CHL paid finder's fees of x49,320 in

cash end issued 66,400 coi~~mon shires at $0.25 per share.

Please see "3. Gei~e~~al Developme»t of tl~e Z3usiness — I.ssue~•:s Fincn~cing Activities" for more information.

3. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OT'TI~~ BUSINESS

Ge~reral Develop»re~zt of tl~e Busi~iess of CHL rued o/~tlre Issuer
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The Issuer was initially incorporated with tl~e purpose of engaging in the business of acgti~iring, exploring and

developing natural resource properties with a focus on emerging unconventional gas production. Prior to tl~e

completion of tl~e RTO, Tl~e Issuer was seeking i~ew opportu»ities as it did not carry on any business activities nor did

it hold any material resource property interests.

CHL acgtii~~es Ca~nnlP

On July 16, 2018 CannIP and CHL entered into a Securities Exchange Agreement (the "Cam~IP Securities Exchange

Agreement"). Purs~iant to the terms of this agreement, all of tl~e issued and outstanding shares of CannIP were

exchanged on aone-for-one basis of for common shares of CHL. As a result of this agreement, CHL acquired all of

the assets of CannIP, including tl~e tea formulatio~ls described in "Narrative Descriptr'on of the Business —General

BT-ssi.r~ess of Ct~lti.vcz~r -Sell Dazecl Leaf Products" and Pt-edictMedix technology, as described in Nczn~a~tive

Description of the Business —General Business of Culti.var —Develop PredictMeclix Technology".

Ter~7~~s of tl~e Acquisition

On December 12, 2018 tl~e Issuer entered into anon-binding letter agreement (the "Letter of Agreement") whereby

the Issuer would Uecome a parent company to CHL. The Acquisition's consideration was satisfied by a share exchange,

whereby each common share of CHL was exchanged for one coimnon share of Cultivar (the "Share Exchange") upon

the closi~~g on September 23, 2019 (the "Closing"). Additional information regarding the series of transactions that

occurred to effect this reverse takeover are explained below in "- Issuer's Financing Activities"

Immediately before Closing, CHL had 97,439,900 common shares issued aid outstanding a~1d the Issuer had

6,514,249 common shares issued and outstanding. Following Closing, the Issuer has a total of 103,954,149 common

shares outstanding, of which 97,439,900 ]suer Shares were issued to CI-IL Shareholders.

Upon Closing, the business of CHL became tl~e busi»ess of the Issuer. In t~irn, Cultivar now operates as a cannabis

corpo~•ation focusing on a breadth of can»abis offerings, including with respect to cultivation, impairment technology,

as well as various cosmetics and tea products. Tl~e Issuer is backed by a group of sl~ccessful e»trepreuetirs, academics,

and medical ~~rofessionals with extensive experience and relationships tlu~oughout tl~e cam~abis indusTry in both

Canada and ,lamaica. Particularly, Mr. Sheldon I<ales a curre»t board member and CEO of Cultivar, has vast

experience in capital markets ~i~d finance, having managed numerous research aid development operations of

technology companies across the United States, Ca~~ada and the Middle East. Dr. Rahul ICusllwah, also a current board

member and prese»t~ly serving Chief Operating Officer of Cultivar, is an accomplished scientist specializi»g i» stem

cells, genetics, immunology and i~ege»erative and personalized medicine. His vasT expertise combined with

relationships both academic and tlu•otiigl~out tl~e ca~lnabis indush•y greatly compliment Cultivar's management team.

In addition to Mr. Kates and Dr. 1{ushwal~, a»d as of the date hereof, tl~e Issuer's Board also consists of: Ajit Kwnar

and 7'om Sipos. Rakesh Malhotra currently serves as the ]ssuer's CFO.

Both Sheldon 1<ales and Ral~Lil Kushwah are also the sole directors of CI-~IL, as well as serve as tl~e company's only

officers.

~SSUL~1"~S FOTIIIt Cl/1~' /1CllVLIZCS

In connection with the completion of the reverse takeover, a series of tra~~sactions were compleTecl resulting in a

reorganization o~f Amalco and CHL, as a result of which, tl~e Issuer became the direct parent of CHL (the "RTO").

The principal ste}~s of the reorganization were as follows:

• a wholly owned subsidiary to C~~Itivar, Newco, was incorporated under the laws of tl~e OBCA;

• Newco merged with C~iltivar- Holdings LTd. (forming A~r~alco);
• A»~alco (GHL) became a wholly owned subsidiary to Cultivar.
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Following completion of tl~e RTO, Cultivar holds all of tl~e outstanding voting shares of A~nalco. The ]suer will

operate and co»trol all of tl~e business and affairs of Amalco aud, Yln•otiigh Amalco and its subsidiaries, will conduct

the business currently carried on by CHL.

The following is an overview of a na~nber of financings and share issuances that Cultivar (throtiigh its subsidiary of

CHL) has completed:

• CHL issued 30,000,000 common shares, as founders' shares, for $30.

• On February 20, 2018 CHL issued 7,490,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share raising gross

proceeds of $374,500. CHL issued 275,000 common shares as finder's shares.

• On April 16, 2018 CHL issued 1,380,000 common shares at $0.05 per share raising gross proceeds of

$69,000.

• On July 16, 2018 CHL issued 29,800,000 co~mnon shares pursuant to the CannlP Securities Exchange

Agreement.

• On October 15, 2018 CFiL issued 16,125,000 common shares at $0.05 per share raising gross proceeds of

$806,250.

• On October 19, 2018 CHL issued 6,507,500 common shares at $0.10 per share raising gross proceeds of

$(,507,500.

• On December 4, 2018 CHL issued 1,500,000 co~mnon shares at $0.10 per share for services.

• On January 30, 2019 CHL issued 200,000 common shares at $0.10 per share for services.

• On May 1, 2019 CHL issued 800,000 common shares at $0.10 for services. Tliis includes 550,000 common

shares were issued to a director valued at $55,000.

• On August 12, 2019 a private placement of 3,296,000 traits at $0.25 per unit for consideration of $824,000

was coinplet~ed by CHL. Eacl~ unit comprised of one common share and one-half of one Cultivar Warrant.

CHL paid finder's fees of $49,320 in cash and issued 66,400 common shares at $0.25 per share.

4. NARRATING DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINL'SS

Ge~aeral Baisi»ess of Cultivar

Having completed the RTO with CHL, ]ss~ier's business has clanged, thereby redirecting its resources end changing

tl~e nattiirc of its business from acquiri»g, exploring and developi~~g nat~n~al reso~u~ce proper•ties to air early stage

cannabis compa»y. The Issuer i»tends to cultivate cannabis in Jamaica as well as mai~ufacti~re natural, conswnable

ca»~~al~is 1lealtl~ products and impairment clepei~de~lcy and detection devices.

Ctiltivar's wholly-owned subsidiary, CHL, has already obtained conditional licences to grow, transport and cultivate

hi~l~ quality cannabis in Jamaica. While awaiting receipt of the fi~~al licences, the Issuer plans to co~~centrate its

i•esoui•ces on strategic }~artnersllips in order to Delp it establish a recog~~izable a»d reputable brad i~aine.

The Issuer has also developed teas, cosmetics and vario~~s ointments that can be used to help treat a number of health

conditions. Additionally, CHL leas developed artificial intelligence powered technology to detect cannabis and alcohol

i mpairment a~~d is currently i~~ tl~e process of testing.

Cultdvate ca~inabis

As ofthe date ofthis Listing Statement, Cultivar hasnot commenced the cultivation or the manuf'act~ire of any cannabis

products. However, the natw•al teas created under tl~e Issuer's Dazed Leif division, as well as the formL~lations for

Cultivar's cosmetics ~mder its Vivir Cosmetic division, have already been developed. Providing a i~ecessaiy sti~pply of

materials are obtained a~~d regulatory requirements ai-e met, these products are ready t~o be offered to market.
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On February 22, 2018 Ciiltivar's wholly-owned subsidiary, CI-1 L, entered i»to a lease agreement (the "Lease") for one

acre of land in Portland, Jamaica to grow cannabis outdoors (the "Leased Premises"). The Leased Premises offers

great conditions to grow ca~lnabis, attrib~ited to favoluable sunlight, rainfall a~1d temperatw-es, access to water and to

electricity. As well, it is conveniently located on a main road for easy logistical movements and has lower costs of

utilities and labor when compared to growers in other geographic locations.

Tl~e period of tl~e Lease is three years from such date that CHL receives final approval for the Licences. Tl~e total

am~ual cost to rent this property is JAD$1.5 million (a}~proximately $14,811) andpayment is rec~Liired on the first day

of each month. The Lease agreement has been and continues to be in good standing.

C,ultivar is also in discussions to purchase 10 acres of land, a portion of which is located on tl~e Leased Premises. No

formal agreement leas been entered into at such time. "I'l~e pw•chase of this property will enable the Issuer to expand

its cultivation efforts on a larger scale.

Tl~e ]ssuer's curre~~t and futw•e bi~sii~ess activities are focused w~, but ar•e not limited, to:

• a cannabis-based integrated business model;

• cultivate and distribute the camiabis flower and CBD across Jamaica;

• expand the operations described iii the above bullet by purchasi~~g additional land in Jamaica;

• produce and distrib~ite edibles, including its Dazed Leaf products mentioned below; and

• export the cannabis flower a»d CBD inter~natio»ally, including to Canada and potentially the ELn•opean Union,

South A~neriea and various Caribbean cow tries.

Licences

On May 1, 2019, CLiltivar JA obtained conditional a}~proval for the followi~~g four lice~~ces by the Cannabis Licensing

A~~tllority of Jamaica (collectively, the "Licences"):

• Cultivator's (Tier 2) Licence;

• Processing (Tier 2) Licence.

• Retail (Herb 1-louse —Without Facilities fot- Cons~u~~ptio~~) Licence:, a~~c1

• Tra»sport Lice~~ee.

Co»ditional approval for the Cultivator's (Tier 2) Licence, the Processing (Tier 2) Licence and tl~e Retail (Herb House

— Without Facilities for Consumption) Licence is subject to the Leased Premises meeting tl~e Cannabis Licensing

Authority's }ire-licence site inspection. Approval for the Transport Licence is conditional iipo» the vehicles meeCing

tl~e Cannabis Licensing Authority's pre-lice~~ce vehicle i»spection criteria and adhering to tl~e Cannabis Licensing
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Authority's motor vehicle end transport policy. For additional information, please see "- Use of Proceeds —Czrltivar
JA ".

Upon receipt of the final Licences from the Cannabis Licensing Authority, the Issuer (through CHL) will Ue able to
sell hemp flowering leads to co»sumers throughout Jamaica. As well, tl~e Issuer can sell the flowering heads, leaves,
and branches of hemp to other cannabis and industrial hemp producers in Jamaica. The non-viable grains, bare mature
stalks, stalk fiber and roots can be sold to companies which can produce hemp seed oil, hemp protein powder, paper
products and other products.

500,000 Issuer Shares will also be issued upon receipt of the Licences (at nominal consideration) as a performance
fee to Cultivar's management upon receiving foal approval from tl~e Cannabis Licensing Authority.

Export ofcannnGzs.from Jninczicca

The Cannabis Licensing Authority is ctui•eiltly finalizing legislation that will allow producers to exhort cannabis in
Jamaica. These regulations will give the Cannabis Licensing Authority jurisdiction to handle t-equests for the import
and export of ganja buds anti resin oil. The Minister of Industry, Commerce, Agriculture and Fisheries, Audley Shaw,
has stated that producers could earn approximately JAD$30 million per gallon (or about $300,000) for exported
marijuana oil. Once promulgated, Jamaica will be one often countries in tl~e world with an export regime. Cultivar
expects that following the introduction of this legislation it will export its products to globally, with a particular focus
0l1 licence holders in Canada.

The Ca~ru~al~r~s Act came into effect on Ju»e of 2018 which, among other things, legalized recreational cannabis in
Canada. As well, the Cannabis Regulations allow for the controlled production, sale, movement, processing, exporting
and importing of industrial hemp anc~ hemp products that conform to conditions imposed by the Ca»nabis Regulations.
Under these Cannabis Regulatio»s, industrial hemp seeds mist be of a variety listed in I-~lealth Canada's List of
Approved Cultiv~rs. Plants and plant parts may not contain more than 0.3% THC when sampled and tested in the
a~~p7-oved manner•. Products made or derived from hemp mList not contain more than 10 micrograms of THC per gram.3
Since tl~e implementation of the Canadian Cannabis Act and the Cannabis Regulations, the cowltry has been subject
to a shortage of supply in cannabis. This shortage is attributed i» part to the government's licensing process and the
resources available Yo licence holders. For Cultivar, this shortage presents an ideal market to sell the Issuer's cannabis
to. The Issuer will continue to monitor legislative developments to ensw•e that the exported product meets the requisite
Canadian rec~~iirements. As well, the Issuer intends to obtain the advice of necessary professionals both in Jamaica
and Canada on an as-needed basis in order to implement this objective.

Se/! Dczzecl L,eafPr~oducts

CHL has developed CBD infused tea blends and nutracetrtical products m~der its "Dazed Leaf' division. All tea blends
were developed by a team of scientists and naturopaths and are free of c1~e~7~ieals, flavow-in~s and preservatives. "I'o
date, the following blends have been developed:

• Total Detox Teri: described as a divi~~e, wane, and aromatic infusion of 12 herbs, s~ipplemented with hints
of sweet and spicy flavors;

• Athletic Power 7'ea: ciescribecl as minty, full-bodied muscatel infusion of 13 herbs, balanced with peppery
and lemony undertones:

~ hiternational Dnig Policy Consortium - Jamaica» ganja export regulations to be finalised September:
https://idpc.»et/alerts/20l 9/08/~ja-export-regulations-to-be-finalised-se}~tember

'- Jamaican Information Service —Import/Export Regulations for Cannabis Soon: hftps://jis.gov.jm/import-export-
re~ulations-for-cannabis-soon/

3 Ontario Ministry of Agric~iltw~e, Food and Rural Affairs FactSl~eet:
htt}~://www.omafi~~i.gov.on.ca/english/crops/facts/00-067.ht~n



• Slcin Glow 'Tea: described as luscious, refreshing infusion of 7 herbs, complimented with fragrant rosy

richness;

• Immune Balance Tea: described as au earthy, balanced infusion of 14 herbs, accentuated with fruity and
floral hints; and

• Passion Redefined Tea: described as a bold, full=flavored and heavenly infusion of 9 herbs, accented with

enticing bold, citrusy taste and fragrance.

The Dazed Leaf tea products can be used to create a euphoric and relaxing effect and to help treat a variety of ailments

including: to suppress or stimulate appetite, to increase a~ltioxidant levels iu tl~e blood, to assist with constipation and

to help support cardiovascular functioning (among others). As well, they can be used to promote or enhance arousal

and sensitivity, suppress muscle spasms, reduce inflammation and to help promote a llealtlly blood sugar. Tl~e target

market for the Dazed Leaf tea products are Jamaican consumers (both for recreational and healthcare purposes) and

in Canada. Cultivar is currently in discussions with a third party manufacturing and packaging company based out of

Barrie, Ontario who will assist in the production and packaging of the teas.

As well, Dazed Leaf has developed CBD infused cosmetic products through its "Vivir Cosmetics" line which include
a face mask, serum and a moisturizer. CBD infused cosmetics can have many benefits, including reduced

inflammation, anti-aging, moisturizing and efficacy in treating some skin disorders. The Issuer intends to expand its

sale and distribution of these products to consumers on a global scale.

Develop t12e PredictMedix Products

WIZen an individual is under the influe~lce of an impairing s~ibstance, that individual can be tnlable to safely
perform certain tasks. For example, the use of drugs, such as cannabis, or alcohol can impair an individual's
physiological and/or psychological state. W11en the task to he performed requires the individual to he alert
and/or focused, impairment can lead to significant safety risks. For example, an impaired individual operating

a vehicle (or other IZeavy machinery) can lose control of the vehicle and catiise Harm t~o himself or herself ai d
nearby individuals and property. Detection of impairment i» individuals, therefore, can mitigate, or possibly eve~1
prevent, a~~y accidents resulting from actions of impaired individuals.

With alcohol, blood alcohol concentratio» is primarily used as a measurement of intoxication. An individual's
blood alcohol co~lcentration after constuning alcohol c~~1 depe»d on various factors, such as, but not limited

to, the i~lgredients of the beverage, rate of alcohol consinn}~tion, and the individual's personal characteristics (e.g.,

age, gender, body type, metabolism, emotional state, alcohol tolerance, etc.). Without wldergoin~ a blood test

at a time proximal to consuming alcohol, it can be difficult to acc~n-ately estimate one's blood alcohol concentration.

An often Wised instrwl~ent to measure blood alcohol eonce~~tration is tl~e breathalyzer. f1ltl~ough convenient, the

breathalyzer leas limitations. firstly, before using the breathalyzer, it is important to properly calibrate the

instrument Yo obtain an accurate estimate. As well, the timi»g at which the breathalyzer is used following

conswnption of fond end/or alcohol can ~Iso affect the accuracy of the measureme~~t. The teclulology of

PredictMedix can help minimize some of the challenges faced by breathalyzer testing in order to provide police

deparrinents, ins~u~ance providers, ma~lufacturers, mii~ir~g companies, aviation and aerospace organizations and

security institutions ar~d other professionals with snore depe~7dable results.

Impairment resulting fi~om ca~~nabis use is also a growi~lg concer~~. Medical and recreational use of cam~abis

has been recently decrimil~alized or legalized in many countriEs. h~ Canada, cannabis for recreational rise was
legalized in 201 &, while medical use leas been lebal since 2001. In the United States, altho~igh currently illegal ~t tl~e

federal level, medical and recreation use has been legalized i» numerous states. This recent legalization and

decriminalization of recreational cannabis has led to an increased awareness of the effects That cannabis can
Dave on the motor skills and mental judgment of individuals — in particlil~r, when Yl~ey are operating heavy
inacllineries, such as motor vehicles.

I mpairmenC resulting fi•o~n cannabis ~~se ca» he diffictiilt to detect. The concentration of cannabis (and its

psychoactive constitue~~ts) present within an inclivid~ial wl~o recently used cannabis are typically very low. The
impairment cai~ also result from various impairing substa»ces, si.ich as but noT limited Yo, a combination o£

alcohol 1nc1 drugs.

-12-



Unlike traditional methods wl~icl~ rely on explicit programming, the PredictMedix sysTem generates analytical models

by determi»i»g patterns within each set of training data and making infere~lces from each set of Yrai»ing data.

PredictMedix's artificial intelligence technology can identify an individual's impairme»t to cannabis and alcohol. The

proprietary algorithms for this technology utilize multiple features along with mm~erous different data points

(identified via facial and voice recog~~ition) and can detect impairment within 30 seconds. Testing does not require

any body fluids or human intervention, thereby helping to remove human error and the potential for discrimination

and prejudice. Tllis technology is cun•ently patent pending and is further discussed iu "- Use of Proceeds —

PredictMedix".

CHL intends to licence this technology to customers based on a set price per month for an allocated number of tests.

This licence fee will provide CHL with steady, ongoing revenue that will help provide stability Yo the company's

financial health. Additionally, any custo~ne~• that rises tests in excess of the allotted monthly number will be charged

an extra fee. The target market for this technology includes police departments and mi»ii~g companies, among others.

On March 18, 2019 CI-IL entered into a teaming agreement (the "'Teaming Agreement") with Tech Mahindra Limited

("TechM"), a subsidiary of Mahindra Group. Tech Mahindra is the highest ranked Non-U.S. company in the Forbes

Global Digital 100 list (2018) and in the Forbes Fab 50 companies in Asia (2018). The company has extensive

relationships and expertise providing information technology services and business process outsourcing to various

international companies. Pursuant to the Teaming Agreement, TechM will identify and invite Cultivar to participate

in joint submissions for proposals to potential customers of its PredictMedix products. In the event that a proposal is

accepted by a customer and TechM is retained for a project, TechM and CHL will enter into an agreement whereby

Tec1iM will maintain responsibility for the overall project a~1d may subcontract portions of tl~e project to CHL.

Additionally, Tec1~M leas agreed to provide consL~lting, marketing, maintenance, software development and integration

services at no cost, i» order to help promote PredictMedix's products. All costs or expenses arising fi•om this Teaming

Agreement or its implementation are required to be borne by the respective party. Cultivar expects this agreement to

invite the opportunity to sell its PredictMedix technology to the mini»g divisio» of the coinpa»y as well as to its parent

company, Aditya Birla which has aiu~ual revenues exceeding US$40 billion.

On March 19, 2019 CHL entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with Hindalco Industries Limited

(°Hindaleo"), whereby CHL will co~lducY }pilot studies of its products ~»d solutio~ls in Hindalco manufaettu•ing

facilities. No cost will he borne by CHL to eo~nplete this testing. Hinclaleo is one of tl~e world's largest aluminium

rolling companies a~1d one of tl~e biggest producers of primary aluminium in Asia. This will allow CHL not only to

test PredictMedix tecll»ology in a minim environment, but also to opti»~ize the tecl~»ology for detecting impairment

in the mining industry.

On August 20, 2019 Cl-IL entered into an agreement with AIgoB Inc. to condLict a~1 alcohol and cannabis i~npairme»t

st~~dy using its proprietary artificial intelligence tecl~~~ology with over 3,000 participants. The total cost of the study is

estimated ati $155,000. The st~idy with AlgoB Inc. will be one of the largest studies of its kind, globally. Notably, the

completion of t11e st~idy will Delp Pi•edictMedix latmcll its products to market as well as Delp CHL gain exposure in

peer reviewed scientific articles thereby validating the science behind its tech»olo~y. The scale and breadth of t11is

study will also distinguish CI-IL from other competitors, in order to properly position it to market its technology. The

media attention that will be generated as a result of this study is also expected to compliment manageme~~t's

relationship with various academics anti institutions in order to fiirtl~er gain legitimacy.

The teaming partnershi}~s and testing by TechM and AlgoB will provide the company with "market ready" products

that can then be distributed to various targets already discussed. Cultivar also anticipates that the findings fi~om tl~e

studies will be disseminated via peer reviewed scientific publication, which will assist tl~e Issuer in expediting efforts

Yo launch its technology to its customers. Cultivar also anticipates that This will help it achieve its ex}~osure into the

academic market a»d become a recognized leader in impairment detecting a~~d predicting technologies, thereby

disting~iishu~g tl~e company fi-oir~ its competitors. It will also allow the Issuer• Yo bring its prod~icts to as there are i~o

barriers to market.

For aciciitional inf'or~nation, please see "- Use of Pf-oc:eeds —Pr~e~ldctMedix" and "- IntnngiUle Prope~~ty"

Develop Ps°edict Opivi~t

-13-



CHL has also developed a genetic test called Predict Opioid ("Predict Opioid") thaT cai~ be used to predict the

likelihood that an i~~dividual will develop an addiction to alcohol, cannabis anc~ opioids. Tllis test also provides insight

as to how an individual is likely to react to different substances. Understanding one's predispositio» to develop a~~

addiction can be i~elpful for many reasons, including to help ]lealthcare providers make a» informed decisio» when

prescribing medications and dosage to patients. It is intended that Predict Opiod will be used by healthcare

practitio~lers, addiction clinics, hospitals, pain cli»ics and cannabis cli»ics, however tl~e company continues to explore

other target markets as well. CHL intends Yo introduce tl~e products to market by utilizi~~g tl~e relationships of its

management and other connections, before proceeding with formal mar]<eting efforts. As well, the Issuer will engage

pl~armaceutic~l sales representatives and attend various road shows Yo help market and distribute the sale of this test.

To date, no revenue has been generated as a result of CHL's Predict Opioid test. This product is expected to launch in

the first quarter of 2020.

Enforcement of Legal Rights i~a Jccr~aaica

The Issuer is incorporated under the provincial laws of British Columbia. The Issuer's business operations are

primarily located in Canada, with some of its operations in Jamaica. The Issuer's head office and registered office is

in Canada. Sonic of the Issuer's assets are located outside of Canada. As a result, shareholders may not be able to

effect service of process within Canada upon certain of Cultivar JA's directors or officers or to enforce against certain

of Cultivar JA's directors or officers in Canadian courts pt~edicated on Canadian secw•ities laws. Likewise, it nay also

he difficult for a shareholder to enforce judgments obtained against these persons in courts located in jurisdictions

oti~tside of Canada, in Canadian coiu-ts. It may also be difficult for a shareholder to bring an original action in a

Jamaican or other foreig~l couz•t predicated upon the civil liability provisions of Canadia~l securities laws against tl~e

Issuer or these persons.

Tl~e .lamaican government and judiciary recognize, register and enforce foreig» money judgments provided that

certain conditions are met and procedures followed. These conditions and procedures are stated in legislation,

including the J~~idg~nents nr~r1 Awnrcls (Reciprocal Fnforcenaent) Act, 1.923 and the J~~rdgmertts (Foreign) (Reciprocn/

Er~for~cerr~er~t) Act of 1936 (tl~e "1936 Act"), as well as in the common law provisions through proceedings held in tl~e

Jan~aicai~ Supreme Court. The 1936 Act req~iires that in order for the jud~nent to be registered in Jamaica, there must

be "substantial reciprocity of treatment" in t11e Superior Courts of that foreign cou»t~y of judgme~~ts given in tl~e

Su}~reme Court of Jamaica. Where there is reciprocity in the Superior Cow~t of the forei~~ counhy the Governor

General of Jamaica may order Yh~t the aforesaid legislation will apply to the judgments of that foreign court This

reciprocity of treatment is a prerequisite for enforcing foreign judgments.

Although decisions from cow•ts outside of Jamaica are not binding, they inay be referred to as a persuasive authority

particularly wl~erc there is no local case which I~as settled the point in issue. F~n•tl~ei-, .lamaicau cou»sel will generally

use cases from Canadian common law courts, inter nlia, especially on matters that have not been tested in local cotiirts.

Judgments of Canadian cotn-ts based upon tl~e civil liability provisions of Canadian securities law may also be

enforceable against Cliltivar JA in Jamaica under the relevant legislation (tl~e 1923 Act and the 1936 Act), as well as

in Part 72 of .lamaica's Civrl Procerl~ire Rules. Por a monetary judgment, an applicatio~~ for registration of a foreign

judgment for enforcement is made to the SUpren~e Court of Jamaica by way of Fixed Date Grim Form and a

supporting Affidavit, which sets out the circumstances and process sou•rounding the issuance of tl~e ~forei~~ judgment.

Afeer the court gives permission to register a foreig~~ judgment, tl~e judgment creditor is required under rile 72.6 of

Jamaica's Civil l'~~ocecli~re Rules to give ~~oticc of tl~e registration to the judgment debtor. Tl~c notice must be personally

served or in such other ma~u~er as tl~e court may direct. A company may make an application to set aside the registration

of a foreign judgment.

Part 72 of J~m~ica's Civil Prvicerlrare Ila~le,s only ap}~lies to the registratio~~ a~7d e»forcement of foreign judgments that

may be registered wider the provisions of the Acts. Given that not all foreig~~ countries have reciprocal enforcement

of j~idgment agreements with Jamaica or I~~ve been deemed to be jurisdictions to which the Acts a}~ply, a judgment

creditor cannoC ~Iways rely on the Acts and Part 72 of Jamaica's Civil Procedure Rules to enforce foreign judgme~~ts

ai d will have to rely on the co»~mo~1 law. At common law a foreign jud~;menY is considered to create an implied

contract to pay specified sums of money. This may be judicially enforced subject to tl~e defences of fraud, being

contrary to public policy or the foreign proceedings were contrary to »atural or substantive justice. M essence, the
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commo~~ law permits a judgment creditor to sue for leis judgment debt as a simple co»t~ract debt subject to tl~e stated
defences, however, a fresh i»ter parties proceedings has to be co~mnenced.

Historically, foreign non-monetary judgn7ents were considered unenforceable in local courts, which has prove»
frustrating to litigants. The common law has however progressed so that both monetary and nonanonetary awards (in
certain circumstances) can be enforced in local courts. The greatest support to this notion was a Canadian case.

Et~aergi~~g Market Disclosure i~z Jamaica

Tire following section is prepared with regard for OSC Staff Notice 51-720 -Issuer G~e~ide for Companies Operating

i.~2 Emerging Markets.

(i.) Busi.ness and operating envirornnent

What role does the foreign government and re  gulatory authorities have in forei Ti€, 1 Operations?

Cultivar JA Limited was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Jamaica and is therefore subject to Jamaican law. The
Issuer operates in Jamaica Linder CHL, which owns aminority-i»terest iii the subsidiary. It is therefore subject to die

Jamaican legal framework pertaining to its corporate law regLiirements and cannaUis indLisTry. Tl~e corporation's books

and records are located at its registered and head office address in Jamaica and at the Issuer's address in Canada.

Have restrictions or conditions been imposed or can they lie imposed, by the forei~i~overnment and re~ulatorY
atrtl~orities on the comt>any's ability to operate in tl~e forei~jw-isdiction?

Jamaican law requires that if a company is to apply to the Cannabis Licensing Authority for a license to handle

cannabis, it must be registered with the Companies Off ce of Jamaica with 'substantial' ownership and control by

peiso~ls 'ordinarily resident' in Jamaica. As a result, CHL Folds 49% of the total issued and outstanding shares of
Cultivar JA, while the remaining 51°/u interest is ow~led by local Jamaican business partners. As well, and to help

govern tl~e relationship and mitigate risks between CHL aild Cultivar JA, the parties hive entered into an Investor
Agreement, as more fully described wider the heading "Nar~~ati.ve Descn~ptron of tf~e Business- Materdal Contracts".

What is the legal environment of the foreign jurisdiction? How does the le~~l syste~n oUerate a~~d how may it impact

the company?

Jamaica operates ~u~der a common law legal system and leas adopted tl~e Westminster parliame~~tary system.

What regulatory requirements is the company or its business or operations subject to in the foreign jurisdiction?

Jamaican eoi7~pa~lies Dave many of the same characteristics of companies in Cai~ad~, including: (i) officers

responsible for the day-to-day management of Yl~e company; and (ii) a board of directors wl~o supervise the goven~ance
of the com2~any. "The management of Cultivar JA is further described below under "—Risk n~nruagenaent and

discloszii~e". Furthermore, the duties of directors of companies, including to act in good faith, exercise care, diligence

a»d skill) are codified under the Companies Act ofJa»~nicn. A director will be pe~~alized should he or she fail to abide

by these corporate law requirements.

Does Yl~e board Dave access Yo relevant expertise to ascertain the political, legal and cultural realities of tl~e It~~•isdiction

where the company's pri»ci~~al business operatio~~s are located, anti the i~np~ct~ they may have ou the comp~i~y's
business or orations?

The board of Cultivar JA leas engaged professional advisors (legal, financial, and technical) with tl~e relevant ex}~erYise

to provide assistance in tl~e political, legal and ctiilhn-al realities of .lamaica. The board of Cultivar JA will continue to
have access to those professional advisors and may seek additional advisors in a~~y »ewjw~isdiction in which it may
determine to o}~erate in tl~e future.

What are the banking customs in the fiorei~n i~u•isdiction? 1-low do they differ fi~om Ca~~adian customs?
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On September 30, 2019, tl~e Ministry of Fiance &Public Service of Jamaica published au a~~ticle4 summarizing

Moody's Investors Service fii~di»gs, including that it had upgraded Jamaica's sovereign se~lior unsecw•ed rating and

provisional shelf rati~lgs Prom positive to stable. This rating was reported to be supported by the following factors:

Jamaica's significant and sustained fiscal consolidation and stro~~g commitment to continued reforms to reduce the

government's high debt bw•den; and signif cant improvement in the current account and reduced external vuhierability.

The age»cy was also reported to have commended Jamaica's recent policy effectiveness reflected in credit positive

fiscal consolidation and structural reforms coupled with the gover~lme~lt's continued co~mnitment to fiscal reforms,

and growth enhancement strategy through ~'DI-financed investment in tom•ism and infrastruetl~re. Jamaica has also

been designated as the highest ranking Caribbean co~mtry in the World Bank Ease of Doing Business rankings. This

ranking speaks ro the stre»gth of the county's busi~~ess regulatory environment.

Are there any restrictions on the company's ability to transfer and/or verify the existence of funds in bank accounts

located in foreign countries?

As of the date of the Listing Statement, there are no restrictions on the import or export of local or foreign currency.

Where are the company's books and records located and are there anv access restrictions?

Cultivar JA maintains its registered and Dead office in Jamaica. Its books and records are located at both its Jamaican

and Canadian addresseses. The Issuer maintains a registered office in and a head office in Canada. The Issuer's books

and records will be located at its address i» Canada.

(i.i) Lan~~age and cultural clifferer~ces

Does the composition of the board provide the appropriate level of knowledge and expertise in the language and

cultural practices of the emer~7ii~ market`?

T11ere are no significant language or cultural differences that management expects to impact the business of the Issuer

or its s~ibsidiaries, or Ctiiltivar JA.

His the board engaged with local ~n~na~ement to understand tl~e manner in which business is conducted in tl~e forei~~~

iw•isdiction?

C~iltivar JA's COO, Mr. E~igene Tfolkes, is well-suited to bridge the cultw•al gap between Canadian a~Pfairs and those

in 1a~naica. Mr. Ffolkes has dual citizenship i~~ both Jamaica and Canada and has international training in finance, and

deep contacts and u~~derstandiug of t1~e ,lamaic~n business environment. The Issuer will utilize tl~e relationships thaT

Mr. Ffolkes has in order to develop relationships with Jamaica» customers. Further, Mr. Ffolkes also leas lead global

education a~1d having completed the following: a Bachelor of Arts aid MBA in Canada and executive courses at

Sta~lford University, IMD in Gtiirope and Israel. 1-iis busi~~ess experience and education positions hi~n as an ideal

candidate to help lead Cultivar ,lA in its Jamaican operations.

Does the board have access to resow~ces beyond local ~~~anaQe~nent or local directors who are not independe»t, that

can l~el~overcome language ai d cultw-al issues?

~̀ Ministry of Finance &Public Service of Jai~~aica - Moody's lnvest~or Services Upgrades Jamaica Sovereign Rating

a~~d Revises Outlook fi•on~ Positive to Stable: htCps://mof.~ov.im/mo~P-media/media-centre/press/2397-
moody-s-i»vestor-services-upgrades-iamaica-sovereign-rating-and-revises-outlook-from-positive-to-

sYable.html

s World Bank Doing Business Report 2019: htt~ps~//www worldbank.org/content/dam/doin~BUsi~~ess/media/Ani~ual_-

ReporCs/English/D[~2019-report web-veision.pdf
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The Issuer's Board will engage professio»al advisors (legal, financial, and technical) with the relevant expertise to

provide assistance in fhe political, legal and culttn•al realities of Jamaica on an as-needed t~asis.

(iii) Corporate struct~~re

]s the company's corporate structure consistent with its business model and tl~e political legal and culhu•al realities of

the iurisdictio~~ where its principal business operations are located?

The Board leas determined that Ci~ltivar's corporate structure is consistent with its busi~less model and the realities of

the jurisdiction in which primary operations will occur, being Jamaica. The directors and management of C,HL and

Ciiltivar JA will fulfill their duties as directors and management under the oversight of tl~e Board within the Canadian

corporate governance framework anti with the guidance of Canadian legal counsel, as well as Jamaican counsel (as

needed).

Have the risks associated with the company's corporate structure been identified and evaluated? Does many ei~ Went

have appropriate controls in place to address those risks?

CHL's sole officers are Mr. Sheldon Kales and Mr•. Rahul Kushwah, both of whom are also members of the Board and

officers of Cultivar JA. Cultivar's CFO, Mr. Rakesh Malhotra, is also presently the CFO of Cultivar JA. The

overlappi~lg leadership between the Issuer and Cultivar JA helps Cultivar maintain a level of control over the affairs

of the Jamaican company, thereby minimizing risks related to overseas operations.

(iii) Rislc ~ncuingem~ent and ctiselosi~re

Does the board have a full ~inderstandin~ of the risks facing the co~npanv and how those relate to the overall risk

appetite of tl~e company?

Tl~e Board has a full understanding of the risks facing tl~e Issuer. The Issuer shares similar risks of other junior ca~~nabis

issuers.

Does the board ask probing questions and seek confirmations that decisions made by mana~ement~ are consistent with

board-approved strategies and t11e company's overall risk appetite?

Tl~e Board of the Issuer will ask probing gti~estions and seek confirmations that decisions made by manage~nent~ are

consistent with board-approved strategies and tl~e Issuer's overall risk appetite.

Does the board regularly enf~a~~e wit11 management to review a»d update the risk ide~~tification a~~d mana~emei~t

strate y'?

Tl~e Board will lave direct access to mana~eme~~t of Cultivar JA as Mr. Kales, Mr. Kushwall and Mr. Malhoh~a are

~Il officers of tl~e Issuer as well. Going forward, the Board intends to review and update its risk identification and

management strategy o~~ an as-needed basis.

Does the board obt~ii~ continuation from manageme~lt that risk exposures are in compliance with established limits?

The Board will obtain co~~firmation from management that risk expos~n-es are in co~n}~liance with established limits.

Does the board have a clear uncierst~andii~g of the inter»al controls ai d pirocesses in place to respond to risk?

The Board will ensure that all members have a clear understanding of the internal controls and processes in place Co

respond to risk. The Board will ensure tl~~t all members lave a clear ~indeistanding of the internal controls and

processes i» place to res}~o»d to risk.

(iv) I~Tternal co~iU~ols
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Whit leas management do»e to determi»e if the co~n~any has the proper internal controls in place to address each of

tl~e identif ed risks in particular the risks associated with operating in an emer~in~ market?

Management of the Issuer will ensure the accounting cycle, payroll administration, operational activities, and financial

reporting controls to assess internal control risks and to ensure proper i~lternal conh~ol is in place.

What are tl~e auditor's views on tl~e comuany's inten~al controls?

Tlie financial statements of Cultivar JA will be audited by the auditor of the Issuer and its subsidiaries then appointed

at such time. As of the date of the Listing Statement Cultivar's auditor is Buckley Dodds LLP. This auditor is

i~~dependent to the Issuer and its subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the ]suer, adequately Lmderstands tl~e Issuer

and its subsidiaries' risks and challenges as well as has appropriate procedures to address same.

(v) Use of nncl reliance on experts

Has tl~e company considered the significance of expert's work oi~ the company's operations and the potential impact

on the company of an error or inaccuracx in the expert's work?

The Issuer expects to regularly rely on tl~e expertise of its professio»al advisors and consultants, including Jamaican

legal counsel, and the Board and management of the Issuer are cognizant of the significance of any expert report or

opinion rendered on behalf of the Issuer and the potential impact on the company of an error or inaccuracy in the

expert's work.

Has the company considered differences between local customs and practices in the emerging market compared to

Canada and tl~e adequacy of the rules ofprofessional conduct developed by the professional or~anizatiou of file expert

in tl~e emerging market?

The Issuer leas considered differences between local customs and practices in tl~e emerging market compared to

Canada, and the adequacy ofthe rules of professio~~al cond~ict developed by file professional organization ofthe expert

in the emerging market.

(vi.) Oversight of the external ati~di.tor•

Does the auditor have sufficient experience in the accounting a~~d tax rules o~Pthe foreign i~~risdictio»?

Tv the knowledge of the Issuer, tl~e auditor l~~s sufficient experience.

Does the auditor u»derstand the risks ai d ehallenQes facing the e~7~er~i~r market issuer al~d does it lave sufficient

appropriate audit procedures to address them`?

To the knowledge of tl~e Issuer, tl~e auditor adequately understands such risk and challenges a»d leas appropriate

procedures to address same.

Use ~~ f Proceeds

Cultivai• expects to lave approximately $1,950,000 available for the }principal purposes of supporting ongoing reseai-cl~

and develo}~ment activities, capital expenditures and ~;ei~eral corporate purposes. Notwithstandi~~g tl~e foregoing, there

may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a re~llocatio» of funds inay be necessary for the Iss~ier to

achieve its objectives. 7'l~e Issuer may also require additional flmds in order to fiilfill its expenditw~e require~~~ents to

meet existing and any new business objectives and ex}~ects to either issue additional securities or inc~n• debt to do so.

Tl~ei•e can be i~o asstu-ance that addiYiol~al funding i-ec~uired by the Issuer will be available, if required. it is antici}~ated

that tl~e available funds will be sufficient to satisfy the Issuer's objectives for the fortl~comi»g 12-ino»th period. The

amounts show» in the table below u»der "-Funds Avar/ab/e" are estiiroates only and are based on the information

available to Cultivar as of tl~e date of this Listing Statement.
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]3usi~aess Objectives a»d Milestones

The business objectives of Cultivar are su~n~narized in the following chart:

Objective Estimated Costs Timeline

Construct a facility i~1 Jamaica to Approximately $235,000 Cultivation expected to commence

grow, ctiltivate and ~nanufactm-e this in 2020.

cannabis

Become a maulifacturer and Unknown at this time. Not before December 16, 2019 (in

wholesale of consumable cannabis Canada).

products, including cosmetics,
natural health products,
pharmaceuticals, oils and edibles

Complete development of artifcial Approximately $217,000~'~ Testing for PredictMedix

intelligence technology to detect if technology is ongoing.

an individual is in~der the influence

of cannabis and alcohol, and to have Predict Opioid is expected to be

this technology used by various launched iu the first quarter of 2020.

workplaces and law enforcement

agents

Notes:

(1) This i~~cludes conducting air artificial intelligence study with 3,500 subjects, artificial development and coding fee, and facial scamper fees.

To Delp meet its objectives, the Issuer inYe~~ds to exec~iTe Yl~e following sh•ategies:

• Brand strategy:

v sell high quality Uazeci Leaf products by usi~~~ online mediwns (including websites) across Ca~lacla

and tiv-o~i~hout legalized states in Yl~e US;

n co~~duct promotional campaigns of Che Dazed Leaf producCs using various mediums of social media;

o create part~~erships with pharmaceutical representatives in order to sell its Predict Opioid

technology;

• Product strategy:

o c~~ltivate and export high quality ca~~nabis in Jamaica for its sale a»d mai~ufachu•e different consumer

prodtiicts; and

O~itre~ch strategy: beco~~~c a recognized expert in cannabis end its effect on impair~ne»t by publislli»g

academic ~~irticles end st~idies.

In response to regulatory and market uncertainty, the Issuer plans to lave a flexible and adaptable business strategy.

Additionally, Cultivar intends to continue developing additional prod~~et lines in order to diversify its sources of

reven~ie. A wider product offering and diversified revenue will help improve the sustainability of tl~e Issuer's

operations.
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Fa~nds Avarlrrfile

1'he pro Forma working capital position of the Issuer is estimated to be $1,950,000.

Source of Funds L$)

Net proceeds available Prom various private placements of CHL~~> 2,281,000

Existing unrestricted cash available 1,950,000

Notes

(I) Please see "3. Genera! Development of/he /3usiiaess -- Issuer's Finmlcing Aclivi/ies" for more information.

Pri~zcipnl P~~oceecls

The IssLier's Board anticipates using available funds ii1 the following manner over the next 12 mo»tl~s. 'The following

table also sets forth the estimated working capital and amounts and sources of other funds as at the dates of this Listing

Statement:

Expenditure ~$)

Construction and related capital expe»ses for c~iltivation of can~~abis by 235,000

Cultivar JA

Artificial intelligence study and development costs 205,000

Facial recognitio~l developme»t 12,000

Administrative expenses 546,000

Working capital 952,000

TOTAL 1,950,000

Cultivar intends to spend the fluids available to iY to further its stated business objectives. f-lowever, there irony be

circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary for die Issuer to achieve

ifs stated business objectives. In the event that it wishes to complete any capital expendittn~es i» additio~~ to the amo~i~~ts

set 'forth above, the Issuer will utilize its ~~nalloc~ted worki»g capital and, if required, raise additional capital through

equity or debt financing. There is no assl~rance that Cultivar will be s~iceessful in raising additional c~pit~l or that if

additional capital is required, that it will be available ou terms acceptable to the Issuer.

Principal Pr~orlucts and Services Mar)ret

Cultivar was previously a natural resource company with a focus on emerging u»conventio~~al gas production

company. Following receipt of the requisite Licences, the Iss~ier will cultivaTe, produce and sell cannabis-related

products, including those offered by its Dazed Leaf division. As well, the Issuer will continue to test, develop a~~d

market its PredicCMedix tech~~ology and dish~ibute the Predict Opioid Cesti~~g.

As of the date of this Listing Statement, Cultivar has not begun c~iitivatio~l or production of ~i~y cannabis products.

C~ ilt i vcn• .IA

Cultivar JA is focused o~~ growi~~g a~~d cultivating high quality ca~~~~abis in Jamaica. Among the benefits of producing

ca~~nabis in Jamaica include excellent weather conditions, attributed to favow-able rainfall, natw-al light and seasonal

temperat~u~es. Additionally, ,iamaica's favourable climate ~aermits an average of 5 to 6 growth cycles (each at
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approximately 8 weeks long) }per year. As discussed, cannabis cai~ be used to make a variety of products including

those already offered under Cultivar's Dazed Leaf a~~d Vivir Cosmetics li»e in addition to other products such as

topicals, oils, capsules, and for other edible and medicinal purposes. As well, the Issuer is also considering the sale of

the flowering heads, leaves, and branches as well.

Dazed Leaf

With respect to its Dazed Leaf divisio», the Issuer intends to use proceeds to:

• distribute tea and cosmetic products ~isi~~g o~lline websites a»d advertise using various metl~ocls of social

media;

• develop parhlerships with various health food stores, supermarkets, dispensaries, e-retailers, Holistic health

practitioners and naturopathic doctors;

• develop and launch additional Dazed Leaf products; and

• perform human clinical studies for peer reviewed medical journals.

Altl~o~igh the Dazed Leaf products are ready to be launched to market, cannabis is a controlled substa~lce and therefore

is subject to legislation. Particularly, the Cannnbis Act came into force o» October 17, 2018 a»d regulates the strict

fi•amework for conYrolii»g caimabis sale, possession, productio~l and distrib~ition iu Ca»ada. Additionally, this

legislation provides that effective October 17, 2019, tl~e production and sale of edible cannabis, cannabis extracts and

cannabis topicals will be legal in Canada by provincial and territorial retailers a»d federally license and sellers of

cannabis for medical ptu•poses. Attributed to this transition, ma~~agement of Cliltivar does not expect to commence

the sale of products within Canada before December 1(, 2019.

PredictMedix.

Testing for PredictMedix is ongoing a»d Cultivai• is in tl~e process of obtai~~ii~g a patent applicatio». Proceeds raised

will be used to fund costs affiliated with: obtaining intellectual property rights, working towards launching the prodtiict

for detection of cannabis and alcohol impairment at workplace, ai d completing impairment studies. It is expected that

the completion of tl~e impairment study will permit the company to present a "ir~at-ket ready" product for dish~ibutio».

Please refer to "- Develop tlae Preclr~ctNledix Aroch~rcts° for additional inf'ormatioi~.

Cultivar's management expecTs that it will launch Predict Opioid in the fist quarter of 2020. The Issuer intends to use

proceeds i~1 order to solicit pl~armaceuTical representatives (wl~o operate on a cominissio» basis) to assist in the sale

of the product as well as to attend various medical trade shows.

Specialized Skills ai~~l Traini~~g

C~iltivar will employ highly skilled medical professionals, business and marketi~lg personnel, seasoned growers and

specialized cultivators. The Issuer intends to possess all of The i~ecess~iy skills in-house to effectively cultivate and

coorciii~ate the manufacture of cannabis products, as well as to assist in tl~e research ai d development of new products.

Inta»grble Propert~~

In adclitio» to tl~e application for Licences dise~issed above i~~ "Nnrrcr~ive Desci~iptiorr of the Business — LicerTces",

Cultivar has also l~ee~~ assigned patent application No. 62/58,422, entitled: SYSTL:MS AND METHODS FOR

DETECTING IMPAIRMENT OF AN INDIVIDUAL.

This patent was filed by its inve»t~ors, Rahul Kushwah, Sheldon Kales, Na~~da~~ Mishra, Himanshu Ujjawal Singh, and

S~urabh Gupta (collectively, the "Assignors"), on June 7, 2019 with the lJi~it~;d States Patent and Trademark Office.

On Ju~~e 5, 2019 the Assig»ors entered into an Assignment Agreement whereby they agreed to assign their entire right,

title and interest i~~ and to tl~e invention to CH L. CHL hopes to receive tu~al patent approval over the two to three

years following the date of this Listing Statement.
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I'rici»~g

Prices of tl~e Issuer's products will be conservative to create a margin of safety in profit projections. Further analysis

regarding pricing will be co~lducted.

Locatio~as a►atl Ernployees

Cultivar has no employees as of tl~e date of this Listing St~teme»t.

Custonaer A~zalysis

Cannabis is a new and exciting industry with extreme growth potential. A large portion of the general populatio~i is
still uneducated on tl~e medici»~I benefits and general uses of cannabis and CBD as a pain relief and anxiety
depressant. As its products become more prevalent, Cultivar's management expects greater exposure to products and
use across all age groups.

As well, and as a result of this i~~creased ex}~osure, more attention will be devoted to better understanding impairme»t
and the effects of cannabis and other substances. This effectively positions Cultivar's PredictMedix and Predict Opioid
technologies, as well as distinguishes the issuer from other companies that do not have as diverse service offerings.

Conl~petitive Analysis

Below is a SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opporhu~ities, Threats) analysis for the Issuer:

Strengths Weaknesses

• experie»eed and connected management team • finding staff and pharmaceutical
• leased land for cultivation and applied for representatives in order to sell Cultivar's

required licences in Ja~naic~ products
• various strategic partnerships i~~cluding for the • establishing a recognizable brand

testing of its PredictMedix technology • c~u•rent lack of reve~lue
• flexible business approach due to its wide-

spread product offerings

Opportunities Threats

• recreational IegalizaYio~~ • well-financed a~~d positioned competitors
• growing indt~stiy • delays in Licence approval
• global recognition, including in Canada and introducTion of new laws and re~ulaYions

.lamaica
• signifiicant profit pote~~Cial

5. SGLECTLll CONSOLIDA'1'I D FINANCIAL INFORMATION

5.1 Fr»ancicrlli~foi•rnntion

The ~Pollowing table is a suinm~ry o~P selected financial inforinatio~~ of the Cultivai• for the fiscal years endi~~g years
e~~ded .luly 31, 2018 aid 2017. A copy of Cultivar's audited financial statements these fiscal years, as well as the
unaudited i~~terim financial statements for the period ended April 30, 2019, are attached hereto as Schedule "A".
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- — ~ 1'ru~ ratted Jule _~ I. 1 ~~~~r ~•nrletl Jztly 30, "-
~~nrh ?ors

lruidrn~rl) ', /~ruditer!)
~, ~ ' S;

Statement of Operation

Revenue — —

Operating Expenses (44,401) (14,750)

Other Items 1,71( —

Net Income /Losses (42,685) (14,750)

Financial Position

Total Assets 17,071 2,(52

Total Liabilities 87,977 3(,273

Shareholder's Capital and 70,306 (33,621)

Deficit

The following table is a summary of selected fina»cial information of the CHL for tl~e fiscal year endi»g Ja~~uary 31,

2019. A copy of Cultivar's audited financial stateme»ts for this period, as well as u~~audited statements for the three

and six months ended July 31, 2019 and 2018, are attached hereto as Schedule "B".

~', .~S CIt.ICURiCfI.7~ 3J~ Z~~y

~li!!!ll/C'l~~

S

Statement of Operation
Revenue —
Operating Expenses (365,961)

Other Items —

Net Income /Losses
(364,141)

I~'inanci~l Nosition
Current Assets 1,715,621

'Total Assets 1,729,727

Total Liabilities 47,ll3

Shareholder's Equity I,(i82,614

The following table sets forth selected p~~o forma ~ina~~cial statements of the Issuer ai d CHL as at July 31, 2019. A
co~~y of the Issuer's Pro-Forma Consolidated Financial SYaCeme~~ts is also provided at Schedule °G" I~ereto.
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Statement of O erations

~R~'Il PI" ~~3'O J'U77)Il7 !/S [!f

.Irrll~ ~/, 201>

~Il11 Cf A(~Itl'[1~

S~

Revenue —

Financial Position

Current Assets 2,097,974

Total Assets 2,127,562

Total Liabilities 57,120

Shareholder's Equity 2,070,442

Divide~ads

Cultivar has not paid any dividends on its Issuer Shares within the past year. Other than the statutory rules provided

by corporate law, there are no restrictio~ss in the Cultivar's articles that prevent the declaration of dividends.

Tl~e payment of dividends, if any, rests within the sole discretion of tl~e Board. The Board's decision to declare and

pay dividends de}~ends upon earnings, capital requii•e~nenfs, financial condition ai d other relevant factors. Cultivar

does not anticipate that it will pay any dividends oi~ its securities in the foreseeable future.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Issuer's MD&A for the year e»ded July 31, 2018 and interim period ending April 3U, 2019 is attached hereto as

Selledule °C", and CHL's MD&A foi~ the year ended ,la~~uary 31, 2019 and interim period endi~lg .luly 31, 2019 is

attached hereto as Schedule "D".

MAI2KG'I' rOR SECURITIES

Iss~ier's Shares are not eurrenNy listed on an exchange. Subject to Clue fi~~al approval of the CSE, Issuer's Shires will

be listed on the GSE under the trading symbol "CULT". Listi~~g on the CSE will be subject to Cultivar fulfilling all of

the requirements of the CSE.

H. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALI7A'I'ION

The following table sets out the capitalization of the Cultivar as at the date o1'this Listing Statement:

Dcsi<~nation of Securif~~ ~~utl~oi-ized ;~iuoE~nt '1'ot<il

common shares unlimited 103,954,149

warrai~ts~ ~~ 1,648,000 1,648,000

options'-~ 350,000 350,000

Notes
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(1) 'These reler tq the Cultivar Wa~r~nts. Lach Cultivar Warrant is exercisable into an Issuer SI~3re ~t an exercise price of $0.50 per share until

August 12, 2021.
(2) These options are more pm~ticularly described wider "). Options to Piurhnse Securities".

There has been no material change in the sl~~re capital of the Issuer since the date of the Issuer's financial statements

contained in this Listing Statement.

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES

Cultivar presently has 350,000 options outstanding:

• I~Z October 2018, the Issuer granted optio~ls to a consultant to acquire a total of 250,000 Issuer Shares. These

optio»s were issued at a» exercise price oP $0.10 per share.

• In November 2018 dle Issuer granted options to a consultant to acquire a total of 100,000 Issuer Shares.

These options were issued at an exercise price of $0.10 per share.

The Issuer has adopted a "rolling" lU%stock option plan (the "Stock Option Plan"). The purpose ofthe Stock Option

Plan is to advance the interests of the Issuer by encouraging the directors, officers, employees, management company

employees and co»stiltauts of the Issuer, and of its subsidiaries and affiliates, if any, to acquire co~mnon shares in the

share capital of the Issuer, thereby increasing their propt~ietaiy intet•est i» the Issuer, encouraging them to remain

associated with the Issuer and furnishing them with additional incentive in their efforts on behalf of tl~e Issuer in tl~e

conduct of its affairs. The Stock Option Plan provides Yhat, subject to the requirements of file CSE, the aggregate

nwnber of securities reserved for issti~ance will be up to 10% of the number of the Issuer's common shares issued and

outsta»ding fi•om time to time. The Stock O}~tion Plan is administered by the Issuer's Board, whiel~ I~as full a~~d fi»al

authority with respect Yo the granting of all options thereunder.

Options may be granted under the Stock Option Plan to slicl~ service providers of the Issuer and its affiliates, if any,

as t11e Board may from time to time designate. The exercise price of option grants will be determined by the Board,

will not be less than the closi»g market price of tl~e Coimnon Shares on the CSE less allowable discou»ts at tl~e time

of grant. The Stock Option Plan }provides that the »umber of Com~l~on Shares that may lie reserved for issuance to any

one individual upon exercise of all stock options held by such individ~ial may ~~ot exceed 5% of the issued Common

Shares of the Issuer. All options granted under t11e Stock Optio» Plan will expire not later• tl~a~~ tl~e date that is tei~

years from the date that such options are granted. Options terminate earlier as follows: (i) immediately in tl~e event of

dismissal with cause; (ii) 90 days from date of termi~lation other Phan 'for cause; or (iii) one year from the date of death

or disability. Options granted wider the Stock Option Plan are not transferable or assignable other• than by will or other

testamentary instrument or purs~ia~~t to the laws of succession.

As of the date hereof, the issuer does not have any issued or outstanding options

10. UESCRIP7'ION OF THE SECURITIES

Description of the Secl~~~rties

Cultivar is a~ithorized to issue an unlimited number of commw~ shares, of which 103,954,149 Issuer Shares are iss~ieci

and ouTstai~ding as of the dace of the Listing Statement. The followi~~g is a s~nn~n~ry of the principal attributes of the

Issuer Shares:

• Dinirle~rds. Holders of Issuer Shares are entitled to receive dividends if, aa~d when, declared by the Board.

• liotir~g Rights. Holders of Issuer Shares are entitled fo receive notice of and Yo atte~~d and vote at, all meetings

of tl~e Cultivar. Each Issuer Share confers t~l~e right to one vote.

• Rights Upon Liqurdatiori, Drsso/utiore a~ Wir~rfing-up. Holders of Issuer Shares will ra~~k equally as to priority

of distributio~~ in the event of a ligl~idation, dissolution or winding up event.

Profits. Each shareholder is e~ltitled to share pro rata in any profits of CulYivar to the extent they are

disU~ibuted.
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Pre-Gn~ptive, Corn~ersia~ a~~d Otber Rights. No pre-emptive, redemptio», sinking fwd or conversio~~ rights

are attached to tl~e Issuer Shares, and the Issuer Shares will not be liable to flu•fl~er call or assessment. No

other class of shares nay be created without the approval of the holders of Issuer Shares. There are no

provisions discriminating against any existing or prospective holder of Iss~ier Shares as a restiiit of such

shareholder ovv~~ing a substantial number of Issuer Shares.

P~•ior Sales

Tl~e following table summarizes the issuances of Issaer Shares or securities convertible into Issuer Shares for the 12-

m~ntl~ period prior to the date of this Listing Statement:

Date of Issue Security Type Description of
Consideration

NumUer of
Securities

Price per Security

December 6, 2017 common shares cash 30,000,000 $0.000001

February 20, 2018~~~ common shares cash 7,490,000 $0.05

April 16, 2018 common shares cash 1,380,000 $0.05

July 1(, 2018 common shares exchanged for
shares of Ga»nIP

29,800,000 not applicable

October 15, 2018 co~mnon shares cash 16,125,000 $0.05

October l9, 2018 common shares cash 6,507,500 $0.10

December 4, 2018 common shares cash 1,500,000 $0.10

January 30, 2019 common shares cash 200,000 $0.10

May 1, 2019 com~no» shares cash 800,000 $0.10

August 12, 2019 Units'-~ Cash 3,296,000 $0.25

Notes

(1) h~ addition, 27>,0~0 tinder's shares were issued.

(2) Eiacl~ wait comprised of one convnon share and one-half Cultiv~r Warrant. The cost ~~er unit euas and raised gross proceeds of $524,000.

ll. GSCROWEll SGCURITIGS

Tl~e following table sets forth tl~e following Issuer Shares that are Feld in escrow:

Ucsi~;nation of class Number of Issuer Shires Percentage of Issuer Shares

common shares 51,625,000 49.7%

The following securities are subject to escrow based o~~ 103,954,149 Issuer Shires issued and outstanding at the date

of the Listing Statement.
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Nan~c of l~;scror~ I loldcr

Peter Abrahams

i~un~l~cr of Issuer Sli~~i-cs Subject
to G;scro~v After Closin oi' tl~c
R' (`O

Perc+.~ntage of Issr~~r 5ha~ ~s ,~fte~~
Closing of the R'I'O

-0.2%250,000 ---- —

Sharon Annette Abrahams 5,000,000 4.~%

Justin Ffolkes 500,000 0.5%

Sheldon Kales 28,(25,000 27.5%

Abigal Ffolkes 500,000 0.5%

Eugene Anthony Ffolkes 4,550,000 4.4%

Rahul Kusllwah 8,000,000 7.7%

Rakesh Malhotra 200,000 0.2%

Tom Sipos 350,000 03'%

Total 47,725,000 45.9%

12. PRINCIPAL SI-IAREHOLDERS

As at the date of this Listi»g Statement, no persons be»eficially owned, directly or indirectly, or exercised conn•ol or

direction over, voting secin•ities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the voting securiTies of the

Issuer, other than as follows:.

\an~e A'un~~x:~~ oP Issuer ~ C'I~~ss vi' lssucr ~ O~~~nersliip (Direct I'ez~cent:~ e of
Shares At"ter Tares or IndireMj Class After Closing
(:losing of the of i6e R'TO

R̀ l'O
~

Sheldo~~ I<ales ~ 28,625,000 ~ co~~~moi~ shares ~ direct ~ 27.54%

Total ~ as,~as,000 ( z~.sa~i~

13. llIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

13.1 Directors a~7d Etecuzive Officers

Tl~e f'ollowi~~g table sets out tl~e names of Cultivar's directors and officers, the province and mu~~icipality in which

each is ordinarily residence, the appointme»t of each individual, leis principal occupation during the past 5 years and

tl~e number and percentage of Issuer Shares beneticially owned by each individual, directly or i~~directly, or over which

control or direction is exercised following the completion of the RTO.
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V'aunt:, place Pt•iucipal Directo~- or Vtiiubcr of Pereent~ge ~ tiui~~ber of Per~cent~be

of reside~~ce, occupation Ol~ficcr o~~ lssuet' of issuer Issuer of Isst~ei-

and position dw•i~~g pest Cultivax~ Shares on i~ Shares o~i i~ b8ares ou a Shares oia a

r~~ith Culti~~lr ii~e years Siuce }'Von-Dilutc~l Non-Diluic~l Diluted Non-Diluted

Sheldon Kales EnU•epreneur September 28,625,000 27.54% 28,625,000 26.98%

Toronto, 23, 2019

0~ltario

(Directo~~ and
CEO) ~-~

Dr. Rah~il Scientist September 8,000,000 7.70°/, 8,000,000 7.54%

Kusl~wal~ 23, 2019

Toronto,
Ontario

(Di.rector~ and
COO)

Rakesh Chief September 200,000 0.19% 200,000 0.19%

Malhoh•a Financial 23, 2019

Toronto, Officer

Ontario

(CFO)

Tomas Sipos Investment September 350,000 0.34% 350,000 0.33%

Toronto, Balker 23, 2019

Ontario

~DIYC'CIOI"~ (~) (')

Ajit Kumar Entrepreneur September 0 0.00°/n 0 0.00°/n

Londo~l, 23, 2019

United
Kingdom

(Director°)' ° "'

Notes
(I) ludepcndent director.
(2) Member of tl~e Audit Committee.
(3) Based on ]06,102,149 diluted Common Shares.

For additional information regarding the directors and offcers, please see the biographies "~—M~rarzgen~erat Dedai/s".

73.2 Pe~~iod of Service q f Directors

The term of each director will expire on the date of the next a~~nual general meeting Lmless his office is earlier v~c<ited

or he is removed i~~ accordance with Cultivar's articles and applicable legislation.

13.3 Di~~ecto~s a»d rzecc~tinc Officers Cor~nnofa S/~cu•e Owizei•ship

Gultivar's directors ai d officers will benefiicially ow~~ or exercise control or direction over 35.7(1°/o of Issuer Shares.

13.4 Committees

Cultivar's a~~dit committee (the °Audit Committee") is the only committee ofi the Board. Trom time t~ time, Cultivar's

Board may also establish additional committees.
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Ctiiltivar's Board intends to ado}~t a written charter setting forth tl~e responsibilities, powers and operations of the Atiidit

Co~mnittee consistent with Nl 52-110. The principal duties and responsibilities of the Issuer's Audit Co~mnittee will

be to assisT the Issuer Board in discharging tl~e oversight of:

• the integrity of the Issuer's consolidated financial statements and accounting and financial processes
and the audits of our consolidated financial statements;

• the Issuer's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
• the ]ssuer's external auditors' qualifications and independence;
• the work and performance of the Issuer's fi»ancial management and its external auditors; and
• the IssLier's system of disclosure controls and procedures and system of internal controls regarding

fina»ce, accounting, legal compliance, and risk management established by management and tl~e
Issuer Board.

The majority of the Audit Committee's members are independent a~1d consists of: Tomas Sipos (as Chair), Ajit Kumar

and Sheldon Kales. Mr. Sheldon Kales is the CEO of the Issuer and is not considered inclepende»t lender NI 52-110,
while Mr. Tomas Sipos and Mr. Ajit Kumar are independent directors under NI 52-110.

Mr. Tomas Sipos, Mr. Ajit Kumar and Mr. Sheldon Kales are all considered financially literate, in that each has the
ability to read and iulderstand a set of financial stateme»ts that present a breadth and level of complexity of

accounting issues that are ge»erally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be

expected to he raised by Ctiltivar's financial state~r~ents. Particularly:

Mr. Sipos has longstanding experience in corporate fiva~lce ai d investment banking and served as a se»ior
executive of several companies including Vice President, Mergers and Acquisitio~~s of Ernst &Young
(Toro»to) a»d Managi»g Director of Investment Banking aY Eliropea~~ Privatization & ]nvest~nent
Corporation and Senior Investment Banker for the Inten~ational Finance Corporation;

Mr. Kales was tl~e founder, CEO and director of Secw~ity Devices International Inc., a }public company quoted
on OTCBB in the United States; and

Mr. Kwnar is the founder and managing director of one of the largest suppliers of i~~edical equipment a»d
healthcare supplies in the United Kingdom.

It is anticipated That the Audit Co~mnittee will have access to all books, records, facilities and personnel aid may
request any information about the Issuer as it may deem appropriate. It will also have the authority to retain and
compensate special legal, accounting, financial anti other coi~sulta~lts or advisors to advise the Audit Committee. The

Audit Committee is also expected to review a»d a}~}~rove all related-party transactions and prepare reports for the
Issuer Board o» such related-party transactions as well as be responsible for the pre-a}~proval of all non-audit services
Co be provided by oiir auditors.

Tl~e Company is a "ve~lttu-e issuer" as defined in NI 52-110 and is relying on tl~e exe~~~ption in section 6.1 of
N I 52-110 relating to Parts 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) auci 5 (Reporting ObligaTioi~s).

13.7 Principal Occupation of Directors a~1c/ Executive Officers

lipformation pertaining to a directors and executive officer's principal oce~ipation is set o~~t in the table above under

the heading "Directo~~s and Executive Of~ce~~s".

Mr. Kales E~resently sits on the board of directors of Hope Well Capital Cor~>., ~ com~~any listed o~~ the TSX Venture
Exchange under the symbol "I-IOPG".

1.3.6 Corpo~•ate ('ease Trade Orders or BanJrr~iptcies

Except as disclosed herein, no proposed director or executive officer of Cultivar, or a shareholder that will hold a
sufficient n~nnber of securities of Ciiltivar to affect materially the co~~trol of the company, is, or within 10 years before
the date of the Listing Statement has been, a director or of'Ficer of any other issuer that, while that person was acting
in that capacity:
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(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or air order that denied t~l~e other Iss~ier access to

any exemptions ender securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days;

(U) was subject to an event that resulted, after the dii•ecYor oi• executive officer ceased to be a director or

executive officer, i~~ tl~e company being tl~e subject of a cease trade or similar order or an orc9er that

de~lied the relevant company access to any exemption Linder securities legislation, for a period of

more than 30 consecutive days;

(c) became bankrupt, made a ~ro}~os~l under a»y legislation relating to ba»la-uptcy or insolve»cy or was

subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver,

receiver• manager or trustee appointed to 11o1d its assets, state the fact; or

(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under

any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolve~~cy or was subject to or instituted any p~~oceedings,

arrangement or' com}~romise with creditors or haci a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed

to hold its assets.

A CTO was issued by the BCSC on December 6, 2011 and by tl~e ASC on March 5, 2012 as a result of the Issuer's

failure to meet filing requirements. The Issuer has since acldi-essed all ofthe outstaudi~~g filing deficiencies a»d brought

its continuous disclosure records on SEDAR up to date. In ttiirn, both CTOs were revoked o~1 May 16, 2018.

O» July 2, 2019, a CTO was issued against IZakesl~ Malllotra under sectio~l 164(1) of the Seczerities ~Ict, R.S.B.C.

1996, c.418 wail Byecai-rot I~7~lovations Copp., a~1 issuer for which Mr. Mall~otra is an insider, filed the regaired records

and the CTO was revoked. Eyecarrot Innovations Corp. has since addressed all of the outstanding filing def ciencies

and the CTO was revoked on September 16, 2019.

13.7 Pe~~alties o~~ Saiictiorrs

No proposed director or exectiitive officer of Cultivar, or a shareholder that will hold a sLifficie»t dumber of Issuer

Shares to affect materially the control of Cultivar, has been subject to:

(a) any penalties or sanctio~~s imposed by a co~n~t relating to Canadian securities legisl~tio» or by a

Canadian securities regulatory a~ithority or has entered into ~ settlement agreement wit11 a Canadi~~1

securities regulatory authority; or

(b) a~1y other penalties or sanctions imposEd by a court or regt~ilat~ory body that would be likely to ve

considered important to a reaso~lable investor making an investment decision.

13.8 Persorral6a«Irriiptcies

No proposed director or executive officer of Cultivar or a shareholder thaT will hold a suff dent number of sec~iriYies

of Gultivar to ~ffeet materially the coi~h-ol of Cultiv~r, or a personal holcliug company of any s~ich perso~~s has, within

tl~e 10 years before the date of the Listing SCate~~~ent, become bankrupt, made a proposal ~mder any legislation relating

to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instiCuted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with

creditors, oi~ had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of tl~e director or officer.

13.9 Co~~flicts c~f'Interest

CulCivar's directors and officers may serve as directors and officers, or may be associated with other reporting

companies or have significant shareholdings in other public coi~~pai~ies. To the extent that such other companies may

partici~~ate i~~ business or asset acquisitions, dispositions, or ventw~es i~~ which Gultivar may participate, the directors

and officers of Cultivar nay Dave a conflict of interest in negotiating and concl~iding terms. If a co»flict of interest

arises, tl~e Company will follow the provisions of the BCBCA in dealing with coirflicts of interest. These provisions

state, where adirector/officer has such a conflicC, that the director/officer must at a meeting of the board, disclose his

interest and refrain from voting on the matter unless otherwise permitted by the BCI3Cn. L~ accorcl~~~ce with the laws
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of tl~e Province of British Columbia, tl~e direcCors a»d officers of Ctiiltivar are required to act honestly, in good faith

and in The best interests of tl~e Cultivar.

To the best of Cultivar's knowledge, there ire no 1<uow» existing or potential conflicts of interest atnon~ tl~e Issuer, its

proposed directors, executive officers, or other members of management of the Cultivar as a res~ilt of their outside

business interests, except that certain proposed directors and officers may serve as directors and officers of other

compa»ies, a~1d therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise betwee~l their duties to the Cultivar and their duties as

a director or officer of such other companies. See "Risk Factors".

13.10 Ma~aage»ze»t Details

The followi~l~ is a brief description of Cultivar's key ma~~agement and Board members.

Slaelcto~~ Kale,s (63 years), Dtrecta~, Au~fit Committee Member and CEO of Cultivar

Mr. Kales is a serial entrepreneur and a business leader. He has extensive leadership experience in ma~laging and

operating research and development operations of technology companies across the United States, Canada and the

Middle East. Previously, Mr. 1<ales was the Chief executive Officer of Chester Gold Corp., a private mining

exploration company in northern Ontario. Mr. Kales was also the founder, Chief Executive Officer and director of

Security Devices International lnc., a public company quoted on OTCBB in the United States from 2005 to 2010.

From 2006 to 2008 Mr. Kales served as a director of L.A.M. Pharmaceutical Coip., a company quoted on OTCBB.

He presently serves as a board member of Hope Well Capital Corp.

Mr. Kales is a graduate of University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Arts degree. He will devote such time as is

required in connection with the mauagelnent of Cultivar.

Dr. Rnhul Ki~~shwal~ PhD, (36 yenrs), Director mad COO of Ci~hivar

Dr. Kushwall is an accoinplislled scientist with vast experience i» stein cells, genetics, immunology and regenerative

and perso~lalized meclicii~e. Prior to joi»ing Cultivar, Dr. I<usl~w~h held a faculty appointment wiYll tl~e Faculty of

Medicine at the University of Ottawa and was an accomplished federal government scientist with the Human Health

Therapeutics bra~~ch of the National Research Council of Canada. Additionally, he has served as a consulting scientist

with the Hospital for Sick Childre~~ in Toronto, Ontario, and is a reg~ilar speaker at several international speaking

engagements. Dr. 1<ushwah has also authored several publications in medical journals end serves as a reviewer and

editor for several ,jow~nals in the medical field.

Dr. 1<ushwah received his doctorate fi•o~n Yl~e University of Toronto and has been a recipie~~t of the Banting Post-

Doctoral Fellowship in Meciici»e and CII-IR Post-Doctoral Fellowship. I-le will devote such time as is required i»

connection with the manageme»t of C~iltivar.

Tomas Sipo.r, (57), /r~de~~ende~~t Acidit Coinn~ittee Member anr! Director of~Carltr~vnr

Mr. Si~~os is a seasoned investment banker wl~o Ln~de~stands tl~e vast intricacies of i»vestor relations and i~~vest~~~e»t

banking. Throughout his career he has held several se»ior positions, i~~cluding Vice President, Mergers and

Acq~iisitions of Ernst &Young (Toro~~Co), Mana~i~~g Director of Investment Banking at European Privatization &

li~vestinent Corporation a»d Senior Investment Banker for the Internatio»al Fi~~ance Co~poratio~~. Presently, Mr. Sipos

is a CFO for Pistil Parh~ers li~c., a cannabis and CQD company operating in the U»ited Slates. He also c~irrently serves

as a director of the NATO Association of Canada Program Committee.

Mr. Sipos Bolds ~~ (Honors) Bachelor of Science ii1 chemical cngi~~eering from Queen's University and ~ MBA from

the University of Toronto, Rotma~~ School of B~isiness. He will devote such time as is required in connection with his

role as a director of CulYivar.

Ajit Krnnnr~, (66), /r~depender~t Ai~~lit Con~i~~~ittee Men~be~~, and Dia•ector~ of C~iltivar
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Mr. Ku~~~ar is a serial entreprenew- a~~d healthcare executive. He currently serves as founder and managing director of

I<-Med Limited, o~~e of die largest suppliers of medical equipment anti healthcare sup}~lies in tl~e United Kingdom.

Prior to that, he was the fow~der of a health care equipmetlt company (Health Care Eq~~ip~nent Co.) which was later

acquired by HCE Medical Group, UK.

Mr. Kumar Folds a Bachelor and Master of Scie»ce from Kanpur University, I»dia and apost-graduate degree in

Botany ai d ~»vironmental Sciences from the Imperial College of London, UK. He will devote such time as is required

in connection with the management of Cultivar.

Rcrhesl~ Mall~otra, (62), C.FO, Cj~lttvar

Mr. Malhoh•a is a US certified public accounta»t (CPA) and a Canada ~ublie accountant (CPA, CA) with over 25

years of experience in accounting, financing and internal controls. Mr. Malhotra presently selves as the Chief Financial

Officer at Eyecarrot Innovations Corp., Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Chief Accounting Officer at Security

Devices Inter»arional, Inc., and Ghief Financial Officer for Osoyoos Cannabis, Inc. He also serves as a consultant to

various }public companies listed in both Canada and the USA.

In addition to the licences mentioned above, Mr. Malhotra holds his Bachelor of Commerce (Honors) from the

University of Delhi. He will devote siicl~ time as is required in connection with tl~e man~geme»t of Cultivar.

14. CAPITALIZATION

-~ -- --~- —
Nambc~:___- 

of Nnrubcr of
Securities Securities (fiillV- % of IssucQ % of Issued

(non-dihded) diluted) (non-diluted) (fulh~-diluted)

-- --- --
Public I+loaf

Total outstanding (A) 103,954,149 106,102,149~'~ - -

Held by Related Persons or employees 51,625,000 51,625,000 49.66% 48.66%

of the Issuer or Related Person of the
Issuer, or ley persons or compa~ves who
beneficially own or control, directly or
indirectly, more than a 5% voting
position in the Issuer (or who would
bei~ef cially own or conh•ol, directly or
indirectly, snore than a 5"/<, voting
~>osition in tl~e ]ss~~er upon exercise or
convei•sio» of other securities held) (B)

'Taal P~~blic Float (A-B) 52,329,149 54,477,149 5034% 5134%

Freely=T~l-ade~ble Float

Niunber of outstanding sec~u~ii~ies 51,625,000 52,125,000 49.66°/n 49.12%

subject to resale resCrictious, including
restrictions imposed by pooling or
other arrangements oi- in a sharel~olcler
agrcei~~ent a~~d securities held by

control block holders (C)

Total "Cr~deable Float (A-C) 52,329,149 53,977,149 50.34'% 50.87%

- 32-



Notes

(7) "I his includes 1,648,000 Cultivar Warrants currently outslandii~g and the 500,000 Issuer Shares that will be issued to m~nagen~ei~t following
Gi~al approval of the Licences.

Public Securityholders (Registered) of the Issuer

CLASS OF SECURITY

Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities

1 - 99 securities 55 573

100 - 499 securities 5 1,046

500 - 999 securities f 3,903

1,000 -1,999 sectu•ities 4 6,626

2,000 - 2,999 securities 2 5,085

3,000 - 3,999 securities 0 0

4,000 - 4,999 securities 3 14,037

5,000 or more sec~u-ities 117 103,922,879

Total 191 103,954,149

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) of the Issuer

CLASS OF SGCURI'I'Y

Size of lloldin~ Number of holders Total number of securities

1 - 99 securities 736 12,765

1(~0 - 499 securities 115 23,299

500 - 999 secin-ities 38 24,920

1,000 - 1,999 seeLu•ities 29 38,495

2,000 - 2,999 secw~ities l 1 25,758

3,000 - 3,999 securities 4 13,692

4,000 - 4,999 securities 0 28,002

5,000 or more securities 130 ] 03,667,811

th~able to confirir~ U 0
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l5. GXECUTIV~ COMPi.NSATION

Consulting and employme»t agreements, together with the final terms of these agreements, are ctiii-rently under

discussion. Final agreemenCs will incltiide executive compensation and confide~ltiality provisions. Specific details

related to executive compensation will be prepared in accordance with Form 51-102F6 of National Iustrwne»t 51-102

— Continuous Disclosure Obligations, which will be incltiided iu tl~e Issuer's management informatio» circular to lie

made available on SEDAR (www.sedar.coin).

16. INDF,BTEDNGSS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

No proposed director, officer or promoter• of Cultivar• is, following completion of the RTO, or has bee~~ indebted to

the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries in the most recently completed fina»cial year, nor will they be indebted to Cultiv~r

or any of its subsidiaries on the Listing Date.

17. I21SK I+ACTORS

Investing in Issuer Shares is speculative and i»volves certain risks. When evaluating the Issuer and its business,

prospective purchasers of Issuer Shares should carefully consider the information set out in this Listing Statement

(including those documents incorporated by reference) a~1d the Risk Factors described below.

Tl~e risks and ~mcertainties described or incorporated by reference herein are not the only o»es tl~e lss~ier and its

subsidiaries face. Additional risks and uncertainties, including those that Cultivar is unaware of or that are currently

consiclei•ed immaterial, may also adversely affect tl~e Issuer and its business. Investors should consuh their professional

advisors To assess any investment i~~ tl~e Issuer.

Risks relating? to tl~e Iss~ier's Business in General

Fnihere t~ e~~ecuze airy mntericr/ part of its girowtl~ strategy, naay hnnn Ct~lti.vcrr's,future g~~owdla arzd ahiliry to mnlce

prgfitable ir~vestrnents

Issuer's success depe~~ds on its ability to expand its business while maintaining profitability. Cultivar may »oY he able

to sustain its growth or profitability i~~ future periods. Tl~e Issuer's futw~e growth and profitability will depend Lipon a

»umber of factors, including, without limitation:

• the level of competition in the cannabis industry in Canada, Jamaica and other international ir~arkets:

• the Issuer's ability to identify, acquire aucl integrate strategic acquisitio~~s;

• tl~e Issuer's ability to achieve br~~~d loyalty;

• tl~e Issuer's ability to offer new products and to exYei~d existing brands anti }products into new markets, in

Jai~~aica, Canada, and in other i~~t~ernational i~iarkets;

• the Issuer's ability to remain competitive i~~ its prici~~g;

• the lss~ier's ability to leverage its vertically i»Ycgr~tetl business model to i~~crease protitability;

• the Issuer's ability to maintain efficient, timely and cost-effective production ai d delivery of its products;

• the efificie~~cy and effectiveness of the Issuer's sales and marketing efforts in b~iilding product ai d brand

awareness and cross-marketing its brands;

• the Issuer's ability to ~de~~tify and respond s~iccessfully to emerging tre»ds in the cannabis i~~dustry;

• the level of consluner acceptance of the Company's products; and

• the general economic and political conditions and consumer conf7dence.

The Company may not be successful in executing it's growth strategy, and eve~1 if the Issuer achieves t1r~;eted growth,

it may not be able to sustain profitability. Failure to successfully execute auy material part of the Issuer's growth

strategy would signil5ca»tly impair the Issuer's future growth a»d its ability to make profitable investments in its

business.
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/licks associated with,for•eign ~na~r-Icets

Tl~e Issuer could be s~ibjeet to a variety of additional risks based on laving assets a»d business located in Jamaica,

that may negatively impact the Issuer's operations. A dispute arising in coi~~~ectio~i with Cultivar's operaTions in

Jamaica may be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts. It may also be difficult to enforce judgments

held in Canada in other jurisdictions outside of the country. Accordingly, C~iltivar's activities in foreign jurisdictions

could be substantially affected by factors beyond the Issuer's control, any of which could have a material adverse

effect on the Issuer.

There can also be no assurance fliat liabilities which may be incurred by tl~e Issuer as a result of its foreign operations

will be covered by such insurance, or if covered, that the dollar value of such liaUilities will not exceed the Issuer's

policy limits. A partially or completely uninsured claim, if successful and of safficient magnitude, could lave an

adverse effect on the Issuer.

The Issuer has no source of ope~~crting reven~tre arrd it is Iilcely i.d will operate czt a loss r~r~ti.l it is able to realize cash.

,flow from its financings

The Issuer may require additional financing in order to fund its business. The ]ssuer's ability to arrange such financing

i» the firture will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions, as well as the Issuer's business success.

There can be no assurance that tl~e Issuer will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financi»g on terms

satisfactory to it, or at all. If additional financing is raised by the issuance of Issuer Shares fi-om h•easury, control of

the Issuer may change and shareholders may suffer additional dilution. If adequate funds are not available, or are not

available oi~ acceptable terms, the Issuer may not be able to operate its businesses at their maximum potential, to

expand, to take advantage of other opportunities, or otherwise remain i~~ business.

Holders of Issuer Sher es ar•e ut ri,sTc fora ,stxbstanti.al loss of capital

The investments to be made by the ]suer are speculative in nature and folders of Issuer Shares cotiild experience a

loss of all or substantially all of their investment in the Issuer. There can be »o assurance that C~iltiv~r will be able to

make anti realize i~lvestments or generate positive returns. There can also be »o assurance that the returns generated,

if any, will be co~mnensurate with tl~e risks of~ investing in tl~e types of investments contemplated by tl~e Issuer's

investment objectives. 'Therefore, an investment in Cultivar should only be considered by perso»s who can afford a

loss ofi their entire investment.

Risks related to cost over~~ui~s

Tl~e costs of developing, marketing, and selli»g Cultivar's products may he underesti~~~ated and may be increased ley

factors beyond its control. Such factors may include weather conditions, taxaTio~~, labow- dispLites, technological

developments, trade and customs duties and disputes, govermnental regulations, increased production cost, equipment

breakdowns and other production disr~iptions. While Cultivar intends to engage qualified personnel, the risk of ru»»ing

over budget remains and may Dave a substantial adverse impact on C~iltivar's protitability.

Rislcr ~~ela~erl to p~~opr~ietary protection

Cultivar's s~iccess will depend in part on its ability to maintain copyright aid trademark prot~ectio~~, trade secret

piatection anti operate without infi•ingi~~g the proprietary rights of third parties. There can be no ass~ira~~ce that its

prodtiicts will not iaafi~inge patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property rights held by third parties. 1~~

addition, since it n ay rely on third parties to help develop some of its products, it c~n~~ot ensw~e that litigation will not

prise from disp~~tes involving these third Uarties. It nay incur substantial expenses in defending against prospective

claims, regardless of Cl~eir merit.

Furthermore, there can be no ass~u~ance that others will clot inde}~endently dEvelop products similar to those developed

by C~iltivar or duplicate a»y of its products. 1» addition, Cultivar co~~ld incur substantial time, effa~t and/or costs in

policing una~ithorizeci use of its intellectual property end/or in clefe~~ding itself in suits brought against it, or in s~iits i~~

which the Issuer attempts to enforce its own intellectual property rights against other parCies.
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IZishs relcztecl Go r~ietii~ prortucts aril tecl~r~ological charge

Impairment testing and prediction mecl~anisi~~s are characterized by rapidly changi~~g technology, evolving industry
standards and new product introductions, 1ny of which could make Cultivar's products or methods obsolete. There
can be no assurance that Issuer will be successful in enhancing existing products or introducing, maniifacturi»g or
marketing new products or techniques to meet cha»gi»g e»d-user require~ne»ts ~»d emerging industry standards and
protocols.

Tl~e Issuer must devote continued efforts and financial reso~u•ces to develop and enl~a»ce existing products and
mechanisms. This is a complex and uncertain process i•ec~uiring high levels of innovation, as well as accurately

anticipating technological and market trends. The ]suer may not be able to identify, develop, manufacture, market or
support new or e~lhanced products or methods successfully or o~1 a timely basis, and may not be able to respond
effectively to product announcements by competitors, technological changes or emerging industry standards which
could, among other things, have ~ material adverse effect on the ]ssuer's business, operati»g results or fi»ancial
condition. The Issuer may also announce new }products or product e»l~ancements, capabilities, methods, or
teclniologies that lave tl~e potential to replace or shorten the life cycle of its existing product offerings and that may
cause customers to defer- pUrcl~asing its existing products.

The price for IssT.~er Shares n~~ay fluctuate grently

The market price of Issuer Shares may be subject to wide price fluctuations due to many factors, inclti~ding variations
in the operating results of Cultivar and its subsidiaries, divergence in financial results fi•o~n analysts' expectations,
changes iu earnings estimates by stoc]< market analysts, general economic conditions, legislative el~anges, community
support fbr the can»abis industry and other events anti factors outside of the Issuer's control.

Issi.~er ~ncry be sul?ject to ci~~y~rency ea:charige r•i,slc

Tl~e repoz•ting currency for the Issuer's consolidated fna~~cial stateme~~ts is the Canadian dollar. Cultivar will derive a
portion of its revenue and inew- operati»g costs in Jamaica, and changes in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar
and the foreign ciu•rency may Dave a significa~~t, end potentially adverse, effect on the Issuer's results of operations.
Cultivar's primary risk of loss regarding foreign ew-rei~cy exchange rate risk is caused by fluctuatio»s ii1 the exchange
rates between the Jamaican dollar aid the Canadian dollar, altl~ou~h as Cultivar expands inTernaYionally it will be
subject to additional foreign c~~rrency exchange risks. Because the Issues- recognizes reve»ue in Jamaica in Ca»adia»
dollars, if the Canacjian dollar weakens against the .lamaican dollar it would have a negative impact on the ]ssuer's
Ca~~adian operating results upon translation of Chose results into Jamaican dollar for tl~e purposes of consolidation.
Cultivar does not engage in hedging trans~etions a~~d does not ew-rei~tly contemplate engaging in hedging tra»sactions
to mitigate foreign exchange risks. The Issuer will continue to recognize gains and losses in foreign ctu•rency
transactions, and, dependi~lg u}~on changes in future cLirrency rtes, such gai»s or losses could have a significant, and
pote~~tially adverse, effect on Cultivar's results of operations.

Risks related to tJze Issue~~ entering into str~atc~ic al/lances or expanding the scope of curr~e~~z/y ea~isting re/adior~ships,
vvitl~ tl~i7~c! pen hes

The Issuer currently has strategic alliances with third parties, and may expand tl~e scope of such alliances or enter into
fw-tller strategic alliances, t~h~t it believes will complement or augment Cultivar's existing business. The Issuer's ability
to complete f~u~ther such strategic alliances is dependent upo~~, and inay be limited by, among other things, the
availability of suitable candidates and capital. lip addition, strategic alliances could present Lugforeseen integration
obstacles or costs, may not enhance the Issuer's business ai d i~~ay involve risks that could adversely affiect Cultivar,
including the investment of significant amounts of management tine Chat may be diverted fi•o~~~ operations iii order to
purs~ie a~~d complete such transactions or maintain such strategic alliances. Future strategic alliances could res~ilt in
the i~~currence of debt, costs ~ncl contingent liabilities, zn~d there can be no assurance that future strategic alliances wild
achieve, or that the Issuer's existing straCegic alliances will continue to achieve, the ex~~ected benefits to the Issuer's
busi»ess or that the Issuer will be able to cons~u~~mat~e fiiture sh~ategic alliances on satisfactory terms, or at all.

Difficulty to forecast and reliance on its n~cn research
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Cultivar must rely largely oi~ its own market research to forecasT sales as detailed forecasts are not generally obtainable

from other sources aC this early stage of the industry. A failure in the demand for its }~roduets to u~aterialize as a result

of competition, technological cl~a»ge or other factors could have a material adverse effect o~~ the business, resulCs of

operations, financial condition or prospeet~s of the Issuer.

Non-operatr~ng parent corporation sti~uctur-e

Cultivar is a non-operati»g }parent corporation that holds assets and carry on its busi»ess tlu~ough GHL, its wholly-

owneci subsidiary. Cultivar controls CHL tlii•ough its ownersl~i}~ of CHL's securities, w11ic11 entitles it to elect CHL

directors, wl~o Mlle» appoint officers. To tl~e extent that there ar•e risks inherent in ]laving a subsidiary bold assets and

carry on b~isiness, Cultivar has mitigated those ~•isks by impleme»ting ~n effective system of corporate governance,

internal controls over• financial reporting, ai d disclosure controls and procedures that will apply at all levels of the

Issuer.

Tnlcing ~~~~iriority positions in i.m~eszin~ertts may li.~nit tl~e abr.lity of the Issuer to safeguard i.ts i~nvestrn~e~2t

Tl~e Issuer may make minority equity investments i» businesses in which Cultivar does not participate in tl~e

ma»ageme»t or otherwise control the business or affairs of such businesses. The Issuer will rnouitor the perform~~ice

of each investment and maintain an o»goii~g dialogue with each business's management teem. However, it will be

primarily the respo~lsibility of the manageme~lt of tl~e b~isi~less to operate the business on a day-Yo-day basis and Che

Issuer may not have the right to control the business.

Shcu~ecl owi~ersl2ip or dependency ort partners of Gultivar JA

Cultivar JA's operations are, to a degree, co~~ducted with one or more partnet-s through co»tractual ai•range»~ents. In

such instances, Cultivar may be depei~deut on, or affected by, tl~e performance of its partners. If a parh~er fails to

perform, Cult~ivar may, among other things, risk losing revenues or ii~eur additional obligations or costs iii order to

itself perform in place of its partners. Cultivar and its parh~eis may alsq from time to time, have different opinions

on how to conclucf certain operations or o~1 what their respective rights and obligatio»s are under a certain agreement.

A dispute with one or more partners may have a sig»ifica»t effect on Cultivar's operations.

Risk of litigation

All i~~dustries, incl~idi~~g the cam~abis and tecllt~ological indush~ies, are subject to legal claims, with and without merit.

Defense and settlement costs of legal claiu~s can be substantial, eve~~ with respect to claims that have no merit. Due to

the i~~here~~t uncertainCy o~f the litigatio~l process, the litigation process could take away fi•om management time a~~d

effort a»d the resolution of a~~y particular legal proceeding to which the lssuei• may become subject co~ild have a

~~~aterial effect on the Issuer's business, prospects, fi~ai~cial position or results of operatio»s.

Risks relating to cannabis in Ja»~aica a»d Canada

Risks associated ivid~ nr~ ii~nestn~ent in tl~e carirT~~vis secto~~

Cam~abis-related financi~~l tra»sactions are subject to a variety of laws that vary by jurisdict~io~~, many of which are

u~~settled and still developing. While the intei•pretatio» oftliese laws are wiclear in so~~~ejurisdictions, financial bEneft

directly or indirectly arising from conduct that wo~~ld be considered unlawful in such jw•isdictioi~ may be viewed to

he within the }~~~rview of these laws and regulations, and persons receiving any such benef7Y, incluciii~g investors in an

applicable jw-isdiction, may be subject to liability. Zack prospective investor should contact his, her or its ow❑ legal
advisor.

Parblic opinion and pe~~ce~atror~ ~fcnrrrial~is can influence regulations

Government policy cha~~ges or public opinion may result in a significant influe»ce over the regulation of the cannabis

ind~istiy in .lamaica, Ca~lada, or elsewhere. The Issuer believes the cannabis industry is hig111y dependent o~~ cousw7ier

perception regardi~~g the safety and efficacy of such cannabis.
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Conslnner perceptions regarding legality, morality, consumption, safety, efficacy and q~iality of can~~abis are mixed

anti evolving. Public opinion and support for medical end adlalt-use cannabis has traditionally been inconsiste»t and

varied from jtiirisdictio» to jurisdiction. While public opinion and support appears to be rising foi• legalizi»g medical

and adult-use cannabis, it remains a co»troversial issue subject to differing opinions surrounding the level of

legalization (for example, medical ca~~nabis as opposed to legalization in general).

A negative sl~if~ in the public's percepTion of ea~u~abis in Jamaica, Canada, or in any oTl~er applicablejiu-isdiction could

affect future legislatio» or regulation. Among other tl~ii~gs, such a shift could cause state jw•isdictio~~s to abandon

initiatives or proposals regarding the legalization of cannabis, or could result i» adverse regulatory changes thereby

limiting tl~e Issuer's growth prospects. Any inability to fully implement Cultivar's expansion strategy may have a

material adverse effect on its busi~iess, results of operations or prospects.

Ui~f ivouraGle pa~blicity or cons~u»~~er pey~ception n~cry irilaibit tlae success of Cultivar's l~usi.ness

The ca~mabis industry is dependent on consumer perception regarding the safety, eff cacy and quality of the cannabis

distributed to such consmners. Consumer perception of Cultivar's prodtiicts can be significantly influenced by scientific

research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and od~er }~~iblieity regarding the

constunption of cannabis products. There can be no assw~ance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory

proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research f»di~lgs or publicity will be favow•able to the camlabis

market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier- ptiiblicity. I'~it~u•e research reports, findings, regulatory

proceedings, litigation, media aTte~ltion or other publicity that is perceived as less favourable than, or that gLiestion,

earlier findings could have a material adverse effect on the demand for Cultivar's products and tl~e business. The

Issuer's dependence upon consumer perceptions also ~ne~~~s that adverse scie»tific research reports, findings,

regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity, whether or not acc~u~ate or with merit, could have

~ material adverse effect on Cultivar.

The /ssi~~er'.s bT~siness is subject to risks related to licenstirre

The Issuer's business will be subject to a variety of laws, reg~ilations and guidelines relating t~o the cultivation,

man~ifachu-e, management, transportation, extraction, storage and disposal of cannabis, inclucii~~g laws a~~d regulations

relating to health and safety, die co~~duct of operations and the protection of the ei~viroi~ment. Achievement of the

Issuer's objectives are co~~tinge»t, in part, upon compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and obtaini»g all

requisite regulatory approvals.

Changes to such laws, regulations and guidelines cl~ie to matters beyond the control of the Issuer ~~~ay ca~ise adverse

effects to Clue Issuer. Cultivar will be required to obtain or renew gover~~me~~t permits and licenses for its c~ii-~-e»t and

contemplated operations. Obtaining, amending or re»ewing the necessary governmental permits ai d lice»ses can be a

time-consu~~~ing process involving numerous regulatory agencies, involving }public hearings a~~d costly ~~ndert~kings

ou the Issuer's part. The dw~ation and success of C~ilYivar's efforts to obtain, amend and renew permits and licenses

will be conti~~~ent Ripon ma»y variables not within its co»trol, ii~cludii~g the inter}~retation of applicable require~nent~s

i mplemented by the relevant permitting or licensing authorities. The Issuer may »oY be able to obtain, amend or renew

permits or licenses tl~~t are ~lecessary to its operatio~~s. A»y unexpected delays or costs associated with the per~nifti~~g

and licei~sin~; }process co~ild impede the ongoing or proposed operations of the Issuer. To the extent permits or licenses

are not obtained, amended or renewed, or are subsequently sus}~ended or revoked, the Issuer may he curtailed or

~~rohibited from proceeding with its ongoing oper~tions or planned renovation, development a~~d commercialization

activities. S~ich c~~rtailment or prohibition may res~ilY in a material adverse effect on the Issuer's busi~~ess, fiinai~cial

coi~ditio~~, results of operations or prospects.

The Issuer may become involved in a number of goven~ment or agency proceedings, investigations and audits. The

o~itcome of any regulatory or agency proceedings, investigatio~~s, audits, a~~c1 other contingencies could harm the

Issuer's reputation, req~iire Cultivar to Yale, or refrain fi-om taking, actions that could harm its operations or require

the (ss~ier to pay substantial amounts of money, l~arn~ing its financial condition. There cai~ he ~~o assurance that any

pEi~ding or futw~e regulatory or ~ge~~cy proceedings, investigations and audiCs will not result in s~ibstantial costs or a

diversion of management's attention a»d reso~u-ces or have a material adve~sc i~~~pact a~ the Issuer's business, financial

condition, results of operations or pros~~ects.
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Rrshs ir~laererrt ire tl~e cr~ltivntion, marl e~-traction of ccri~Tri~rbis nrT~f derivat~l~e products

The c~iltivation, extraction ai d processing of cannabis and derivative products is dependent on a number of key inputs

i~~cluding raw materiels, electricity, water and other local utilities. Specifically with respect to cultivation, Cultivar is

subject to risks inherent in agricultural business such as insect, plant diseases, fungus, mold and others. Although

Cultivar will seek to minimize tl~e negative effects of nat~n•al elements, there can be no assurance that any such event

would ~~ot have a material adverse effect o~1 its business.

As well, any significant interruptio» or negative change in the availability or economics of the s~ipply chain for key

inputs could materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of the Issuer. Some of these

inputs may only be available from a single supplier or a limited group of suppliers. If a sole source supplier was to go

out of busi»ess, the Issuer might be viable to find a ret>lacement for such source in a timely manner or at all. Any

inability to secure required supplies and services or ro do so o» appropriate terms could have a materially adverse

impact on tl~e business, financial condition and operati~lg results of tl~e Issuer.

Cl2anges i.n laws, regulations ar~~l gudclelines in Jamaica a~ncl Canada n ay ca/ter Issitier's ability to continue its business

a~s proposed to be conducted

The successful execution of the Issuer's medical cannabis business objectives is contingent upon compliance with all

applicable laws and regulatory requirements in the applicable jurisdictions, expected to initially be Jamaica and

Canada, and obtaining all other required regulatory approvals for the sale and import of medical ca»nabis products

into the applicable jurisdictions. The cannabis industry is relatively »ew in Jamaica and Canada, and the laws arld

regulations that apply to the cultivation, the export, the import and the sale of cannabis are either• developing or have

been in force for a shorT period of time. The effect of the applicable agency(ies)' administration, application and

enforceme~lt of the statutory regime in Jamaica and Canacja, or t~l~e admi»istration, application and enforcement of the

laws of other countries by tl~e appropriate regulators in those countries, may significantly delay or impact tl~e Issuer's

ability to, among other things, e»ter i~1to supply agreements, export cannabis from one j~uisdictio~l i»to another, and

to enter into sales agreements in tl~e applicable j~uisdictions.

P~n-tllet-, the applicable regulatory authorities may change their administration, interpretation or applicatio~l of tl~e

applicable regulations or their compliance or enforcement procedures at any time. Any such changes could require the

Issuer to revise its business and investment strategies, requiring Cultivar to incur increased costs and expend additional

resources. There is uo assura»ce that the Issuer's c~n-rent business a~~d i»vestment strategies will be able to comply or

continue to comply with applicable regulations.

Issa~er's faila~~~e zo comply with applicable regr~ilntior~s could prevei~l it.firoin being able to carry on its business

Any failure by Cultivar to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements could hive a material adverse effect on

its operations; result in regulatory or agency proceedings or investigations, increased compliance costs, damage

awards, civil or criminal fines or penalties or restrictions o~~ the Issuer's operations; harm the Issuer's reputation or

give rise to material liabilities. There can be no assura~~ce that any pe~~di~~g or future regulatory or' agei~ey proceedings,

investigations or audits will not result in substantial costs, a diversion oi' management's attention aril resow•ces or

other adverse co»sequences to Cultivar and its b~isiness.

Risks relating to Cultivar's mana~eme~~t

Ls,carer il~ill depend ors its rnar~~r~ement

The Issuer's s~~ccess depends on its ability to attract, develop and retain talented employees, including executives ancj

other key n~anageis. The loss of certain key officers and employees, or tl~e fail~u~e to atri~act and develop talented new

executives and managers, co~ild have an adverse effect on the Issuer's business. The Issuer's ability to attract and retain

eu~ployees with the rec~~iisife experience and skills depends on several ~Pactors, including, but not limited to the lss~~er's

ability to offer competitive wages, benetits and professional growth opport~mities. Effective succession pla~u~in~ is

also important to its long-term success. ['ailure to ensure effective transfer of knowledge and smood~ transitions

i~~volving key employees could hinder the Issuer's strategic planning and exec~~tion. Tl~e Issuer's s~~ecess is also
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depencle~~t Ripon the ability, expertise, judgment, cliscretioil ~»d good faith of its senior m~uageme~~t. Any loss of the

services of key mauagen~ei~t could have a material adverse effect on tl~e Issuer's t~usiness, operaYii~g results, financial

condition or prospects

Ci~ltivn~~ naay be sul?ject to risks related tv gy~owth

TIZe Issuer may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its internal systems

and controls. The ability of the Issuer to manage growth effectively will require it Yo continue to implement and

improve its operational and financial systems a»d to expand, train and 1nal~age its employee base. The inability of the

Isstiier to deal with this growth may have a material advet-se effect on the Issuer's business, fina»cial condition, results

of operations or prospects.

Poter~Ginl conflicts of l~r~te~~est of Cultzvnr's directofs and o~cers

Certain of tl~e directors a»d officers of the Issuer may, from time to time, be involved in other fi»ancial investments

and professional activities that may on occasion cause a conflict of interest with their duties to the Issuer. These include

serving as directors, officers, advisers or agents of other public aid private companies, including companies involved

in similar businesses to tl~e Issuer or companies in which tl~e Issuer may invest, management of investme»t funds,

purchases and sales of securities a»d i~~vestment and management colmselling for other clients. Consequently, there

exists the possibility for such directors, a»d officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by airy of such

directors or officers will he made in accordance with their duties and obligations under tl~e BCBCA and other

applicable laws to deal fairly and in good faith with a view to the hest interests of the Issuer and its shareholders. In

addition, each of the directors is req~iired to declare aild refi•ain from voting on any matter i» which such directors may

Dave a co~~flict of interest in accordance with tl~e procedures set forth in tl~e BCBCA, a~1d other applicable laws.

Mar~agenaent r~~ay not be able to s~.~ccessfi~lly i.r~~~plen~~ent aclegT~ate r~r7ternul controls over finahcial reporting

Proper internal control systems a»d disclosure are critical to tl~e operation of a public company. However, tl~e ]suer

does not expect that its internal controls will prevent all errors ai d all fraud. A control systc~n, i~o matter how well

designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assw•ance that the control system's objectives will

he met. Further, the design of a co»trol system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints a~~d the benefits

of such co»trols must be considered relative to their costs. Because of tl~e inherent lii7~itations i~~ all control systems,

no evaluation oi' controls can provide absolute assw~auce that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have

been deCecYed. Due to the inherent limitations in acost-effective control system, misstatements die to error or fi-aud

may occur and may plot be detected in a timely manner or at X11. If Cultivar cam~ot provide reliable fi~~ancial reports

or prevent fraud, tl~e Iss~ier's reputation and operating results could be materially adversely affected, which could

cause i~~vestors to lose contidence in the Isstiier and iCs reported financial information, wl~icll in tur~~ could result in a
reduction in the value of the Issuer Shares.

l8. P120MOTLRS

Not applicable.

19. I.,GCAL PROCGEDiNCS

Except as disclosed herein, Cultivar nor any oi'its subsidiaries is, was previously a party to, or was the subject of; any

legal proceeding nor is the Issuer currently party to a~~y material legal proceeding or conte~~~plafing any legal

proceedings which are material to its business. Additionally, t~o the knowledge of tl~e Issuer's manage~~~e~~t a~~d its

subsidiaries, there are no such proceedings co~~templated. From time to time, Ctiltivar may be s~il~ject ro various claiu~s

a~~d legal actions arisi~~g in the ordinary co~nse of bl~siness. Management of the Issuer is i~ot currently aware of a~~y

legal proceedings contemplated against Cultivar.
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20. IN'T~R~ST OF MANAGEMENT' AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL'Tf2ANSACTIONS

To tl~e knowledge of management, no proposed director or executive off cei- of the Issuer oi- any person or company

that is the direct or indirect beneficial owners of, or who exercises conh•ol or direction over, more tl~au 10 percent of

airy class of the Issuer's outstanding voting sectu-ities, or an associate or Affiliate of any persons or companies referred

to i~~ this paragraph, leas any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years before the

date of this Listing Statement, or in ally proposed transaction, that leas materially affected or will materially affect

Cultivar or a subsidiary of the Issuer.

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS

21.1 Auditors

The auditor of the Issuer is Buckley Dodds LLP. Its office is located at 1185 W Georgia St #1140, Vancouver, BC

V6E 4E6.

Z7.2 Registrar aia.d Transfer Age~a~t

The cw•re»t transfer agent and registrar of the Issuer is National Issuer Services Ltd. Tra»sferAgent.ca, through its

offices in Vancouver, British ColumUia.

22. MATCRIAL CONTRACTS

The material contracts held by Cultivar and its subsidiaries include:

1. Amalgamation Agreement; and

2. Investor Agreement (defined below).

Ptu-suai~t to an Investor A~•eement dated February 15, 2018 (tl~e "lnvesfor Agreement"), Cultivar JA will pay

Cultivar a managemenT fee (tlle "Management Tee") once C~iltivar JA co~n~ne»ces commercial cultivation operaYio~~s

rendered by CHL. In addition ro the Management (=ee, CHL is also entitled to receive a royalty fee egtiial to 50% of
the Gross Sales of Cultivar JA.

23. INTGR~ST OF EXPERTS

The aLiclitor has not, nor is entitled to receive, any registered or beneficial i~~terest, direct or indirect, in the property of

the Issuer and »either is expected to ow~~ any securities of the Issuer a~ any associate, Affiliate, or Related Pelson (~s

defined by the policies of the CSE) of the Issuer.

24. OTHER MATCRIAL FACTS

There are no other material facts regardi~lg the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries other tha~~ as disclosed I~erein.

25. I+INANCIAL STA'I'LMLNTS ANll Mll&A

Please see Schedule "A° fora copy of CulYivar's audited financial statements for the years ended July 31, 2018 and
2017 and the unaudited interim financial sYateme~~ts for the period ended April 30, 2019.

Please see Sched~ile "B" for C}-IL's audited am~ual consolidated financial statements f'or the year ended .la»ua~y 31,
2019 rind the unaudited interim financial statements for the tlu-ee and six months ended July 31, 2019 and 201 .

Please see Schedule " E" for a copy of the Issuer's pro-forma consolidated fi~~ai~cial statements.

Please see Schedule "C" for Cultivar's MD&A and Schedule "D" for Cf-1 L's MD&A.
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CERTIFICATE OF CULTIVAR 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Cultivar Holdings Inc. hereby applies for the listing 

of the above mentioned securities on the CSE. The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material 

information relating to Cultivar Holdings Inc. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to 

state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being 

false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario this 17th day of December, 2019. 

/s/ "Sheldon Kales"  /s/ "Rakesh Malhotra" 

Chief Executive Officer 

Sheldon Kales 

 Chief Financial Officer 

Rakesh Malhotra 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

/s/ "Tom Sipos"  /s/ "Rahul Kushwah" 

Tom Sipos   Rahul Kushwah 

 

 



SCHEDULE"A"

CLJLTIVAI2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Please see the attached.



Admfrai Bay Resources lnc.
Financial StateY~ianCs

Toi• the years e~~ded
July 31, 2p1II and 2017

(Esxpressed in Canadian Dollars)



~~

S HIl~~I

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' 1tEPORT

To the Shareholders of Admiral Bay Resources Inc,

SHIM &Associates LI.P

Chartered Professional Accountants

Suite 810— 7II9 West Ponder Street

Vancouver, 4, C. V6C 1FI2

T: 604 559 3511 ~ F: G04 559 3501

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of f~dmiral Bay Resources Inc., which comprise the stateme~~t
of financial position as at July 31, 2018, and the statement of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders'
deficiency and cash Bows for the year then elided, acid a sumtnaty of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

ManagemenC's Respo~asibality for• the I~ina~icial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financia] Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 6•om material misstatement, whether due to fraud or ert•or.

Auditors' Responsibility
Oin• responsibility is to express an opinion nn these financial sta[ements based on our audiC. We conducCed our audit
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted audiCing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and pl~u~ and perform the audit eo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fina~icial
statements are free from material misstateJnent,

An aud(t involves performing procedtu•es to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, includin6 Cho assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of'the financial statements, whether due to fi~aud or error. [n making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal contrrol relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order• to design auudit procedures that ai~e appropriate in the circumstances, buC not for the ptu•pose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness c>f the entity's internal control. nn aucliC also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness o(accounCing estianales made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in oln• audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
otn• audit opinion,

Opinroyi
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, dte financial position of Admiral I3ay
Resources Inc, as at July 31, 201£3, anti its financial perforrr~ance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting SCanelards.

Emphasis of M<~ttea•
Without qualifying our opinion, we d~•aw attention to Note 1 in the fixiancial sCatements which indicates the existence
of a material ~mcer•fairiCy Chat may cast significant doul:~t on the ability of Admiral Bay Resources ]nc. ko continue as tl
going concern.

Other Matter
'l'he financial statements of admiral Flay ltesoin-ces Inc. for the .Year' ended July 3l, 2017 were audited by another
auditor who expressed ~n unmodified opinion on those statements on January 26, 2Q1II.

SNiM ~ ~~~~~ ~~p
criaK~rr:a~:n ruoy~ESS10NA1, ACCOI)NT1INTS
Vancouver,Cattada
November "L 6, 2018



Admiral Bay Resources lnc.

Statements ofl~it~ancial Position

(Expressed in Canadia~i Do11ar•s)

As at July 31, 201E3 201.7
Notes $ R

AStiCCS

CurrettC Assets
Cash 11,01II
Sales tax receivable G,653 2,652

Tot~31 assets ~ 17,671 ~ 2,65"L

Liabilities
Current LiaUilities

accounts payable arrd other payables 7 5G,h51 36,273

i,oans payable 6 31,526 ----

Totalliabilicies II7,977 36,273

Shayeholders' Deficiency
Share capital II 50,185,484 50,179,h8h
Deficit 50,255,790 50,213,10;

'Total shareholders' deficient ~ (70,306) (33,621

Total liabilities an<t shareholders' deficie~ ~_ 17,671 _ _2,652

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1}

~PPROVEll UN CiE]IALF Oi'TIIE BOARD ON NaVGMB~R 26, 2018:

Si~ecl " oel Di~+maresq„
Director

Signed "Theo van der Linde"
Director

7'he accompanying notes are a~~ integral parC of Chew frnnncial statements.



~ldniira) IIay Resources Inc.

Stakenaents of Loss and Comprehensive Loss

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

I"vr the Years Ended July 32, 201II 2017

Notes $ $

Expe~~ses
Consulting fees 7 4,5'L4

Office and miscellaneous 2~~~`~

Professional fees 7 10,645 14,200

Renl 7 15,500 -

'1'ransferagent and filing fees _ 10,958 550

Total expenses (9h,A•01) (14,750)

Other itenxs
Interest income ~ Z`i'
Recovery of expenses 1,592

Loss and coinprGhensive loss for the yea►• ~42,6IIS (14,750)

Loss and comprehensive loss per share -basic acid diluted (0.07) (0,03)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding -basic and diluted 612,879 514,249

'The accam{~anyiny notes are cart inteyra! Dart of these flnr~ncial statements.



Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Deficiency

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Share Cavital {Note 71

Number of
shares Amount Deficit Total

# ~ $ 3

Balance at July 3:, 2010 51 ,249 50,179,484 (50,198,355} (18,871}

Loss and comprehensive loss for the vear - - {14,750) (14,750)

Bzlance at Jsly 3 _, 2017 x14,249 50,179,484 {5fl,213,145) (33,621)

Private placement 6,000,000 6,000 - 6,000

Goss and comprehensive loss for the vear - - {42,685) (42,685}

Balance at July 32, 2018 6,514,249 5Q,185,484 (50,255,790} {70,3Qb}

On f uiy 11, 2018 the Company consolidated its share capital on a one-for-ten basis. All share and per share information have been restated to

reflect this consolidator. for all periods presented.

Tne accompanying rotes are an integrdt part of these financial statements.



A<tmiral Bay Resources Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

(Expressed in Canadian Dottars)

Tor the year's endedJufy 31, 2018 2017

Operating activities
Loss and comprehensive loss for the year (42,6fl5) (1h,750)

Net change in non-wor{cing capital items:
GST/I-IS'f recoverable (A•,001) (1,326)

Flccounts payable and other payables 20,17£3 ~ 16,076

Catih fluws used in operatinK activities {26,50F3)

Pina~icing activities
Proceeds from private placerr~ent 6,000

I'~roceeds tl•otn loans payable __T~__ 31,526 ________ ___

Cash generated by financing activities 37,S2G -

Change in cash 11,018

Cash at be~inning_of yeas..___.._._ 
--- -..~

- -
--- v--- 

__.-_-.-_.
Cash aC encl of ear 11,01II

Cash paid for interest expense
Cash paid for income eaxes

7'he Uccattpnnyin~ notes are nn inCegral part oJthese financial stcrternents.



Admiral [3ay Resources Inc.

Notes to Financial Statemeirts

Years ended }uly 31, 2Q1a and 2017

(Expressed in Canadian l7ollars)

1. NATIlRB OP Oi'G12!),TIONS AND GOING CONCCRN

Admiral t3ay Resources Inc. ("Admiral Bay" or Che "Company"}, was incorporated in British Columbia on September
3, 1987, The registered office of the Company is Suite II10 - 749 West Pencler Street, Vancouver, E3ritish Columbia,
Canada, V6C 1H2.

Our management intends to seek new opporCw~ities. 'fhe Company currently does not hold any material resource
property interests.

!~s at Jttly 31, 201E3, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $70,306 (July 31, 2017 - $33,621), had not yet
achieved profiCable operations, has accumulated losses of $50,255,790 (July 31, 2017 $50,213,105) and expects to
incur future losses in the development of any business, all of which represent material uncertainties which cast
signif'icanC doubt aboue the Company's ability to continue as a doing concern, 'These financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis and do not retlect Che adjustments to the carrying values of assets and
liabilities and the reported expenses and statement oP financial position classiffc,ations that would Ue
necessary if the Company were unahle to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a going concern in the
normal Course of operations, Such adjustments could be material.

On May 16, 2018, the Company received the following revocaCion orders:

• Revocation Orden dated May 16, 207.II fl•om die [3ritish Columbia Securities Commission to a Cease'Crade
Order ("CTO") previously issued on December 6, 2011; and

• Revocation Order daCed May 16, 2018 from the Alberta Securities Commission to a CTO previously issued
on March 5, ?.012.

'The C'T'Os were issued by the 13CSC and the ASC, as a result of the failure of the Company, under its previous
management, to file annual audited financial statements and relaied management discussion and analysis within
the required time. l'he Company has addressed all of NZe outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous
disclosin~e records on ST BAR up to date. As a condition for receiving the revocation orders, the Company has
provided the Conunissions wiCh an undertaking to hold its annual shareholders' meeting within ehree months after
the C7'Os are revoked,

"L. I3AS1S OP PRGPARA7'ION

'L.1 Sfateme~it of compliance

'Phew Financi2l staTemei~ts have been prepared in accordance wiCh hiternational Financial Rc:porCing Standards
("!}~RS") as issued by the International Accow~Ci~1~ Se~~idards l3oarci ("IAS13") rind die International financial
Reporting InterpretaC.ions Conunittee ("]FFtIC').

'These financial statements were authorized f'or issuance by the B~>arcl of Directors o(fhe Company on November 26,
201.fl.

2.2 }3asis of preseiitaCio~i and fw~ctional autl pa~esentation curi•eaicy

'These financial stateit~ents have keen prepared on a going concern basis, i.~ndc:r Che hisCorical cost cp»vention <~nd
have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow inFc~rmation, as explained in the
accounting policies set out in Note 3.

The financial statements are presenCed in Canadian Dollars, which is tl~ie (u nctional currency of the Coi7~pany.

(;ertain comi.7arative figures have been reclassified Co conform co the ctn rent year's presentation, Such
i-eclassii~ication is for presentation purpose only and has no e17~ect on previously reported resi.iles.



Admiral T3ay Resources Inc.

Notes to Financial 5lateTnents

Rears ended July 31, 201II and 2017

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2,3 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations

12ecent Accounting C'ronouncements

'Phe following is an overview of new accoiml:iiig standards that the Company will be required to adopt in future

years. 1'he Company does not expect to adopt any of these standards before the(r effective dates. The Company

does not expect that the adopCion of IfRS 9 and lFRS 15 will iaave any impacC on its financial statements acid will

continue to evaluate the unpack of li'RS 16 on its financial statements.

ITRS 9 -Financial Instruments
On July 24, 'L014, the I~S13 issued the complete 1FRS 9, C'inancial lnsh•uments ("IFRS 9"). IFRS 9 introduces new

requirements for the classification and measurements of financial assets. [Jnder 1FRS 9, financial assets are

classified and measured Uased on the business model in which they are held and tlae characteristics of their

conh•actual cash Flows. 7'he standard introduces additional changes relating to financial liabilities and amends the

impairment model by introducing a iaew "expected credit loss" model for calculating impairment. It a]so includes a

new general hedge accounCing sCandax•d which aligns hedge accounting ore closely with risk management. CrRS 9 is

effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and must be applied retrospectively wieh some

exemptions. ksarly adoption is permitted.

IFRS la -Revenue from contx•acts with customers

On May 2£3, 201h the IASB issued IPRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("IFRS 15"). IPRS 15 deals with

revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporCing useful information to users of fi~~ancial statements

about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of avenue and cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with

customers. Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to

di1•ect the use and obtain the benefits fi•om the goods or services.'Phe standard re~ilaces IAS 18 Revenue a»d 1615 1.1

Construction contracts and related inkerprecatiotis, 1FR515 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or afCer

January 1, 201£3 with early application permitted.

II'RS 16 -Leases
On January 13, 201G, the 1~1SE3 published a new standard, 1FRS 16, Leases ("1PRS 16"), eliminating the current dual

accounting mode] for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet

operating leases. Under tl~e new standard, a lease becomes an on-balance sheet liabilii:y that attracts ittteresC,

together with a new right-of-use asset. [n addition, lessees will recognize a fronk-loaded patCern of expense for must

leases, even when cash rentals arc constant, ]FRS 1G is effective for reportitlg periods beginning on or after January

1, ?.019, with early a~~plication permitted.

Ocher accounting st~ndar<.ls or amendments Co existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future

effective daces are eilller not applicable or are not: expected to have a significant impact on tfie Company's financ:i<.~l

statements.

3. SUMTN/1RY Or SIGNIrICAN7' ACCOCINTING POI,IC,]T:S

3.1 Taxation

]ncome tax expense represents the swn of tax cw~rencly payable and defea~i~ed tax.

Cut•t~ent income tax
Current income fax assets and liabilities for the currenC and prior ~~eriods are me~.isw•ed at the amount expected to

be recover<:d from or paid to the t~axaCinn auehorities.'1'he tax rates and tax la~•vs used to compute the amount are

those that are enacted or'substai~Cively enaceed }.~y the datE of ehe statement of Financial position.



Aciuiiral F3ay Resources It~c.

Notes to Financial Statements

Yea►•s ended July 31, zoia Ana zo~~

(Expressed in Canadian Dolla~•s)

Defe►•rect incoraie tax
Deferred income tax is calciilated on temporary differences at the date of the statement of financial position
beeween the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying ai~7ounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable kemporary differences, except:

• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the 1niCtal recognition of goodwill oi• of an asset or liability
in a transaction that as not a business combination ancl, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor Caxable profit or loss; and

• in respect oi' taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal oPthe temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax asseCs are recognized, for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable Chat taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the early forward oFunused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized
except:

• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible leznporary difference arises from the inii:ial
recognition of an asset or Inability in a transaction that is noC a Uusiness combination and, at the time of the
transaction, afFects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deducCible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint vent~u~es, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable thae
the; te:mpnrary differences will reverse in the foreseeaUle future and taxable profit wi11 be available against
which the temporary d(fferences can he utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each date of the statement of financial position
and reduced co i.lie exCenc thaC iC is no longer probable that sufficient CaxaUle pi-ofic will be availaUle to allow all or
parC of the deferred incarr~e tax asset to he utilized. Unrecognized deferred 'ancome tax assets are reassessed at each
date oFthe staCement of financial position and are recognized to Che extent that ii his become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred Cax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liaUrlities are measured at the lax rates that are expected to apply to t:he yeah whet
the asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) th~it have been enacted or
substantively eilacled at the date of the statement: of financial position.

Deferred income tax relsating to items recognised directly in equity is recogniz,ecl in equity and not in Che statement
of loss and comprehensive loss.

Deferred income tax assets amid deferred income Cax liabilities are offset if, and only if, a legally en Forceable right
exists Co seC off currene tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred t~.~x assets and ]iabiliCies relaCe Co
iiicuii~e taxes levied by clie same taxation audloriry on either the same taxable entity or different t~~xable entities
which i~lCend to eitheA• settle ctirrer~t tax liabilities and assets on a Diet basis, or to re<llize t~hc <~ssets and settle tl~e
liahililies simull.~.ineo~.~sly, in each future period in which significant amounts of deEci-red Cax assets or IiabiliCics are
expected to be settled or rerovered.



Admiral Bay Resoux•ces Inc.

Notes to rinancial Statements

Years ended July 31, 201f3 and 2017

(Gxpi•essed in Canadian Dollars)

3.2 Loss per share

The basic loss per share is computed Uy dividing Che net loss by tl~e wei~;hled average ntnnUer of common shares

outstanding during the period. 7'he diluted loss per share retlecls the potential dilution of common share
equivalenCs, such as ouCsfanding stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weigheed average number of
common shares outstanding during the year, if dilutive. Diluted loss per share assumes proceeds received upon the
exercise of the options and warrants are used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the
year. During t]le years ended July 31, 2017 and 2016 and 2015 there were nu outstanding stoelc options or
warrants.

3.3 Financial assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the following four
categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, loans-and-receivables or at fair value through profit or loss

financial assees classified as FV'PPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized throubh
profit or loss.

Financial assets classified as loans-and-receivables are measured at amortized cost,

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognized on the settlement date,

Transactions costs associated with I~V'I'P1., financial assets are expensed as incun-ed, while transaction costs
associaCed with all other financial assets are includes] in the initial carrying amount of Che asseC.

3.4 Financial liabilities

AIl financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as T~VTPL or other-financial-

}iaUilities,

Pin~.incial liabilities classified as other-financial-liabilities arc iniCially recognized aC lair value less directly

ath•ibutable transaction costs. flfeer initial l"P.CO~llli1011, other-financial-liabilities are subsequenCly measured at

amortized cost using the effective interest method. 7'he effective interest method is a mecliod of calculating the

amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective

interest ~-~te is the rite that exactly discounts estimated fuCure cash payments ttu~ouYh the expecCed IiFe of the

financial liability, or, where appropriaee, a shorter period. The Company's accounts payable and other payables are

classified as other-financial-liabilities.

rinancial )iabilaties classified as ~VTPI, include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities

designated upon iniCia] recognitio~i as FVTPL. Uer-ivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also

classified as held For trading unless they ire designated as effective hedging instruments. fair value changes on

financial liabilities classified as I~V'I'Pl., are recognized through the statement of comprehensive income. At July 3l,
7.01F3 and 2017, the Company has not classified any financial IiaUilities as PV'I'YL.

3.5 Cash end cash equivalents

Cash and cash egi~ivalencs in the statement of financial positic,n comEnise cash at ba~llcs and on hand, and s11orC-

term deposits with an original m~hii•ity of three months ar less, which are readily ~:onverti6le into a Ictiown an~oiint
of cash.



Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

Xeaz•s ended July 31, 201II and 2017

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3.6 Significant accounting judgments and estimates ~ ~~

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgements and estimates and forth
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
reported amotmts of revenues and exE~enses during the reporting period, On an ongoing basis, management
evaluates its judgemenes and estimates in relaCion to assets, liat~ilities, revenue and expenses. Management uses
historica) experience and various other factors it Uelieves to be reasanabJe undez• the given circumstances as the
basis for its judgements and estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimaCes under different
assumptions and conditions.

Si~a~ificant assumptions about the future and ocher sources of eseimatioii uncertainty that management has made at
the statement of financial position date, that could result fn a material adjustment to the carry[ng amounts of assets
and liabilities, in the event that actual z~esults differ fi•om assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the
following:

(i) the Anil pirovision for income taxes which is included in the statements of loss and comprehensSve loss and
composition of defera•ed income tax assets and liabilities included in the statements of financial position.

~, CAPITAL MANFIG~MBNT

The Company considers its capital to be equity, which is comprised of share capital and deficit, which as at July 31,
2018 totaled a deficiency of $7D,30G, (2017 -deficiency of $33,621). The Company's capital structure is adjusted
based on Che funds available to the Company siicl~ that it may continue to seek new opporttmities. Tl~e Board of
Directors does not eseablish quanticaCive return on capital criteria, but rather relies on the expertise of
management and other professionals to sustain future development of the Uusiness,

The only sources of futw~e funds presently available to the Company arc through the sale of equiCy capStal of the
Company. The ability of the Company to arrange such flll~~7C111(~, in the future will depend in part upon the
prevailinb capital market conditions as well as Che business performance of~ Ctae Company, 'There can be no
assurance ehae the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing, if needed, on terms
satisfacCory Co t)~e Company.

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.

T►1er•e were no changes in the Com}~any's approach t:o capital management during the years ended July 31, 'L DlE3
and 2017. The Company is not subject to exeernally unposed capital restrictions,

5. FINANCIAL 1NS'T'RUM1?,N"I'S

Fair value

Tt~e ComNany's financial instruments coiisisf of cash, loans ~~ayable, and aceot.~nes pays3hle. 'Phe carrying and fair
value amounts of the Company's (financial instruments arc approximately equivalent due to Che relatively short
periods to maturity r~l these insCi-uments.

Cash is classified as financi~il assct~s at FVTPL ~in~i accounes payable and loans payable are dassihed as other
financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost.

I~aii- value esCimaCes are made at a specific point in Lime, based on relevant mar]<et information and ft~formaCion
about financial insCrument~s. '!'hose estin~~ates are subjective and involve uncertainties a~~d matters of significant
judgment, therefore cannoC be deter~i~~ineei with precision, Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the
estimaCes.



Admiral I3ay Resotu~ces Inc.

Notes Co Financial Statements

Years ended July 31, '101II ~intl 2017

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

I'inanciat instruments recorded at fair vahie nn the statement of financial posit9on are classified using a fair value

hierardly that reflects the significance of the inputs used iz~ maJcing tl~e measurements. The fair value hierarchy

has the following levels; Level 1 - valuatio~i based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets ar liabilities; I,eve] 2 -valuation Cechniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e, derived from prices);

and Leve] 3 -valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on oUseivaUle n~arlcet

data (unobservable inputs).

Cash is classified as Level 1.

/1 summary of the Company's risk exposures as it relates to financial instruments are reFlected below:

fredit rislt
Credit risk is t:he risk of loss associated with a counterparty's inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The

Company limits its exposure to credit loss for cash by placing its cash with high quality financial institutions. The

credit risk for cash is considered negligible since the counterpareies are reputable banks wiCh high quality external
credit ratiaigs and customers with no history of default,

Liquidity risk
'Phe Company's approach To managing liquidity risk is to ensure that iC will have sufficient 1ic~uidity Yo meet

liabilities as they Uecome due. As at July 31, 201£3, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $70,306 (July

31, 2017 - $33,621). In order ko meet its longer-term wonting capital requirements, the Company intends on

securing further financing to ensure that those obligations are properly discharged. There can be no assurance

that the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing on terms satisfactory.to the

Company, if additional financing is raised by the issuance of shares from the treasury of the Company, control of

the Company may change, and shareholders may suffer additional dilution. IF adequate financing is riot available,

the Company may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate ot~e or more operating activities, The

Corripany's financial liabilities generally have contractual maturities of 30 days and are subject to normal trade

lE'J'1ll S.

Foreign exchange rislr
The Company has no assets and liabilities denominated in foreign ctn~rency and conducts its business m~~inly in

Canada ̀Che Company's exposi.u~e to curre»cy risk is currently considered insignificane.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will t]uchtate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The
Company's interest income on cash balance is negligible and the accoiu~ts payable and loans payable are non-

interestbearing. '1'hc Cottipany is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.

6. LOANS PAYAI31.is

Dtn~ing tPie year end~~~d July 31, 201t~, the Company ohtained three separaCe loans for Coral gross proceeds of

3~31,52C, of which a total of $"11,526 was flrom related parties (Note 7). The loans arc unsecw•ed, non-interest
bearin6 and dire on demand.



Admiral i3ay liesources inc.

Notes to Financial Staeemezits

Years ended July 31, 2018 atad 2017

(Expressed in Canadian pol]ars)

7. R~LAT~D PARTY TRANSACTIONS

7'he Company has identified iYs dlreclars and certain se~iior officers as its lcey management personnel. No post-

employmentbenefits, other lozig-teem benefits and eei-mivatioii be~lefits were i~icurred during the yeaa•s ended July

31, 2018 and 2017.

During the year, the Company entered into transactions with related patties comprised of Directors, Oi'ficers and

Companies with cozn~a~o~~ i)irectors as follows:

Years ended

July 31, July 31

201£3 2017

Note $

Consulting fees to a company with a director in common 10 4,x00 -

Professional fees to a company with a director in common 10 3,500 -

Rent to companies with directors in common 10 15,500

f ilin~ fees to a compan _with_a director in .common 1,100

T̀otal Z'1.,~dp

The amounts due to related parties consist of'the followin6 as at July 31, 2018 and July 31, 2017:

Nole
201II 2417

Included in accounts payable z~,~7~
Included in loan~ay_able ____~~ 6 21,526 -

'fotal h7,000 -

The amounts due to t:he related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

U. CAl'1T~1L STOCK

capicnt stock

The Company is authorized to issue unlimited number of common shares without par value.

On July 11, 20113, the Company increased the number of authorized common shares without par value from

'1.02,297,706 common shares fo an unlimited number of comrrion shares.

On )uly 9.1, 2018 the Company consolidated it:s share capiC,il on si one-f~~r-ten basis. 1111 sh~.are and per share

information have be~:~1 restated to reflect this consolidation for all periods preseiitecl.

On July 25, 201fl, the Company completed anon-brokered prSvatc: placement and issued an aggregate of 6,000,000

common sliat•es for gross proceeds of $6,000.

stock opr,ons
7'lie Company teas established a stock option plan whereby officers, <iirect~ors, employees ai d service providers

may be granted options to ~~urchase comn~ion shares aY a lixed price. Vesting and expiry provisions are determined

at the date of gra~tt, 7'l~e plan provides for the issuance of stock options to acquire up to 10% of the Company's

issued and ouCSCandirig capif.~). The plain is a rolling plan as Che number oCshs~i~es rr~served for issuance pursuant

to Che grant of stock options wit) increase as Che Company's issued anti outstanding share capital increases.

Curing the year ended July 31, 201(3 and 2017 no stoc:)c options were issued or outstanding.

~3. 1NCgME'PAXGS



Admiral t3ay Resources Inc.

Notes to Financial State~a~ents

Ycaa•s ended July 31, 201II and 2017

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

(a) T'rovision for hico~ne Taxes

The Company's income tax provision differs from the amount resulting from the application of the Canadian

statutory income tax rate, A reconciliation of the comUined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates

with the Company's effective tax rate is as follows:

For the year• ended July 31, ,__ _
--- —

_~~ ______ 201II -
2017

~ $

Loss before income taxes 02,655) (14,750)
Combined statutory rate 26.5II% 26,50~/~

Expected income tax benefit ~ ~ (11,347) (3,909)

Change in prior year estimates 11,272,973
Change in enacted tax rates (49,G03)
Change in valuation, allowance--_- __ _ (1:1,212,023) 3,909

]ncome Cax expense (recovery)

(b) Defet•t•ed income Tax Balances

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the followSng temporary differences because it has
nol yel been determined ll~aC fuc~n-e CaxaUle profits will he available against which the Company can uCilire Che
benefits.

As at July 31, ~ 2017 ` 2017

Exploration aid evaluation assets $ 1,255,94E $ m 1,59'1,060
Capital loss carry forwat~cis 'L~30,9G1 400,550
Non-capital loss carry forwards 1,].43,59II 11,900,E36H
'I'olal deferred tax asseCs $ 2,6E30,9~55 $ J 3,II92,h7II
Valuation allow;ana~ 2,6II0,455 13,II92,4713

Year of expiry _ $ (c) Tax Loss Carry-forwards
ZOlG 1,297,342

~7~he Company has accumu]aeed nou-capital losses of
2027 913,II3II

~q.235,3Gh (2017 - $44,90II,934), which lll~Y Ue
20'LII /40,5E30

~jeducfed iii the calculation of taxable income in future
1.0"L9 505,6£33 years. TI1e losses expire as follows:
"L030 43G,OS6
'LQ31 74,1?.0
2632 62,707
2033 12£?,702
"1034
7.035 9,422
203~i 9x.4.9
"Z037 1h,750
203f3 ~}2,G£3 a

4,2.35,364



Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

Notes to Financial State~nea~ts

Years envied July 31,'L01£3 and 20].7

(l;xpressed in Canadian Dollaa's)

9. SI;GNtGNTGD iNPORMATION

The Company operates in a single reportable operating segment in Canada.

10. COMMITML'NT

On January 1, '101II, the Company entered into a 12-month Corporate Management Agreement (the °Agreement")

with a company with a director in common, Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company will pay a monthly

fee of $500 for corporate consulting services, $500 for accounting services, and $500 for rent. The Company also

paid one-time initial set-up fee of $1,000, The Agreement will automatically renew for ~iddilional ] 2 months,

unless a 90-day notice is given by either party to the contract,



Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

Condensed Interim Financial Statements

Fnr the nine-month period ended
April 30, 2019
(Unaudited)

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



NOTICE OF NU AUDITOR REVIEW OI'
CONDIiNSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4,3 (3) (a), if an auditor has not perPo~~med a review of the

condensed interim financial statements, Chey ta~ust he accompanied by a ~~otice indicating that an auditor has not

reviewed Che condenscd interim financial statements,

The accompanying unaudited condeG~sed interim Financial statements of t]ie Adii~iral Bay Resow•ces lnc. (Che

"Company") have been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company's mana~emenC.

The Company's independent auditor has not performed a review of these condensed interim financial sCaeements in

accordance with standards established by the Chartered Professional Flccountants of Canada for a review of the

condensed interim financial seatements by an entity's auditoa~,



Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

Condensed Intea•im Statements of Financial Position

(Lkpr•essed in Canadian Dollars)

((Innudi ted)

Apri130, July 31,
2019 'L018

As at: Notes $ $

Assets
Current Assets

Cash X357 11,018
Sales tax receivable 715 6,653

'Total assets 1,572 17,671

Liabilities
Cua-r~ent Liabilities

Accounts payable and other payables 7 9,127 56,4.51
Loans payable 6 .. 75,t3f33 _ 31,5'l6

Total liabilities (35,010 87,977

Shareholders' Deficiency
Share capital II S0,1fl5,9•~34 50,1f35,4•II4
Deficit ~.___^ (50,268,9"L Z) (50,"255,790)

'1'otai sYiareholders' deficiency _ ~ ____ _~53,43II~ _(70,306)

~Ibtal liabilities and shareholders' deficiency ~, _WW~ n_s~ 1,572 17671

NaCure o(O~erafions and Going Concern (Note :l.)

APPROVGD UN t3G1in1.P Or TI~[E C30ARb ON JUDY 2, 2019.

Si ~nec "Rnjenda Kusl~iwnh " _~ Sjgned "Rahi~l lCushwah„
Director Director

7'he nccomj~rrnyiny notes are an rrU;egral Fart o/~t{tese cvntler~ised interirr~~ frncinci~il statements.



Admiral Bay Resources Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three-month Nine- month
period ended period ended
April 30, April 30,

2019 2018 2019 2Q18

$ $ $ $

Administrative Expenses

Office and miscellaneous 37 19 574 355

Professional fees - 1,620 7,5D0 5,005

Rent - 3,000 - 9,000

Transfer agent and filing fees - 5,964 5,118 7,963

37 10,603 13,132 22,323

Net loss and camprehenslve loss for the
periods (37) (10,603) (13,132) (22,323)

Loss per share -basic and diluted (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (4.00)

Weighted average number of shares
outstanding —basic and diluted 6,51Q,249 5,1A2,226 6,514,2A9 5,142,226

'/'he r~cctimpanying rtntes are cup inCeyral port o~'these condensed interim financial statemenCs.



Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

Condensed Interim Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Deficiency

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

(UnaF~ diced)

Share Capital

Number of
shares Amount Deficit Total

Balance at July 31; ?017 5,142,226 50,179,484 (50,213,105} (33,621)
Loss and comorehensive'oss for the period - - (22,323} (22,323}

Balance at Aprit 30, 2018 5,142,226 50,174,484 (50,235,428) (55,944}

$alar.ce at July 31, 2018 6,514,249 50,185,484 (50,255,790) (70,3Q6)

Loss and ccm~rehensive loss for the period - - (13,132) (13,1321

Balance at April 34, 2Q19 6,514,244 50,185,484 (50,268,922) (83,43&)

On July 11, 2418 the Company consolidateti its share capital an aone-for-ten basis. Ala share and per share information have been restated to

rei`lect this consolidation for all periods presented.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim conriensed ftnarcial statements.



Ad~niral8ay Resotyrces lnc.

Condensed Intet•im Statements of Cash flows

(Cxpressed iii Canadian Dollars)

(llnaudited)

For fhe Wino months periods ended April 30, 2019 201II
$---- — ~

Operating activities

Net (loss) for the period (13,132) (22,323)

Net change in non-working capital itoms:

GSTlHST recoverable 5,938 (1,885)

Accounts payabiQ and other~ayables (A7,324) 983

Cash flows used fn operating activities (5A,518) (23,225)

Financing activities

Loans 4A,357 31,526

Cash generated by financing activities 44,357 31,526

Change in cash (10,161) 8,301

Lash at beginning of period 11,018

Cash at end of period 857 8,301

The accorrrpanyir~g notes tyre an ir~tegrnl part of these condensetf interim Jinn~acral stnten~~enis.



AdaTaiz•al Bay 12esaurces Inc.

Notes to InCerim Condensed T~inancial Statements

Nine-month periods ended April 30, 2019 and ̀1018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

1. NATURE Oi~ OP~RA;TIONS AND GOING CONCGRN

Admiral Bay Resources Inc. ("Admiral 13ay" or the "C.ompany"),was incorporated in British Colwnbia on September
3, 19II7, The registered office of the Company is Suite £3 ].0 - 7H9 West Fender Street, Vancouver, T3ritish Columbia,

Canada, V6C 1112,

Our management intends to seek new opportunities. 'I'►le Company currently does not hold any material resource
properCy interests.

As at April 30, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $83,h3II (July 31, 2018 ~ $7D,306), had not yeC
achieved profitable opez~ations, has accumulated losses of $50,26II,922 (July 31, 201£3 - $50,255,790) a[td ex}~ects to
incur fuCln•e losses in Che development of any business, all of which represent material uncertainties which cast
significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 'These financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis and do nor reflect the adjusttnefaCs to the carrying values of assets and
liabilities and the reported expenses and statement of financial postilion classifications thatwoiild be necessary
if the Company were tanable to realize its assets and settle its liaUilities as a going concern i~~ the normal course
of operations. Such adjustments could be material.

On May 16, 201£3, die Company received t:he following a~evocation orders:

+ Revocation Order dated May 16, 2018 fl~om the F3ritish Colwnbia Securities Commission to a Cease Trade
Order ("C,TO") previously issued on December 6, 20'11.; and

• Revocation Order dated May 16, 2018 from c}ie ~)berta Securities Commission to a C1'0 previously issued
on March 5, 2092.

Tl~e C7'Os were issued by the 13CSf. and the ASC, as a result of Che failure of the Company, under its previous
management, to file annual audited financial seateinenes and relaCed management discussion and analysis within the
required time. 'The Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous
disclosure records on SCDAR up to date. As a condition for receiving the revocation orders, the (:ompany has
provided the Commissions with an undertaking to hold its annual shareholders' meeting within Chree months after
the C1'Os are revolted.

l̀. BASIS 0~' T'REY~lI2ATIQN

2.1 Statement of co[npliance

These condensed interim financial st~te~nents l~~~ave been pre~are~l in accordance with International Financial
Reporcin~ Standards ("II~RS") as issued Uy the international Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), and in accordance
with IAS 39~ - ]nlei-im Financial Reporting. 'Phe condensed interim financial sCaeements do not include all the
information required for annlaal financial staCements and should be read in conjtuickion with the Company's atadited
financia) sfaeements for the year ended July 31, 201II. These financial s[atemcnts have been prep~u~ed fol)owing the
same accotmting policies as the Com~~any's audited Financial statements for the~rear ended July 31, 20]£3,

'These condensed inCerim financial statements were a« thorized for issuance by Che 13aard of Directors of the Company
on July 'L, 2019.

2.2 T3asis of preseiifalion and 11in<:iional and prese~rtation currency

'these condensed interim financial st~~.~ternenes hav~~~ been prcpar~>d on a going concern basis, imdei- t~he hisl~orical cosi~.
convention ~.j»d have been prepared using Che accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow informaCion, as
ex~>1,3incd in the accoiu~t:ing policies set out in Nut~~ 3,



Admiral Bay Resources tnc.

Notes to I~~tea•im Condensed Financial Statements

Nine-month pea•iods evaded Api•i130, 2019 acid 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2.2 Basis of presentation aaxcl f~uactional and presentation cur~•ency {faptinued)

The condensed inCerim financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars, which is the ftmctional currency of

the Company.

Certain comparative figures have beea~ reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation, Such

reclassification is for presentation purpose only and has no effect on previously reported res~ilts,

3. SUMMARY OP SIGNIFICANT ACCOUN'P1NG PULICI~S

In preparing these condensed interiita finar~cia] statements, the significant accounting policies ai d Clue sig~iificant jLidg~uei~ts

made by ~nanagenaent in applying ilie Company's signi~caut accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncettai~~ty

were tha wine as those drat ~ppfied to the Company's aitclited consolidated flnar~cial statements for the year ended July 31,

2018.

"fhe prep~a•alion of condensed interim financial statements requires that the Company's management make judgments and

estimates of effects of uncertain future eve~its on the carrying amounts of the Company's assets and liabilities at the end of

the reporting period. Actual future outcomes could differ from present estimates and judgments, potentiftlly having material

firiure effects on the Company's condensed interim financial statements, estimates are rcviewcd on an ongoing basis and

are based on laistorica) experience and other ficts and circmnstances. T2evisions to estimates and the resulting effects on the

cart~ying amounts of the Company's assets and liabilities are accounted for prospectively.

Sevcrnl amendments ro existing accounting standards became effective January 1, 2018 and were first adopted by the

Company on August I , 201 A:

IFRS' 1 S Ilevenare from Conh•aclr wrNz Cuslonrens

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based Gve-step model to be applied to all contracts with custoiaiers. As the Company

does not have any revenue from customers, this ohauge Iz~d no impact on the tuaancial statemezats.

IFRS 9 I~'i~zancia! InslruritenGs

A tinalizcd version of IFRS 9 Pinanci~l Instnulicnts rc~>laces IAS 39 Financial Inst~~~mcnts: Recog~3ition end Measurement.

The standard contains requirements for classification and measw•ement of financial assets and liabilities; itnpainnent of

financial asset~; hedge accounting; end i~ierecognition of financial assets and liabilities carried forward from TAS 39. 'This

change had no impact on the financial stat~enlents.

IJeiv Sdnndarrls aitd hatcr/~retnlior~s Not Yet Adopted

Tl~e Company will be required to adopt the ('ollowing, slai~dards cud amendments issued by tl~e IASF3, ~s described below,

Applicable to the Company's am~~ual period beginning on January 1, 2019;

IIYLS 16 Leases

I~'ItS 1 C> spccif`ics how an ll~RS reporter ~~~ill rcco~uize, mcasiirc, px•csent and disclose leases. The standard provides ~i single

lessee accowlting model, requirinb lessec^s to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases t.inless the lease term is 12 months

ur less or the underlying asset his a low v<iltic. Lessors continue to classify leatses as operating or f7n~~nce, with 1FIZS 16's

approach to lessor accowiting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17 Leases.

The Company I~as not early ndc~pted this standard and is currenl)y assessing the imp~.ict that the sl~ndard will have on the

condensed interim ~i~ancial statements.



Admira3 I3ay Resources Inc:.

Notes to interim Condex~;sed Financial StaCements

Nine-month periods etaciecl Apx•il 30, 2019 anc12018

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

4, f.AYi'I'Al. MANAGEMENT

The Company considers its capiCal to be equity, which is corriprised of share capital and deficit, which as at April 30,

"L019 totaled a deficiency of $£33,438, (July 31, 2018 -deficiency of $70,306). The Company s capital structure is

adjusted based on the funds available to the Company such that it may continue to seek new opportunities. The

E3oard of Directors does not establish quantitative reYua•n on capital criteria, Uut rather relies nn the expertise of

management and other professionals to sustain future development of the business.

The only sout•ces of future funds presently available to the Company are through the sale of eyuiry capital of the

Company. The ability of the Company to arrange such financing in the futtu•e will depend in part upon the prevailing

capital markeC conditions as well as the business performance of the Company. 'Phere can be no assurance that dle

Company will he successful in Sts efforts to arrange addiCional financing, iF needed, on terms satisfactory to the

Company.

Management reviews ifs ca~>iCal manabemenC approach nn an ongoing basis and Uelieves thaC this approach, given

the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.

There were no changes in the Company's approach Co capital management during the period ended April 30, 2019

and during the years ended July 37., 201 3 and 2017, The Company is not subject fo externally imposed capital

resh•ictions.

5. FINANC1/iL INS'1'KUML'N'T'S

Fair valtae

The Company's financial insh•umenes consist of cash and accounts payable,'I'he carrying; and Fair value amounts of

the C~>rupany's financial instruments are approximately equivalent due Co the relaCively short periods to maturity of

these inst:rumc:nts.

Cash is classified as fia~ancial assets at PVTPL and accounts payable and loans payable are classified as other financial

liabilities, which are measured at amortised cost.

i~air value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information and informatio~i

about financial instruments. These estimates are subjective and involve uncertainties and matters of significant

judbment, therefore canizot be detei-mi~ied with precision. Changes in assumptions could sigi~ificaiitly affect tl~e

0SC11]7~CCS,

rin~.ulcial instruments recorded at fair value on Che sCatement of financial position are classified using a fail• value

hierarchy chat reflects the significance of the inputs used in mal<in~ the measurements. "J'he fair• va)ue hie~•archy has

the following levels: Level 1 -valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active marl<ecs for identical assets

or liabilities; Level 2 -valuation techniques based on inputs other tha~1 quoted prices included in i,evel 1 that are

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e, as prices) or indirectly (i.e, derived fi-om prices); and Level 3

- valuaCion techr~iclues using inp~its Por the asset or lial~~ility Chat are not I~~ased on observable market d~ala

(u~~obscivable in7~tits).

Cash is classified as Level 1.

A summary of Che Company's risk exposures as it relaCes to financial instruments are reflecCed b~~~low

fredit i•islc
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparcy's inability to fulfill its payment ohligations.'Che Comps.+ny

limits iCs expostir•e to credit loss fa' cash by placing its cash with high quality financial institutions. "The credit t•islt

for cash is considered negligible since the rounterp~utfes are iept~taUle banks with high quality external c:recliC

ratings and customers with no history of default,



Admia•al Bay Resources Inc.

Notes to Intei•irn Condensed Fi~aancial 3tace~nents

Nine-month periods ended April 30, 2019 and 2U1II
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

5. P(NANCIAL IN5'PRUMGNTS (Coneinued)

Liquidity risk
The Company's approach to managing IiquidiCy risk is to ensure that itwill have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities

as they become due. As at April 30, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficiency of ~II3,438 Quly 31, 2018
$70,306). In order to meet its longer-term working capital requirements, the Company intends on securing further

f9nancin~ to ensuz~e that those obligations arc properly discharged. There can he no assurance chat the Company
will be successful in its efforts to ax•range additional finaiacing on Germs satisfactory to the Company. It' additional
financing is raised by the issuance of shares from the treasury oFthe Company, control of the Company may change,

and shareholders tray suffer additional dilution. IFadequate financing is not available, the Company maybe required

to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or rriore operating activities. The Company's financial liabilities

generally have contractual maturities of 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms.

foreign exchange a•isk
The Company leas no assets and }iabilities denominaCed in foreign currency and conducts iCs business mainly in
Canada. The Company's ex~~osure to currency risk is cw~rently considered insignificant.

Intex•est Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk chat future cash Flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in mar]ceC interest rates. The

Company's intet•est income on cash balance is negligible and the accounts payable and loans payable are non-

interestbearing. The Company is not exposed to significanC interest rate ris)c.

6. LOANS PAYABLE

~)tu•ing the year ended July 31, 201II, the Company obtai~ied three separate loans for total gross proceeds oF$31,526,
of which a tot~~l of $21,526 was from related parties (Note 7). ']'ire loans are unsecured, noai-interest bearing and
due on demand. These loans were repaid during the nine- month period ended Apri! 3U, 'L019 from wisecured, non-
interest-bearing loan due on demand for $75,IIf33 availed from Cultivar 1loldings Limited.

7. I2~LATED PA12TY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has identified its directors and certain senior officers as its key management person~lel. No post-
empinyment benefits, other l~>ng-term benefits and termination benefits were incurred during Che periods ended
April 30, ZO1~) 8I1CI ZOZQ.

The amowlts due to related parties consist of the following as at April 30, 2019 and July 31, 201£3:

------ _.. -- --- 
Apa•il 30, July 31,

Note 2019 2018
$ `~

included in accounCs payable - 25,474
Included in loans r~avable h 21,526

'Cot~:il - 47,000

'T'he amounts due to the related parties are unsecured, non-inCerest bearinK and due on demand.



Admiral Bay Resow•ces lt7c.

Notes to Interim Condensed I~izaarzcial Statements

Nine-monti~ periods eiaded Apz•il 3U, 2019 and 201£3
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

II. CAPITAL S7'OCiC

Cnpitnl Stock

The Company is auChorired to issue unlimited number of common shares without par value.

During the nine -month period ended April 3U, "L019, theme were no share issuances.

During the year ended July 31, 201£3, the Company completed the following share issuances:

On July 11, 2018, the Company increased the n~nnber of authorized common shares wiChout par value from
202,'197,706 common shares to an unlimited nwnber of common shares.

On July 11, 201f3 Che Company consolidated its share capital on aone-for-Cen basis, All share and per shat•e
information have been restated to reflect this consolidation for all periods presented.

On July 25, 2018, the Company completed anon-brokered private placement and issued an aggf•egate of 6,000,000
common shares for gross proceeds of $6,000.

Stock Options
The Company lias established a seocic option plan whereby officers, direckors, employees and service providers may
be granted options Co pw•chase common shares at a fixed price, Vesting and expiry provisions are determined at the
date of grant:.'I'he plan provides for Che issuance of stoc}r options to acquire up Co 10% of the Company's issued and
outstanding capital. The plan is a rolling plan as Che nwnber of shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the g~•ant
of stock options will ina•ease as the Company's issued and outstanding share capital increases.

During the nine- month period ended llpril 30, 2019 and 201II no stock options were Issued or outstanding.

9. SGGMF:N`CED INFORM~ITION

"1'he Cornpany operates in a single reportable operating segment in Canada.

10. NON-B[ND1NG I,E'I'TE;R 0~ IN'fEN'►'

'Che Company ent~.~~red into anon-binding letter of i~~tent with Cultivar !-loldings Ltd, with res}~ect to a reverse talce-
over h•ansaction which would ultin~~aCely rest~ilt in the Company's common shares being lisCed on the Canadian
Securities Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDI70RS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of Cultivar Holdings Ltd.

Report on the Audit of the Consoitdated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cultivar Holdings ltd. (the "Company"), which comprise the

consoildated statement of financial posltlon as at January 31, 2019, and the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive

loss, consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the period from

incorporation on December 6, 2017 to January 31, 2019, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary

of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, tl~e consolidated

financial posltfon of the Company as at January 31, 2Q19, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash

flows for the period from incorporation nn December 6, 2017 to January 31, 2019 in accordance with International financial

Reporting Standards,

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsi6rlities for the Audit of the Financiol5tntements section of our report,

We are independent of the Company in accordance w(th the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the

consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these

requirements, We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and a~~propriate to provide a basis (or our

opinion.

Other lnformatian

Management is responsible (or the other information. The other information comprises the information, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, included in Management's Discussion and analysis report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read

the other information Identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with

the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise a{~pears to be materially misstated.

I(, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this

other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor's report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation

of financial statements that are free irom material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

I n preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ahility to continue as a going

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going conccm bosis of accounting unless

management either inten~Js to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has na realistic alternative but fo do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible (or overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.



Auditor's Responsibilities far the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is

a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted audit(ng

standards wfii always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

considered material ff, individually or In the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due

Yo fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The r(sk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud Is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, orthe override of internal control;

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in tl7e circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Company's Internal control;

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by management;

Conclude on the appropriateness of managements use of the going concern basis of accow~ting and, based

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that

may cast significant doubt on the Cornpany's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are Inadequate, to modify our

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.

However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern;

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, Including

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide chose charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with them ail relationships and other matters that may reasonably bethought to

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

The en~apement partner on the audit resulting in this independent audiror's report is Mickey Goldstein.

Vancouver, t3C Buckley Dodds LLP

September 3, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountants



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

ass~~rs
CURRENT

Cash $ 1,558,949

Loans and advances (Note 5) 68,526

Deferred costs (Note 5) 61,a`I4

Prepaid expenses (Note 6) 26,672

1, 715, 621

Property and equipment (Note 7) 14,106

TOTAL ASSETS ~ ~ ~729~~2~

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES

CURi2ENT
Accrued liabilities (Note 10) $ X7,113

TOTAL LIA8IUTIES 47,~~3 _

SHAREHOLDERS'EQUITY

Share Capital 2,041,220

Share-based payment reserve 5,535

Accumulated deficit ~~320 4za~
$ 1,726,332

Non-conlrolliny interest ~~3 ~~~1

TOTF11_ SHARCHOLDERS' EQUITY ~_ 1,682, 14

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREh10l.PEftS' EQUITY ~ $ 1,729,727

Organization and nature of operations (Note 1)
Basis of presentation and going concern (Note 2)
Commitment and contingencies (Hole 11)
Subsequent events (Note 1G)

Approved hat( ~I iho Board irQctors:

Sig ed: Sheldon Kates, CEO and Director Signed: Eug ne Anthony ffolkes, DirQctor

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial sfatemeNs

/s/ "Sheldon Kales" /s/ "Anthony Ffolkes"



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statement of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
for period from incorporation on December 6, 2017 to January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

Expenses

Administration and general 33,526

Amortization of proporty and equipment (Noie 7) 4,3~J5

Leasing costs (Note 10} 32,3G6

Legal fees 8~,$`~~

Management fees (Noce 10j 59,955

Patent and trademark expenses ~~.28~

Research and development 49,205

Samples and testing 21,866

Share based compensation (Note 8) 5,535

'Taxes and related z~69~

Travel, entertainment and related 47,51II

Vehicle use expenses (Note 10) 4,750

Total operating expenses (365,961)

Gain on foreign exchange ~,82o

Loss and comprehQnsfvo loss ~~,~y $ (364,141) _

Loss and comprahons{vo loss attributable to:

Shareholders $ (320,423)

Non-controlling interest $ (43,718)

Loss per share -Basic and Diluted ~ ~ _ ~~6f. _ __ ~__ $ (~,~Q~,

Weighted aver~ge number of common shares outstanding -Basic and Diluted 57,369,525

The accompanying notes are an iNegral part of These consolidated financial statements



Cuitivar Holdings Ltd.
Gonsolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
for the period from incorporation on December 6, 2017 to January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

Numbor of
common Share-based Non-
shares paymont Controlling

outstanding Share capital rosorvo Intorost Deficit Totai

Seetl Shares issued for cash 30,000,000 $ 30 $ - $ - $ - $ 30

Acquisition of CannlP Holdings Inc. 29,800,000 30 - - - ~~

Private placements 33,202,500 2,070,500 - - - 2,070,500

Shares issued as finders' fees 275,000 - - - -

Share issuance costs - (29,3x0) - - - (29,340)

Share-based compensation - - 5,535 - - 5,535

Net loss for the period - - - (x3,71 S) (320,423) (364,141)

Balance as at January 31, 2019 93,277,500 $ 2,041,220 $ 5,535 $ (43,718) $ (320,A23) $ 1,682,61A

i he accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the period from incorporation on December 6, 2017 to January 31, 20'19
(in Canadian dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss $ (364,141)

Non-Cash items included in net Toss and other adjustments:

Amortization of property antl equipment 1,395

Share-based compensation 5,535

Changes in non-cash working capital:

Loans and advances (68,526)

Prepaid expenses (26,672)

Accrued liabilities 47,113... ___.
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~

_
(A02,296)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash acquired from acquisition 30

Purchase of property and equipment (18,501)

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ~ (18,A77)

F'INANGING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of share capital for cash 2,070, 30

Share Issuance costs —cash (29,390)

Deferred tinancing costs (G1,474)

CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES V ~ 1,979,716

NET CHANGE IN CASH DURING THE PERIOp 1,558,949

CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD -

CASH, END OF PERIOD ~ ^~ $ 1,55II,949

Cash paid for interest and income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of Ihese consolidated financial statements



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

Cultivar Holdings Ltd. (the "Company" or "Cultivar"), is a holding company whose subsidiaries are in the early stage
marijuana services and products, development of cosmetic and edible product lines, as well as investment in
technology to detect if an individual is under the influence of cannabis and to predict substance addiction.

The Company was incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario on December 6, 2017.

On February 15, 2018, the Company acquired a 49% interest in a newly incorporated Cultivar JA Limited, ("CJA") a
corporation incorporated under the laws of Jamaica. The remaining 51 %interest is owned by local Jamaican business
partners. CJA is currently applying for a license to grow high quality cannabis in Jamaica.

Qn July 16, 2018 the Company acquired a 100% interest in a newly incorporated CannlP Holdings Inc. (formerly
2639745 Ontario Inc.) ("Cann") a corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario. Cann is engaged
in the development of cosmetic and edible product lines, as well as investment in technology to detect an individual
influence of cannabis. The Company did a one for one share exchange with Cann and issued 29,800,000 common
shares to the shareholders of Cann.

The Company's corporate head office is located at 77 King Street W, Suite 3000, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5K 1G8.

The Board of Directors of the Company authorized these financial statements for issuance on September 3, 2019.

2. Basis of Presentation and Going Concern

Basis of Preparation

These consolidated financial siatements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial
instruments recorded at fair value. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the
accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. The functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar, which is also the Company's reporting currency,

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards
("IAS") 1, "Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements" using accounting policies consistent with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issuecJ by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC").

Basis of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries CJA and Cann from
the date of acquisition. The Company has a 49% interest in CJA, and 100% interest in Cann. All inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminated nn consolidation.

Going Concern Assumption

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using IFRS on a going concern basis, which presumes
the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business, for the next fiscal year. At January
31, 2019, the Company had cash of $1,55a,9A9, working capital of $1,668,508 and an accumulated deficit of $320,423.
The continuing operations of the Company are dependent on funding provided by equity investors. The Company
intends to finance its future requirements through a combination of equity and/or debt issuance. There is rio assurance
that the Company will be able to obtain such financings or obtain them on favorable terms.



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

2. Basis of Presentation and Going Concern (ConYd)

Going Concern Assumption (ConYd)

This uncertainty may cast significant doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. Thesa

consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying value or presentation of assets or

liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. These adjustments

could be material.

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make

certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts

of assets, liabilities, shareholders' equity, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as at the date of the

financial statements, and expenses for the years reported.

Critical Judaements

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements regarding the
going concern of the Company (discussed above), as well as the determination of functional currency. The functional

currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates and has been determined

for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for the Company and its subsidiaries has been determined

to be the Canadian dollar.

Kev Sources of Estimation Uncertaint

Because a precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the preparation of

financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of assefs and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those

estimates and such differences could be significant.

Significant estimates made by management affecting the consolidated financial statements include:

Share-based payments

Estimating fair value for granted stock options requires determining the most appropriate valuation model which is

dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate

inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the option, volatility, dividend yield, and rate of forfeitures

and making assumptions about them.

Deferred tax assets &liabilities

The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets and liabilities based on an

assessment vi the Company's ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against fuiin~e taxable income prior

to expiry of those deductions. Management assesses whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred income

tax assets and liabilities will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and Liabilities is dependent

upon the generation of future taxable income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful discovery, extraction,

development and carnrnerci~lization of rnirieral reserves. To the extent that managements assessment of the

Company's ability to utilize future tax deductions changes, the Company would be required to recognize more or fewer

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and deferred income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected.

f[1]



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

2. Basis of Presentation and Gaing Concern (Cont'd)

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates (Cont'd)

iJseful life of property and er~urpment

Property and equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful life. Estimated useful lives are determined based on
current facts and past experience and takes into consideration the anticipated physical life of the asset, the potential
for technological obsolescence, and regulations.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

Cash

Cash comprises of cash held at banks and amounts held in trust. The majority of the Company's cash is held in trust.
'C'he Company does not invest in any asset-backed deposits or investments.

Income taxes

Income tax on profit or loss for the period comprises of current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected tax paid
or payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of

financial position date, and any adjustment to tax paid or payable in respect of previous periods,

Deferred tax is recorded by providing for temporary differe~~ces between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts usEd for taxation purposes.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in income tax rates
is recognized in the period that includes the date of the enactment or substantive enactment of the change. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are presented separately except where there is a right of set-off within fiscal jurisdictions

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is translated into
Canadian dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date. At the period-end date, unsettled monetary
assets end liabiliiies are translated into Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the year-end date and
the related translation differences are recognized in net loss. Exchange gains and losses arising on the retr~nslation
v( rrwnetaiy available-for-sale financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change in fair value aril
recognized iri net loss. Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary available-for-sale financial assets form part of the
overall gain or loss recognized in respect of such financial instrument,



Cultivar Holdings Ltd,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 3~, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

Foreign currency translation (ConYd)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into Canadian dollars by using

the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated. Non-monetary assets

and liabilities that are measured at fair value or a revalued amount are translated into Canadian dollars by using the

exchange rate in effect at the date the value is determined and the related translation differences are recognized in

net loss or other comprehensive foss consistent with where the gain or loss on the underlying non-monetary asset or

liability has been recognized.

Loss per share

Loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to common shares of the Company by the weighted

average number of common shares putstanding for the relevant period.

Diluted loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to common shares by the sum of the

weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and ail additional common shares that would

have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments ware converted.

Share-based payments

The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to consultants and service providers. The

Company recognizes share-based compensation expense based on the estimated fair value of the options. A fair value

measurement is made for each vesting instalment within each option grant and is determined using the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model. The fair value of the options is recognized over the vesting period of the options granted as both

share-based compensation expense and reserves. This includes a forfeiture estimate, which is revised for actual

forfeitures in subsequent periods. The reserves account is subsequently reduced if the options are exercised and the

amount initially recorded is then credited to capital stock.

in situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods or services received

by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at the fair value of the share-based

payment. Otherwise, share-based payments are measured at the: fair value of the goods or services received.

Property and equipment:

Property and equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated amortization anti accumulated impairment losses. The

cost of the item of property and equipment consists of the purchase price, and any costs directly attributable to bringing

the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use. An item of properly and equipment is

derecognized upon disposal or when no future econoiYiic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the

asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
The cost of repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred.

The Company amortizes its property and equipment using the following rates:

Cquipment 3U% per annum, declining balance
Leasehold improvements Straight line over the term of the lease

12



Cultivar Moldings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (GonYd)

Impairment

The carrying amount of the Company's assets is reviewed for an indication of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. If an indication of impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of the assets recoverable amount,

Individual assets are grouped for impairment assessment purposes at the lowest level at which there are identifiable

cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets. Recoverable amount of an asset

group is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated

future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific to the asset group and are discounted to their present value using

a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money.

Where the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset group is considered impaired

and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is

estimated, A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used

to determine the asset's recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment

loss had been recognized.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the consolidated statements of financial position when the

Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The following is the Company's accounting policy for financial instruments under IFRS 9:

Classification

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit and loss
("FVTPL"}, at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) ("FVTOCI") or at amortized cost. The Company
determines the classification of fin~nciai assets ~t initial recognition. The classification of debt instruments is driven by
the Company's business model for managing the financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. Equity
instruments that are held for trading are classified as rVTPL. For other equity instruments, on the day of acquisition

the Company can male an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate them as at
FVTOCI. Financial liabilities are measured et amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVTPL (such
as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or if the Company has opted to measure them at FV"i'PL.

Measurement

FI17~1)CfBI ~SSP,tS ~u~d li<~bilities at amortized cost
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus transaction costs,
respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment.

1 3



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (ConYd)

Financial Instruments (Gont'd)

Measurement ConYd

Financial assets and liabilifies at FVTPL
Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are expensed

in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from

changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held at ~VTPL are included in the consolidated statements

of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise.

Debt investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method,

foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or {oss. Other net gains and losses are

recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as income in profit or loss unless the

dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized

in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

imr~airment of financial assets at amortized cost

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured at

amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount

equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since

initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the

Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit

losses. 'rhe Company shall recognize in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, as an impairment

gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the

reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized.

Derecognition

Financial assets
The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the financial assets

expire, or when it transfers the financlai assets and substantially all of the associated risks end rewards of ownership

to another entity.

Financial liabilities
The Gornpany derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired,

The Cornpany also derecognizes a financial liability when the terms of the liability are modified such that the terms antl

or cash flows of the modified instrument are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on

the ~~iodified terms is recognized at fair value.

Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in profit or loss.

14



Cultivar Hoidinys Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (ConYd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Dereco~nition (Cant'd~

The Company's financial assets and liabilities are recorded and measured as follows:

Asset or Liability Category Measurement

Cash FVTPL. Fair value

Loans and advances Loans and receivables Amortized cost
Accrued liabilities Other liabilities Amortized cost

The Company determines the fair value of financial instruments according to the following hierarchy based on the

amount of observable inputs used to value the instrument.

Level 1 -Quoted prices are available in active markets far identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active

markets are those in which transactions occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an

ongoing basis.

Level 2 -Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1. Prices in Level 2 are either

directly ar indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 valuations are based on inputs, including quoted

forward prices for commodities, time value and volatility factors, which can be substantially observed or corroborated

in the marketplace.

Level 3 -Valuations in this level are those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data.

Cash has been measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that they are

impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial

recognition of the asset and that the loss event hid a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset

that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between

its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the assets original effective

interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in a separate line item. When a subsequent event

causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss,

1 5



Cultivar Woldings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

Accounting standards Issued but not yet applied

New standard IFRS 16 "Leases" This new standard replaces IAS 17 "Leases" and the related interpretative guidance.

IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing between a lease and a service contract

on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset being leased. For those assets determined to meet the

definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the accounting by lessees, introducing a single, on-

balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting, with limited exceptions for short-

term leases or leases of low value assets. Lessor accounting is not substantially changed. The standard is effective

for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted far entities that have adopted

IFF2S 15. As at January 31, 2019, the Company has a land lease agreement in Jamaica and expects that the impact

upon adopting this new standard will be the reclassification of the lease as a right-of-use asset on the statement of

financial position.

Other accounting standards and amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued and have future

effective dates are not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's financial

statements.

4. Acquisition

On February 15, 201$, the Company acquired a 49% interest in a newly incorporated company, CJA, incorporated
under the laws of Jamaica. The remaining 51 %interest is owned by local business partners. CJA is currently applying
for a license to grow high quality cannabis in Jamaica. No consideration was given for the acquisition.

On July 16, 2018 the Company acquired a 100% interest in a newly incorporated company Cann, incorporated under
the laws of the province of Ontario. Cann is engaged in the development of a CBD product portfolio, as well as artificial
intelligence powered technology to detect cannabis impairment. The Company did a one for one share exchange with
Cann and issued 29,800,000 common shares to the shareholders of Cann, valued at $30. The net assets acquired on
the acquisition were determined to be valued at $30, resulting in no gain or loss on the transaction.

5. Letter of Intent

On December 1?_, ?_01II, the Company entered into anon-binding letter of intent with Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

("Admiral") with respect to a reverse take-over transaction which would ultimately result in the Company's common

shares being listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange. As of January 31, 2019, the Company advanced $68,526

to Admiral to repay its loans and part of its payables and incurred an additional $61,474 as finders' fees which is

classified as deferred costs to be expensed when this transaction is completed.

6, Prepaid Expenses

As of January 31, 2019, a sum of $26,672 (USD $20,292) is unexpended by CJA, which was advanced to its director
for future expenses, and classified as prepaid expenses in the consolidated statement of financial position.

16



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars}

7, property and equipment

Cost

Balance as at December 6, 2017
Additions
Balance as at January 31, 2019

Accumulated Amortization

Balance as at December 6, 2017
Amortization
Balance as at January 31, 2019

Equipment 
Leasehold Total

Improvement

8,5II5 9,916 18,501

$ 8,585 $ 9,916 $ 18,501

2,146 2,249 4,395

$ 2,146 $ 2,249 $ x,395

Net Carrying Amounts

As at January 31, 2019 $ 6,439 $ 7,667 $ 14,10fi

8. Stock-based compensation

In October 2018, the Company granted options to a consultant to acquire a total of 250,000 common shares. These

options were issued at an exercise price of $0.10 per share and vested 75,000 immediately, and balance 175,000 on

completion of milestones, with an expiry term of two years. The fair value of each option used for the purpose of

estimating the stock-based compensation is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following

assumptions:

Risk free rate 2.26%

Expected dividends ~%
Expected forfeiture rate ~%
Expected volatility 100%

Expected life 2 years

Stock-based compensation cost expensed during the period $ 3,973

Unvested stock-based compensation expense ~ y,272

In November 2018, the Company granted options to a consultant to acquire a total of 100,000 common shares. These

options were issued at an exercise price of $0.10 per share and vested 25,000 immediately, and 25,000 each on April

1 , 2.019, September 1, 2019 and March 1, 2020 with an expiry term of three years. The fair value of each option used

for the purpose of estimating the stock-based compensation is estimated using the F31ack-Schales option pricing model

with the following assumptions:

Risk free rate 2.30%

Expected dividends ~%
Expected forfeiture rate ~%
F_xnected volatility 100%

Expected life 3 years

Stock-based compensation cost expensed during the period $ 1,52

Unvested stock-based compensation expense $ ~,~86

As of January 31, 2019, there was $13,958 of unvested stock-based compensation expense

17



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

8. Stock Based Compensation (Cont'd)

As at January 31, 2019, the Company had the following share purchase options outstanding and exercisable;

Remaining life

Outstanding Exercisable Exercise Price (Years) Expiry Date

250,000 75,000 $0.10 1.73 October 25, 20?_0

100,000 25,000 $0.10 2.77 November 8, 2021

350,000 100,000 $0.10 2.03

9. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue the following shares:

• Unlimited number of common shares

a) Common shares

7'he holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends which are declared from time to time and are entitled

to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. Ali shares are ranked equally with regards to the Company's

residual assets,

At January 31, 2019, the Company has 93,277,500 common shares issued and outstanding.

b) Share issuances

• The Company issued 30,000,000 common shares, as founders' shares, for $30.
• 7ha Company issued 29,800,000 common shares in a share exchange agreement with Cann, valued at X30
(Note 4).

• The Company issued 2.4,995,000 common shares at $0.05 per share in private placements and raised
$1,249,750. The Company issued 275,000 common shares as finders shares.

• The Company issued 8,7.07,500 common shares at $0.10 per share in private placements and raised
$820,750.

In conjunction with the above private placements, the Company incurred cash share issuance costs of $29,340.

'10. Related Party Transactions

Belated parties include key i~~anagement personnel, the board of Directors, close family members and enterprises that
are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions.

Key management of the Company are rner7ibers of the Board of Directors, the' Chief Executive Officer ("CEO")and the
Chief Financial Officer ("CFO").
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Cuitivar Moldings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 3~, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

10. Related Party Transactions (Gont'd)

Transactions with key management personnel not disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements include the

following:

January 31, 2019

Management fees to the CEO $ 56,000

Management fees to the CFO $ 3,955

Total Management fees $ 59,955

Vehicle expense to the CEO 4,750

Leasing costs to the CEO 1A,250

$ 7II,955

As of January 31, 2019, there was $17,113 due to the CEO included in accrued liabilities.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Effective July 1, 2018, the Company signed atwo-year contract with a corporation owned and controlled by the CEO

to pay monthly compensation of $8,000 for CEO services. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay monthly rent

for $1,500 and an additional $500 for the use of a personal vehicle.

The Company's operations were governed by governmental laws and regulations regarding environmental protection.

Environmental consequences ire difficult to Moth predict and identify, in terms of level, impact ortime(ine. At the present

time and to the best knowledge of its management, tha Company is in conformity with the laws and regulations in

effect. Restoration costs will be accrued in the financial statements only when they will be reasonably estimated and

will be charged to the earnings at the time.

12. Financial instruments

The fair value of the Company's accrued liabilities and loans and advances approximate carrying value, due to their

short-teen nature. The Company's cash is measured at fair value under the fair value hierarchy based on level one

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Financial risk management and objectives

The Company's activities expose it to ~ variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk (including
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, and commodity price risk).

The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact and
likelihood of those risks. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.
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Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

12. Financial Instruments (ConYd)

Financial risk management and objectives (Cont'd)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its

contractual obligations. The Company is not exposed to significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations as

they come due. The Company's liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital

market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the

Company. The Company generates cash flaws primarily from its financing activities.

The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled costs. Liquidity is measured in various

time bands, on day to day and week-to-week basis, as well as on long term liquidity needs over 180 day to 360 day

look out periods. Funding for long term liquidity needs is based on the ability of the Company to successfully complete

private placements.

As at January 31, 2019, the Company had sufficient cash of $1,55II,949 to settle current liabilities of $47,113.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, commodity and

equity prices, and foreign exchange rates.

(a) Interest rate ris{<

I nterest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.

(b) Price risk

The Company is not exposed to significant price risk as it does not possess investments in publicly traded securities.

(c) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument denominated in a foreign

currency will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company operates internationally, which

gives rise to the risk that cash flows may be adversely impacted by exchange rate fluctuations. Amounts subject to

currency risk are prepaid expenses held by a Director in US Dollars in a Jamaican bank account as well as operating

expenses incurred by CJA in US Dollars and Jamaican Dollars. As at January 31, 2019, the Company hacJ net financial

assets denominated in US Dollars of approximately $26,700. Therefore, a 10%change in value of the US Dollar versus

the Canadian Dollar would give rise to a gain or loss of approximately $2,670. The Company has not entered info any

foreign exchange contracts to hedge this risk.
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Cultivar Holdings L.td.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

13. Capital Management

The Company considers its capital to be shareholders' equity, which is comprised of share capital and deficit, which
as at January 31, 2019 totaled $1,682,614. The Company's capital structure is adjusted based nn the funds available
to the Company such that it may continue to seek new opportunities. The Board of Directors does nat establish
quantitative return on capital criteria, but rather relies on the expertise of management and other professionals to
sustain future development of the business.

The sources of future funds presenkly available to the Company are through the sale of equity capital or debt of the
Company. The ability of the Company to arrange such financing in the future wil{ depend in part upon the prevailing
capital market conditions as well as the business performance of the Company. 'T'here can be no assurance that the
Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing, if needed, on terms satisfactory to the
Company.

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital restrictions.

14. Income Taxes

The fallowing is a reconciliation of income taxes attributable io operations computed at the statutory tax rates to income

tax recovery.

January 31, 2099

Loss for the period $ (364,141)

Tax rate 26.5%

Expecked income tax recoverable at statutory rate (96,497)

Impact of future tax rates and other 5.81$
Non-deductible items 1,467

Share issuance costs (7,775)

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 96,987

Total income tax recovery $

Deferred tax assets

The tax efFects of temporary differences that give rise to future income tax assets are as follows:

January 31, 2019

Non-capital losses available for future period $ 90,020

Share issuance costs 5,868

Property and equipment 1,099

Total deferred tax assets 96.987

Less: Unrecognized deferred tax assets (96,9x7)

Net deferred tax assets Tv ~ ~---v_ ~

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows:

January 31, 2019 Expiry Date

Non-c~pital losses ~ $ 360,079 2039

Share issuance costs $ 23,472 2039 — ?_043

Property and equipment ~ 4,395 No expiry
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Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
January 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

14. Income Taxes {Cont'd)

Tax attributes are subject to review and potential adjustment by tax authorities.

15. Segment Information

The Company is a holding company whose subsidiary in Jamaica is in the early stage marijuana services and products,
and another subsidiary in Canada is in the early development of a CBD product portfolio, as well as development of
artificial intelligence powered technology to identify if someone is under the influence of cannabis and to predict
substance addiction.

There are no revenues during the year. All assets are located in Canada except for property and equipment for $14,106
and prepaid expenses for $26.672 which are located in Jamaica.

16. Subsequent Events

a) Qn March 18, 2019, the Company executed a teaming agreement with Tech Mahindra Limited ("TechM")
incorporated under the taws cif India with the desire is act as a team for the purpose of preparing and submitting a
proposal of projects pertaining to detection of cannabis and alcohol impairment to customers.

b) On March 19, 2019, the Company executed an agreement with Hindalco Industries limited ("Hindalco"), a
Company incorporated under the laws of India. Both parties intend to establish an ongoing co-operative business
relationship in the field of addressing impairment related to drugs and alcohol in the workplace.

c) On May 1, 2019, the Company issued 550,000 common shares to a director for services and 250,000 common
shares to a consultant for services.

d) On August 12, 2019, tl~e Company closed a private placement of 3,296,000 units at $0.25 per unit for a
consideration of $824,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one-half of one common share
purchase warrant (each whole warrant, a "Warrant"), with each Warrant exercisable into a common share of the
Company at an exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of 24 months, The Company paid finder's fees of
$49,320 in cash and issued 66,400 common shares at $0.25 per share.
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Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Condensed Interim Statements of Financial Position as at July 31, 2019 and ,January 31, 2Q19
(Unaudited —expressed in Canadian dollars)

ASSETS

CURRENT

Cash
Loans and advances (Note 5)
Deferred costs (Note 5)
Prepaid expenses (Note 6)

July 31, 2019

$ 1,717,105
99,526

107,599
34,2A1

1,958,A71
11,300

__ _18,288

$ 1,988,059

January 31, 2019

Property and equipment (Note 7)
Right-o(-use asset (Note 15)

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES

CURRENT
Accrued liabilities (Note 10)
Lease obligation (Note 16)

Lease obligation (Note 16)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLQERS' EQUITY

$ 1,558,949
68,526
61,474
26,672

1,715,621
14,106

$ 1,729,727

$ 25,596 $ 47,113
11,921

37,517 A7,113

10,476 -

47,993

Share Capital 2.,121,220 2,041,220

Share subscriptions (Note 14) 478,944 -
Share-based payment reserve 9,08h 5,535
Accumulated deficit (611,970) (320̂ 423

1,997,278 $ 1,726,332
Non-controlling interest _ 57,212 (43,718)

TOTAL SHAREHOI.DER5' EQUITY 1,940,066 ____ 1,682,6141

70TA1. I,IAB~LITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 1,988,059 $ 1,729,!27

Organization and nature of operations (Note 1)
Basis of presentation and going concern (Note 2)
Commitment and contingencies (Note 11)
Subsequent events (Note 1 B)

Approved on behalf of the Qoard of Directors:

Signed: Sheldon Kates, CEO and Director Signed: Rahul Kushwah, Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Cu{tivar Holdings Ltd.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
for the periods ended:
(Unaudited- expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the For the For the For the
three three six Period from
months months months December 6,
ended ended ended 2017 to
July 31, July 31, July 31, July 31,
2019 2018 2019 2018

Expenses:
Accretion on lease obligation (Note 16) $ 1,003 $ - $ 2,159 $
Administration and general 5,134 6,507 11,350 12,162
Amortization of property and equipment (Note 7) 1,403 1,052 2,806 1,267
Amortization of right to use asset (Note 15) 3,448 - 6,096
Consulting fees 25,000 - 25,000
Leasing and rent costs (Note 10) 4,500 5,250 9,000 20,115
Legal fees 4,689 ~i,a37 13,100 35,050
Management fees (Note 10) 97,000 8,000 126,085 8,000
Patent and trademark expenses - - 250 6,288
Research and development - - 73,733 -
Samples and testing - - 260
Share based compensation (Note 8) 1,gII7 - 3,5R9
f̀axes and related _ _ - 2,650
Travel, enieriairnnent and related 20,933 '13,785 28,623 29,357
Vehicle use expenses (Note 10) __ 1,500

--
1,750 __
-

3,000 _ __11750
--- -

Loss and comprehensive loss $---------- ---...._.___._ __ (166,197 $~________. 41,181 $C ) ____~__.__ 305,041 ~~___-~ 116,639~ -~_

Loss and comprehensive loss attributable to:
Shareholders $ (160,252) $ (30,Ot35) $ (291,547) ~v (79,x}04)
Non controlling interest ~~ $ _~~_ $ X1 1,096) _$__ (13,494) ~ (3.7,235_
Loss per share-E3asic and Qiluted $ 0.002 $ 0.001 $ 0 003 $ 0.004
Weighted average number of shares oufsianding-

Eiasic and Diluted 94,077,500 39,1h5,000 93,6134,130 30,790,567

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
for the periods ended July 31, 2019 and July 31, 2018
(Unaudited-expressed in Canadian dollars) _

Number of
common
shares

outstanding

Share-based
Share payment Non-Controlling

Share capital subscriptions reserve Interest Deficit Total,

Balance,
December 6, 2017 - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $

Seed Shares
issued for cash 30,000,000 30 - - - - 30

Acquisition of
CanniP Holdings
Inc. 29,600,000 30 - - - - 30

Private
placements 6,870,000 443,500 - - - 443,50D

Shares issued as
finders' fees 275,000 - - -

Net loss for the
period - - - - (37,235) (79,444) (116,639)

Balance as at
July 31, 201D 65,945,000 $ AA3,560 $ - ~ - $ (37,235) $ (79,40A) $ 326,921

balance as of
January 31, 2019 93,277,500 $ 2,041,220 $ - $ 5,535 $ (43,718) $ (320,423) $ 1,682,614

Share
subscriptions - - a7f3,944 - - - 478,944

Shares issued for
services 800,000 F30,000 - - - - 80,000

Share-based
compensation - - 3,549 - - 3,549

Net loss for the
period - - - - (13,A94) (291,547) (305,041)

Balance as at July
31, 2019 94,077,500 $ 2,121,220 s 478,944 $ 9,084 $ (57,212) $ (611,970) $ 1,940,066

l'he accompanying notes are an integral {earl of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Cultivar Moldings Ltd.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the periods ended:

(Unaudited-expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the period from

For the six months December 6, 2017 to .July

ended July 31, 2019 31, 2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss $ (305,041) $ (116,639)

Non-cash items included in net loss and other adjustments:

Accretion on lease obligation 2,159

Amortization of property and equipment 2,x06 1,267

Amortization on rights-of-use asset 6,096

Share-based compensation 3,549 -

Shares issued for services 80,000

Changes in non-cash working capital:

Loans and advances (31,000)

Prepaid expenses (7,569) (36,255)

Accrued liabilities (21,517)
__- -

`~~~
- --

CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ v ~ (270,517) _ (151,150)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash acquired from acquisition - 30

Lease obligation expense (A,1~I6) -

Purchase of property and equipment - J (18,501)

CASH U5ED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,1x6}~ (18,471)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of share capital for cash - 443,530

Share subscriptions received 478,944

Deferred financing costs (46,125)

~~CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES A32,819 443,530

NET CHANGE IN CASH DURING THE PERIOD 158,156 273,909

CASH, BEGINNING OF PEf210D 1,558,949

CAS M, END OF PERIOD -- - -- --- ----- $ 1,717,105 $ 273,909

Cash paid for interest and income taxes

The accompanying Holes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated {=inancia! Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

Cultivar Holdings Ltd. (the "Company" or "Gultivar"), is a holding company whose subsidiaries are in the early stage
marijuana services and products, development of cosmetic and edible product lines, as well as investment in
technology to detect if an individual is under the influence of cannabis and to predict substance addiction.

The Company was incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario on December 6, 2017.

On February 15, 2018, the Company acquired a 49% interest in a newly incorporated Cultivar JA Limited, ("CJA") a
corporation incorporated under the laws of Jamaica. 7hs remaining 51 %interest is owned by local Jamaican business
partners. CJA is currently applying for a license to grow high quality cannabis in Jamaica.

On July 16, 2018 the Company acquired a 100% interest in a newly incorporated CannlP Holdings Inc. (formerly
2639745 Ontario Inc.) ("Cann") a corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario. Cann is engaged
in the development of cosmetic and edible product lines, as well as investment in technology to detect an individual
influence of cannabis. The Company did a one for one share exchange with Cann and issued 29,800,000 common
shares to the shareholders of Cann.

The Company's corporate head office is located at 77 King Street W, Suite 3000, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5K 1 G8.

Thy Board of Directors of the Company authorized these financial statements for issuance on September 30, 2019.

2. Basis of Presentation and Going Concern

Basis of Preparation

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except far

financial instruments recorded at fair value. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared

using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. The functional currency of the Gompany and

its subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar, which is also the Company's reporting currency.

Statement of Compliance

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements (the "Financial Statements") are unaudited and have been

prepared on a condensed basis in accordance with International Accounting Standard 3~1, Interim Financial Reporting

issued by tiie International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), using accounting policies of Intern~tianal Financial

Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations

Committee ("IFRIG"). Accordingly, they do not include alt of the information required for full annual financial statements

required by IFRS as issued by IASB and interpretations issued by IFRIC. The condensed interim consolidated financial
statements should be read in conj~mction with the annual consolidated financial statements for the period ended

January 31, 2019, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board ("IASB"). The unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements are based on

accounting policies as described in the January 31, 2019 annual consolidated financial statements except that,

effective February 1, 2019, the Company im{~lemented IFRS 16 'Leases' (see notes 15 and 16).

Basis of Consolidation

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries
CJA and Cann from the date of acquisition. The Company has ~ 49% interest in CJA, and 100% interest in Cann. All
inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

2. Basis of Presentation and Going Concern (ConYd)

Going Concern Assumption

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using IFRS on a going concern basis, which presumes

the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business, for the next fiscal year. At July

31, 2019, the Company had cash of $1,717,105, working capital of $1,920,954 and an accumulated deficit of $611,970.

The continuing operations of the Company are dependent on funding provided by equity investors. The Company

intends to finance its future requirements through a combination of equity and/or debt issuance. There is no assurance

that the Company will be able to obtain such financings or obtain them on favorable terms.

This uncertainty may cast significant doubt about the ability of the Company fo continue as a going concern. These

consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying value or presentation of asseEs or

liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. These adjustments

could be.material.

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make

certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts

of assets, liabilities, shareholders' equity, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as at the date of the
financial statements, and expenses for the years reported.

Critical Judgements

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements regarding the

going concern of the Company (discussed above), as well as the determination of functional currency. The functional

currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates and has been determined

for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for the Company and its subsidiaries has been determined

to be the Canadian dollar.

Kev Sources of Estimation Uncertaint

Because a precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the preparation of

financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assts and liabilities and the disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the re~ort~cl amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. Flctual results could differ from those

estimates and such differences could b~ significant.

Significant estimates made by management affecting the consolidated financial statements include:

Share-lased payments

Estimating fair value for granted stock options requires determining the most appropriate valuation model which is

dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate

inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the option, volatility, dividend yield, and rate of forfeitures

and making assumptions about them.



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

2. Basis of Presentation and Going Concern (Cont'd)

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates (Cont'd)

Deferred tax assets & liabilifies

The estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets and liabilities based on an
assessment of the Company's ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income prior
to expiry of those deductions. Management assesses whether it is probable that some ar al! of the deferred income
tax assets and liabilities will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities is dependent
upon the generation of future taxable income, which in turn is dependent upon the successful discovery, extraction,
development and commercialization of mineral reserves. To the extent that managements assessment of the
Company's ability to utilize future tax deductions changes, the Company would be required to recognize more or fewer
deferred tax assets or liabilities, and deferred income tax provisions or recoveries could be affected.

Useful life of~roper~ty and equipment

Property and equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful life, Estimated useful lives are determined based on
current facts and past experience and tikes into consideration the anticipated physical life of the asset, the potential
for technological obsolescence, and regulations.

Approval of the consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on September 30,
2019.

3. Significant Accounting policiQs

The accounting policies set out in the consolidated financial statements at January 31, 2019, have been applied

consistently to ail periods presented in these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.

New standards adoptad

{a) Leases and right-of-use assets

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 - Lc;ases ("IFRS 16"), replacing IAS 17 -Leases. IFRS 16 provides a single

lessee accounting model and requires the lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases nn its statement of

financial position, providing the reader with greater transparency of an entity's lease obligations.

,fit F=ebruary 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and accordingly the

information presented for 2018 has not been restated. It remains as previously reported under IAS 17 and related

interpretations.

All leases are accounted for by recognizing aright-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:

- Leases of low value assets; and
Leases with a duration of twelve months or less.



Cuitivar Woidings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

3, Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

New standards adopted {Cont'd)

(a) Leases and right-of-use assets (Cont'd)

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the lease term,

with the discount rate determined by the incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used. Variable

lease payments are only included in the measurement of the lease liability if they depend on an index or rate. In such

cases, the initial measurement of the lease liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout

the lease term. Other variable lease payments are expensed in the period to which they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:

Amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;
- The exercise price of any purchase option granted if it is reasonably certain to assess that option;
- Any penalties payable far terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated on the basis of termination

option being exercised.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives received,

and increased for:

Lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;

- Initial direct costs incurred; and
- The amount of any provision recognized where the Company is contractually required to dismantle, remove or restore

the leased asset.

Lease liabilities, on initial measurement, increase as a result of interest charged at a constant rate on the balance

outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-of-use assets are amortized on a straight~~line basis over

the remaining term of the lease or aver the remaining economic life of the asset if this is judged to be shorter than the

lease term.

When the Company revises its estimate of the term of any lease, it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to

reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted at the same discount rate that applied on

lease commencement. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of future

lease payments dependent an a rate or index is revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying

value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being amortized over the remaining (revised) lease

term. The Company adopted this standard and the impact on the Company's unaudited condensed interim consolidated

financial statements are disclosed in notes 15 and 16.

(b) Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments: On June 7, 2017, the IASQ issued IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments. Thy Interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for current and deferred tax liabilities
and assets in circumstances in which there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Company adopted this
standard at February 1, 2019 and there was no material impact on the Co~r~pany's ~maudited condensed interim
consolidated financial statements.

Other accounting standards and amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued and have future
effective dates are not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's financial
statements.



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Gondensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

a. Acquisition

On February 15, 2018, the Company acquired a 49% interest in a newly incorporated company, CJA, incorporated
under the laws of Jamaica. The remaining 51 %interest is owned by local business partners. CJA is currently applying
for a license to grow high quality cannabis in Jamaica. No consideration was given for the acquisition.

On July 16, 2018 the Company acquired a 100% interest in a newly incorporated company Cann, incorporated under
the laws of the province of Ontario. Cann is engaged in the development of a CBD product portfolio, as well as artificial
intelligence powered technology to detect cannabis impairment. The Company did a one for one share exchange with
Cann and issued 29,800,000 common shares to the shareholders of Cann, valued at X30. The net assets acquired on
the acquisition were determined to be valued at $30, resulting in no gain or loss on the transaction.

5. Letter of Intent

On December 12, 2018, the Company entered into anon-binding letter of intent with Admiral Bay Resources Inc.

("Admiral") with respect to a reverse take-over transaction which would ultimately result in the Company's common

shares being listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange. As of July 31, 2019, the Company advanced $99,526

(January 31, 2019 $68,526) to Admiral to repay its loans and part of its payabies and incurred $107,599 as legal and

finders' fees which is classified as deferred costs to be expensed when this transaction is completed (January 31, 2019

$61,474).

6. Prepaid expenses

As of July 31, 2019, a sum of $34,241 (USD $26,043) is unexpended by CJA, which was advanced to its director for

future expenses, and classified as prepaid expenses ire the consolidated statement of financial position (January 31,

2019: $26,672 (USD $20,292)).

7. Property and Equipment

Cost

Balance as at December 6, 2017
Additions
Qalance as at January 31, 2019
Additions
Balance as at July 31, 2019

Accumulated Amortization

Balance as at December 6, 2017
Amortization
Balance as at January 31, 2019
Amortization
Balance as at July 31, 2019

Net Carrying Amounts

Equipment 
Leasehold 

Total
Improvement

$ - $ - $
8,585 9,916 18,501

$ 8,585 $ 9,916 $ 18,501

$ 8,585 $ 9,916 $ 18,501

- $ - $ -
2,~46 2,249 4,395

$ 2,146 $ 2,219 $ 4,395
966 1,F340 2,806

$ 3,112 $ 4,089 $ 7,201

As at January 31, 2019 $ 6,439 $ 7,667 $ 14,106
As at July 31, 2019 $ 5,473 $ 5,827 $ 11,300

1 1



Cultivar Holdings Ltt3.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited}

8. Stock-Based Compensation

a) In October 2018, the Company granted options to a consultant to acquire a total of 250,000 common shares. These
options were issued at an exercise price of $0.10 per share and vested 75,000 immediately, 37,500 at the date of
engineering milestone (vested during the period ended July 31, 2019) and balance 137,500 on completion of additional
milestones, including 75,000 on model development and 62,500 on project handover, with an expiry term of two years.
The fair value of each option used for the purpose of estimating the stock-based compensation is estimated using the
Biack-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

Risk free rate 2.26%
Expected dividends 0%
Expected forfeiture rate 0%.
Expected volatility 1D0%
Expected life 2 years
Unvested stock-based compensation expense as of January 31, 2019 $ 9,272

During the six-month period ended July 31, 2019, the Company expensed $1,987 relating to the vesting of 37,500
options, resulting in unvested stock-based compensation expense of $7,285 as of July 31, 2p19.

b) In November 2018, the Company granted options to a consultant to acquire a total of 100,000 common shares.
These options were issued at an exercise price of $0.10 per share and vested 25,000 immediately, and 25,000 each
on April 1, 2019, September 1, 2019 and March 1, 2020 with an expiry term of three years. The fair value of each
option used for the purpose of estimating the stock-based compensation is estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions:

Risk free rate 2.30%
Expected dividends 0%
Expected forfeiture rate 0%
Expected volatility 100%
Expected life 3 years
Unvested stock-based compensation expense as of January 31, 20'19 $ 4,686

During the six-month period ended July 31, 2019, the Company expensed $1,562 relating to the vesting of 25,000
options, resulting in unvested stock- based compensation expense of $3,124 as of July 31, 2019.

As of July 31, 2019, there was $10,409 (January 31, 2019: $13,958) of unvested stock-based compensation expense.

No options were issued during the period from incorporation on December 7, 2017 to July 31, 2018, and hence no
stod<-based compensation was incurred during that period.

Continuity of the Company's options is as follows:

Number of Weighted Average

Options Exercise Price

Outstanding, December 7, 2017 - ~ -

Issued 350,000 $0.10

Outstanding, January 31, 2019 and July 31, 2019 350,000 $0.10

12



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

8. Stock-Based Compensation (Cont'd)

As at July 31, 2019, the Company had the following share purchase options outstanding and exercisable:

t2emaining Life
Outstanding Exercisable Exercise Price (Years) Expiry Date

250,000 112,500 $0.10 1.24 ~~ October 25, 2020

700,000 50,000 $0.10 2.28 November 8, 2021

350,000 ~~ 162,500 $0.10 1.54

9. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue the following shares:

• Unlimited number of common shares

a) Common shares

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends which are declared from time to time and are entitled

to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares are ranked equally with regards to the Company's

residual assets.

At July 31, 2019, the Company has 94,077,500 common shares issued and outstanding.

b) Share issuances

burin the eriod ended July 31. 2019:

• The Company issued 800,000 common shares at $0.10 for services. This includes 550,000 common shares
issued to a director valued at $55,00 (Note 10).

During the period ended January 31 20,19:

• The Company issued 30,000,000 common shares, as founders' shares, for $30.
• The Company issued 29,800,000 common shares in a share exchange agreement with Cann, valued at $30

(Note 4).
• The Company issued 24,995,000 common shares at $0.05 per share in private placements and raised

$1,249,750. The Company issued 275,000 common shares as finders shares.
• The Company issued 8,207,500 common shares at $0.10 der share in private placements and raised

$8?_0,750.

I n conjunction with the above private placements, the Company incurred casf~ share issuance costs of $29,340.

]3



Cuitivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

10. Related Party Transactions

Related parties include key management personnel, the Board of Directors, close family members and enterprises that

are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions. Key management of the

Company are members of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and the Chief Financial Officer

("CFO").

Transactions with key management personnel not disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements include the

following:

tncorparation on

Six months December 6,

ended July 31, 2017 to July 31,

2019 2018

Management fees to the CEO
Management fees to a director
Management fees (issued in shares) to a director

Management fees to the CFO

Total Management fees
Vehicle expense to the CEO
Rent to the CEO included in leasing and rent costs

$ 48,000 $ 8,000

$ 18,000 $
$ 55,000 $
$ 5,085 $

$ 126,085 $ 8,000

$ 3,000 $ 1,750
$ 9,000 $ 5,250

138,085 $ 15,000

Three months Three months
ended July 31, ended July 31,

2019 2018

Management fees to the CEO
Management fees to a director
Management fees (issued in shares) to a director

Total Management fees
Vehicle expense to the CEO
Rent to the CEO included in leasing and rent costs

$ 24,000 $ II,000

$ 18,000 $ -
$ 55,000 $

~ X7,000 ~ a,000
$ 1,500 $ 1,750

$ X1,500 $ 5,250

103,000 $ 15,000

As of July 31, 2019, there was $nil due to any related parties. (January 31, 2019 - $17,113 due to the CEO,
included in accrued liabilities)

~!



Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)

71. Commitments and Contingencies

Effective July 1, 2018, the Company signed atwo-year contract with a corporation owned and controlled by the CEO

to pay monthly compensation of $8,000 for CEO services. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay monthly rent

for $1,500 and an additional $500 for the use of a personal vehicle.

The Company's operations were governed by governmental laws and regulations regarding environmental protection.

Environrr~ental consequences are difficult to both predict and identify, in terms of level, impact or timeline. At the present

time and to the best knowledge of its management, the Company is in conformity with the laws and regulations in

effect. Restoration costs will be accrued in the financial statements only when they will be reasonably estimated and

will be charged to the earnings at the time.

'12. Financial instruments

The fair value of the Company's accrued liabilities and loans and advances approximate carrying value, due to their

short-term nature. The Company's cash is measured at fair value under the fair value hierarchy based on level one

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Financial risk management and objectives

The Gompany's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk (including
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, and commodity price risk).

The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact and
likelihood of those risks. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpecked loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations. 1"he Company is not exposed to significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations as

they come due. The Company's liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital

market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the

Company. The Company generates cash flows primarily from its financing activities.

The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled costs. Liquidity is measured in various

time bands, on day to day and week-to-week basis, as well as on long term liquidity needs over 180 day to 3G0 day

look out periods. Funding for long term liquidity needs is based on the ability of the Company to successfully complete

private placements.

As at July 31, ?_019, the Company had sufficient cash of $1,717,105 to settle current liabilities of X37,517.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, commodity and
equity prices, and foreign exchange rates.
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Cultivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

12. Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

Financial risk management and objectives (ConYd)

(a) lnferest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.

(b) Price nsk

The Company is not exposed to significant price risk as it does not possess investments in publicly traded securities.

(c) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument denominated in a foreign

currency will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company operates internationally, which

gives rise to the risk that cash flows may be adversely impacted by exchange rate fluctuations. Amounts subject to
currency risk are prepaid expenses held by a Director in US Dollars in a Jamaican bank account as well as operating
expenses incurred by CJA in US Dollars and Jamaican Dollars. As at July 3~, 2019, the Company had net financial
assets denominated in US pollars of approximately $34,000 (January 31, 2019 — $26,700). Therefore, a 10% change
i n value of the US Dollar versus the Canadian Dollar would give rise to a gain or loss of approximately $3,400 (January
31, 2019 —X2,670}. The Company has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts to hedge this risk.

13. Capital Management

The Company considers its capital to be shareholders' equity, which is comprised of share capital and deficit, which
as at July 31, 2019 totaled $1,940,066. The Company's capital structure is adjusted based on the funds available to
the Company such that it may continue to seek new opportunities. The Board of Directors does not establish
quantitative return on capital criteria, but rather relies on the expertise of management and other professionals to
sustain future development of the business.

The sources of future funds presently available to the Company are through the sale of equity capital or debt of the
Company. The ability of the Company to arrange such financing in the future will depend in part upon the prevailing
capital market conditions as well as the business performance of the Company. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing, if needed, on terms satisfactory to the
Company.

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There was no change to the Company's approach in capital
management during the period. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital restrictions.

14. Share Subscriptions

The Company received $478,944 in cash as subscriptions for private placement of 1,915,776 units at $0.25 per unit.
The subscriptions were closed on August 12, 2019. (Refer to note 1 ~). Each unit is comprised of one common share
and one-half of one common share purchase warrant (each whole warrant, a "Warrant"), with each Warrant exercisable
i nto a common share of the Gompany at an exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of 24 montP~s.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

15. Right-of-use Asset

IFRS 16-right-of-use asset recognition (Note 16} $24,38A

Right -of-use asset at February 1, 2019 $24,384

Amortization (6,Q96)

Balance, Juiy 31, 2019 $18,288

Right-of-use asset consists of lease for warehouse space amortized over 25 months.

Maturity analysis-contractual undiscounted cash flows

As at July 31, 2019

Less than one year $14,557

Greater than one year $ d,491

Total undiscaunted lease obligation $23,048

16. Lease Liability

At the commencement dake of the leases, the lease liability was measured at the present value of the lease payments

that were not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using an interest rate of 18% which is the

Company's increm~ntai borrowing rate. The continuity of the lease liabilities is presented in the table below:

Balance February 1, 2019 $24,384

Interest accretion expense $2,159

Lease payments made during the period $(4,146)

Balance July 31, 2Q~19 $22,397

As at July 31, 2019

Less than one year $11,921

Greater than one year $10,476

Total lease obligation $22,397
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Cuitivar Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2019
(in Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)

17. Segment Information

The Company is a holding company whose subsidiary in Jamaica is in the early stage marijuana services and products,
and another subsidiary in Canada is in the early development of a CBD product portfolio, as well as development of
artificial intelligence powered technology to identify if someone is under the influence of cannabis and to predict
substanca addiction.

There are no revenues during the periods presented. All assets are located in Canada except for property and
equipment for $11,300 (January 31, 2019 - $14,106}, right of use asset for $18,288 (January 31, 2019 - $Nil) and
prepaid expenses for $34,241 (January 31, 2019 - $26,672) which are located in Jamaica.

18. Subsequent events

a) On August 12, 2019, the Company closed a private placement of 3,296,000 units at $0.25 per unit for a
consideration of $824,000, of which $478,9~1~ was received during the period ended July 31, 2019 (Note 14). Each
unit is comprised of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant (each.wh.ole warrant,
a "Warrant'), with each Warrant exercisable into a common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.50
per share for a period of 2~l months. The Company paid finder's fees of $A9,320 in cash and issued 66,400 common
shares at $0.2.5 per share.

b) Merger transaction:

Parties to the Transaction: Admiral Bay Resources Inc. (the "Corporation"), a public company existing under the
laws of British Columbia, Cultivar Holdings l.td. ("company"), and 2693980 Ontario Ir~c. ("admiral Sub"), a private
company incorporated under the laws of Ontario.

Description of the Transaction: Effective September 23, 2019, the Corporation completed the previously
announced acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by way of athree-cornered
amalgamation, pursuant to which the Admiral Sub amalgamated with the Company {the "Transaction"), Pursuant
to the Transaction, each registered shareholder of the Company (a "Company Shareholder") received one (1)
common share in the capital of the Corporation for each Company common share held (each a "Company Share"),
resulting in the issuance of an aggregate of 97,439,900 common shares of the Corporation to Company
Shareholders. As part of the Transaction, warrants of Company were replaced with common share purchase
warrants of the Corporation. in addition, 500,000 Company shares were set aside to be issued to members of
company's management team upon the final approval of Jamaica's Cannabis Licensing Authority for the licences
involved in the cultivation, processing, retail and transportation of cannabis. At the time of closing, the Company
also had outstanding warrants exercisable into an aggregate of 1,648,000 Company shares at a price of $0.50 per
share until August 12, 2021.

The Corporation also changed its name from "Admiral Bay Resources Inc." to "Cultivar Holdings Inc.". Following
completion of the Transaction, the directors and officers of the Corporation are as follows: Sheldon Kales (Director
and Chief Executive Officer), Dr. Rahul Kushwah (Qirector and Chief Operating Officer), Rakesh Malhotra (Chief
Financial Officer), Tom Sipos (Director), and Ajit Kumar (Director).
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Admiral Bay Resources Inc,

MAN1IGEMENT DISCUSSION &ANALYSIS

FORM 51-102F1

Por the year ended July 31, 201fl

November 2C, 201£3

This mantrgement's discussion and analysis provides un attalysis of our financfa] situation which will e~lable the
reader to evaluate important variations in our financial situaciort for the year ended July 31, 2018, compared to
the year ended July 31, 2017. This report prepared as aC November 2l, 201d Intends to complement a~td
supplement our financial statements (the 'financial statements') as at July 31, 2018 and should be read in
conJunction with the financial statemenCs and the accompanying notes, which have been prepared in according
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Our financial statements and the management's discussion and a~~alysis are inCended to provide n reasonable
base for ttre investor to evaluate ourfrnancia] situation.

Our financial statements have been ~~reparec! using accounting policies consrsterit with hiternational Financial
Reporting Standards ("U~RS ). ~t11 dol(nr nniounts rpntained in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars,
unless otherwise specified.

Where we say "we ; "us'; "our'; the "Company" or 'Admiral Hay'; we mean ~l dmiral Ray Resources Inc., as it may
apply,

Management is responsible jor the preparation and ineeg~~ity of the financial staCernents, including the
mAtntenAnce of appropriate i~if'ormc~tion systems, procedures a~~d internal rontrols. Management is also
responsible fog- ensuring that information disclosed exCernaUy, including the financial statements and
Management Discussion and Analysis ("MD&,4'), rs complete ant! reliable.

A11 dollar amou»ts included therein and in the following MD&A are expressed itt Canr~dinn dollars except where
noted. Ti~is disc~.~ssion concain.r forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, Such
information, although considered to be reasonable by the Company's management rat the time of preparation,
may prove to be inaccurate and actual r-esufts may differ materially from t)~ose anticipated in tf~e statements
made. Additional infnrmntron on the Company is nvnilal~le for viewing on SF,DAR at www.sedar•cnrn.

OVERVIEW AND DESCRIP'I'lON OF BUSINESS

Admiral C3ay Resow•ces Inc. ("eke Com~>any") was a•iginally incorporated ~mder Che name Riviera
Explorations LCcI. par~suant to the Business Corporations Act (l3i•itish Columbia) on September 3, 19II7, l~l
1993 the Com~~any chapped its name to {Centucicy Oi] &Gas Inc, quid in 19~)h co li~tegrated Card'Cechnologies
inc„ in 1991 to Arizona Ventures t.td., and on ~u~;i~st 31, 199£3 Co Admiral Bay Resources Inc. 'i'he Company
was a listed issuer on the 7'SX-V under the symbol "AD(3". On December 6, 2011 a Cease trade order was
issu~~~d by the directo~~ of the 13CSC for noC meeting t:he required financial statements filing requirements.

On Fc~brurary ?.3, 7016, C{ie BCSC issued a ParCial RevocaCion Order to solely permiC each of the Definitive
llgreerraent, including the P~mdang Provision, and the Reorganization Agreement. The Company proposed tc>
negotiate a Definite Agree~7~ent Co enter into an amalgamrition agreement with an Alberta corporation and a
British Columbia corporation, both to be created, die Reorganization Agreement. The Definitive agreement
would also contain th~~ l~tmding Provision to cover the costs Co bring the rec~taired filings up to date, The
Definite Agreement was not completed,



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION &ANALYSIS
I~OR 7'1lG YEAR ~NDCD JULY 31, 20113

On May 1t, 201 fl, the Company received Che following revocation orders:

• Revocation Order dated May 16, 201f3 from the British Columbia Securities Commission to a Cease

Trade Oi•der ("CTO") previously issued on llecember 6, 2011; and

• Revocation Order dated May J.6, 201fl from the Alberta Secw•ities Commission to a CTO previously

issued on March 5, 2012.

The C'1'Os were issued by the f3CSC and the ASC, as a result of tlae failw~e of tl~e Company, wider its previous

management, to file annual audited financial statements and related ma~aabemeixt discussion and analysis

within the rec3uired time. The Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its

continuous disclosure records on SEDf~R up to date. As a condition for receiving the revocation orders, Che

Company has provided the Commissions with ~n w~derCalting To hold Sts annual shareholders' meeting within

three months after the CTOs are revoked.

Management is currently seeking new opportunities as it does noC hold any material resource property
interests at this time.

'the Company is engaged in the business of acquiring, exploring and developizlg naCu~a1 resource properties,
with a focus on emerging unconventionail gas production. Admiral Ray's registered of'f'ice is located at II10 -

7II9 West Fender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, VGC 1N2.

CORPOf2f~TE D[sVGLOPMENTS AND SIGNITICANT TRAIV5AC'T'IONS ANB FnC.TORS AI~I~T~C7'1NG RGSULT5

OC' OPIiM2A'1'IONS

Anuouiace►nents

During the year, Che Company announced the Following:

• The Company appointed Mr, Joel Dumaresq to its Board of Directors.
• The Company has appointed Mr. Johannes ('C'heo) van der Linde, a current member of thr board of

directors (the "Board") Company, as Thief Executive Officer and President of the Company to fill ehe
vacancy left by Mr, Steven 'Tedesco who resigner] and;

• The Company appointed Mr. Cugene I3eukn~an, also a cw~renC member of'the Board, as the Company's
Chie(Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary,

Equity

On July 25, 2018, the Company completed anon-brokered private placemenC and issued an aggregate of
6,000,000 co~rimon sltai-es For gross proceeds of ~6,000. '1'lle Company intends to use die private placement
(ands far wot~kin~; capit<.a) purposes.

During t:he year ending July 31, 2017 there were no equity transacCions.

OVERALL PIiR1~ORNIANCE

At July 31, 2U1(3, the Company had no revenue had accumulated losses of $50,7.55,790 ("1017 - bS0,2,13,105)
since its inception and has ne~aeive~ working capital of $70,306 (2017 -$33,6']1). 1'he (:ompany incarred
losses of ~uxl reported a net loss and comprehensive Ivss of $42,GII5 (2017 - $14,750) for the year. "Phe
Cotnp~~ny used $26,505 cash in operai:ing activities. During ]lie year ended July 31, ?.01£3, tl~e Company
generated cash through financing activities as it obtained three separate loans and a private piaceiz~erit for
total gross proceeds of $37,526.



MANAGEMENT DXSCUSSION &ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR EN~CD JULY 31, 2018

SELGCTL'D ANNUAL INFORMATION FOR'C~1E PAST TIIR~~ YL'ARS

'I'lie following table summarizes selected financial data for the Company for each of the three most recently

cornpleked financial years. "I'he information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the Financial

Statements, Financial StaCements fot• all years presented are prepared in accordance with 1FRS,

Flsi~al Years Ended ruly 31,

201f3 2017 201G

Total Revenue -

Total Assets 17,671 2,652, 1,326

'Ibtal non-current financial liabilities - -

'Potallia~ilitics F37,977 36,273 20,197

Net loss for the year h2,(II5 ~ 14,750 9,A•h9

Basic and diluted loss per share [0.07) ~ (0.03} (0.02)

Total assets in 2018 increased as a result of the proceeds frorri loans obtained in fhe current year, Net loss

has increased frown previous years due to increased activity in 201£3 and 2017. In 2017, net loss was made

up mainly due to professional fees and in 201II rent and transfer agent costs conh~ibuted to the increased

losses,

T3USIN~SS STRATEGY

Management is cw~rently seeking new opportunities as it does not hold any material resatu~cc property

interests at this time. The Company is engaged in die business of acquiring, exploring; and developing natural

resource properties, with a 1`ocus ~n emerging unconventional ~;as piroducCion,

RF.SUI,I'S OI~ OPT;RAT101VS

Flll of the balances set out in this and following sections, including the summary of quarterly results conform

to IP}2S standards.

For the Years F.,nded Juty 31,

expenses
Consulting fees
Office and miscellaneous
Professional fees
Rent
'I'~•ansf'era};enCand filin~ees

"Cotal expenses
Otlaea~ items
InteresC income
Recovery of'exi~enses

2(318 2017

$ $

4,524
2,774
10,645 1.9•,200
l."~,.''iQ0 -
10,95f3 550

(44,401) (19,750)

1'L 4 -
1,59'L -

Loss and co~~rei~ensive Loss for tl~e year_ --- -_ _~ ~Z,6f35~ ----- 14,750

l.,oss and comprehensive loss per share -basic and diluted (Q07) (0.03)
Weighted average number of shares ouCst~inding -basic and
diluted 61'1,f379 51h,249



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION &ANALYSIS
r01i'I'Fiti YBAI2 INDED JULY 31, 201II

Aor the yeas• ended July 31,'2018 compared to the year ended July 31, 2017

The Company recorded net loss of $h2,6II5 for ehe year ended July 3~, 201II compared to a net loss of $14,750

for ehe year ended July 31, 2017. Some of the significant charges to operations are as Follows;

• General and Administration expenses of $2,77h ('L 017 - Nil) consisted mainly of postage, courier and
banit charges as new banlr accounts were opened f'or the Company.

• I'rofessionat fees of $10,6h5 (2017 -X14,200) decreased by $3,555 mainly due to the accounting charges
that was Higher in the prior yeas• incurred in the previous period to bring the accounting a•ecords and
financial statements up to date.

• Rent expea~se of $15,500 (2017 - $Nil) incurred for the current period. The Company had nn rental

obligations in the prior year.
• Transfer agent and ding fees of 410,95II (2017 - ̀  550), An increase of $10,408 was incurred in the year

ended July 3~, 2018 to comply wiCh its rebulaCory filing requirements to bring Che Company into good
standing.

• Recovery expenses increased to $1,592 (2017 - $Nil). The compaa~y expensed claimable historical
GS'I'/1157' amounts and intends to collect,'Phus, the Company recorded a recovery to expenses of $1,592.

Cash flow A~ialysis
Operating activities
During the year ended July 31, 2018 and 2017, cash used in operating activities was $26,508 and $Nil,
respectively. The increase is primarily due to greater spending on operational activities as discussed aUove,

~'1T7Ql1CIng pGC1VIC7P.S

During the year ended Ju(y 3"(, 20113 the Company obtained three separate loans for Lotal gross proceeds of
.$31,526. The loans are tugsecured, non-interest bearing and due oz~ demand. In addition, the Company
completed anon-brokered private placement issuing, 6,f300,0~0 common shares and raised Gross proceeds of
$6,000. The Company had no cash and these loans and private placement enabled the Company to pay for
necessary expenses as they occur in the process to comply with its reg~ilato~y filing requirements to bring the
Company in good standing.

SUMMARY Or QUAR1'GRI.Y RESULTS

C̀'he table below presents selected financial data for the Company's eight most recently completed quarters,
all prepared in accot•dance wiCh If~l'2S.

J ul 3'1 n~n~ 30 j~n 31 Oct 31 jtil 31 liar 30 Jan 31 Oct 31
201Q 201Q 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016

Deficit and Cash l-low

1nCerest revenue - - - - - - -
N~~C income (loss) ("Z0,362) (10,603) (6,£335) (4,£3II5) ('1,500) (2,050) (1,500) (9,700)
Basic and diluted
gain (loss) per share ----_~0.03~._.__._.__~~.~2~ ~01~--__~~ (0_00 O.OQ~___ (D.00)_--- x,02

Bnhnice Sheet
'Total F1sseCs 17,671 1'l.,l33F3 'L0,232 '1,821 "7.,65'2 2,6:i2 2,652 2,652
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Over the last eight quarters operational expenses fluctuated mainly due to professional fees and rent charges
as spending as well as attempts to preserve casi~ spending on general and administrative attd the facC that
operations have been put on hold for a period of time.'I'he quarter ending October 31, 201.6 show an increase
in net loss due to an audit expense that exceeded provisions. The quarter ending October 31, 20 7 and
January 31, 'L018 shows increased expenses as it includes rental expenses. 1'he Company had no rental
obligations in the comparative periods. The quarter ending January 31, 201II also includes transfer agent and
filing fees to comply with its filing requirements, 'Che quarter ending July 31, 2018 and April 36, 2018 show
increased expenses as it includes rental expenses and filing fees.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

"Phe annual financial statements have been prepared on a going-co~icern basis, which assumes the realization
of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. Continuing operations, as intended, are
dependent on management's ability to raise required funding thirough loans, debentures and Future ec~uiry
issuances, ics ability to acquire resow•ce properly or business interests and develop profitable operations or a
combination thei•eoE, which is not assured, given today's volatile aid uncertain financia] markets, The
Company may revise future plans depending on its working capiCal position.

As at July 31, 201II the Company had a negative working capital of $70,306 Ouly 31, 2017 - $33,621). Current
assets primarily consisted of, cash of $11,018 (July 31, 2017 - $Nil), receivables of $6,653 (July 31, 2017 -
$2,652). Cun~ent liabilities, being loans payable of $31,520 (July 31, 2017 - $Nil), accounts payable and
accrued liabilities as at July 31, 2018 amounted to $56,h51 (duly 31, 2017 - $36,273). i2efer to the am~ual
financial statements for the years ended July 31, 201II and 2017 for more information on the use of cash in
operat:in~, investing and financing activities.

Other than the above mentioned ctarrent liabilities, the Company has no shorC-Cerra capital spending
r~equiz•eme~lts and future plans and expectations are based an the assumption that the Company will realize
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business rather than through a ptrocess of forced
liquidation, 'Phere can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the
future or if available that such financing will Ue on acceptable terms, If adegiiace financing is not avai)able
when required, the Company may be reyttired to delay, sca)e back or eliminate various programs and may be
linable to conti~lue in operation. The Company may seek such additional Financing through debC or• luture
equity offerings. any equity offering wiU result in dilution to the ownership interests of the Company's
shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interesCs.

OPr-T3[1LANCG SHEET 11RR.ANGBMENTS

The Cumpany sloes not utiliae off-balance sheet arrangements,

DIRECTORS AND OPrICERS

7'he Directrn•s and OFficers of the Company f'or the year ended July 31, 201£3 arc as follows:

'1`I~eo van der Linde Director, President and CGO
l;ugene }3eulsman Director, CFO and Corporate Secretary
Joel~Dumaresq Director
Steven'i'edesco Director, E~orrner 1'resident, Former CEU and Former Secretary
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TR/1N5AC1'IONS WITI1 RGLATTiD PAR"PIGS

ICey manageu~enC compensation was Anil for the year ended {illy 31, 201£3 and 2017.

During Che year ended July 31, 2018 and 2017, Che Cotnpariy entered into h~ansactions with related parties
comprised of Directoz•s, Officers and Companies with commo~i Directors.

Yeaa•s ended
]uly 31, July 31

2018 2017

Consulting fees to a private company controlled by Lugene 13eulcman h,50Q -
Professional fees to a private company conh•olled by Eugene C3euliman 3,50Q -
Itenc to private companies controlled Tlleo van del• Linde and 6u~;ene Beukman 15,SOQ
Filing fees eo a private companycontrolled b~Eugene Beul<man ^_ 1,100
'Dotal 24,G00 -

The amounCs dtte Co related parties consist of the tbllowing as at July 31, 201£3 and July 31, 2Q17:

2018 2017

~
$ $

~-Included i~a accounts payab]e 25,474
Included inloans payable 21,526 ~ _~ T_____

Due to related parties 47,000 -

An amount of $21,526 (2017 - $Nil) is included in loans due to related parties above and it is for working
capital purposes. The amounts due to Che related parties are w~secured, nou-inte~•est beaeing and due on
demand.
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rOURTFI QUAK"CL'R I2~SULTS

The Company incurred a loss of $20,362 in the fourth quarter x(2018 (2017 - $1,5D0) and show increased

expenses of $20,57II as it includes general and adminisCration, consulting, rental expenses and ding fees.

Quarte►• ended July 31,
20113 2017

$ $
Expenses

Consulting 4,524
General and adminiseration 2,~~9
Professional Tees 5,640 1,500
Rent 6,500 -
'I'ransfe~• agent and filing fees 

~
2,995 -

Total expenses ~ (22,078) (1,500)
Other Items

Jnterest income ~Z`~
Recovery of expenses 1,59'L

Loss and comprehensive loss ~~~~ ~ (20,362) (1,500)

Basic and diluted loss per share (Q.03) (0.00)

CRITICAL, ACCOUNTING ESTIMA'I'GS AND JUDGEMfiNTS

The preparation of the Company's Financial statements requires management to make certain estim.~l:es,
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the i-eporCed expenses d"uring the period, Significant areas where judgmenC is
applied include the carrying value ana recoverability of mineral property costs and Che valuations of t}ie non-
cash kransactic~ns, Flccuai results could differ from these esCimates. Estimates and assumpCicans are conCinually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectaeions of future events
t:haC are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. }iowever, actua] outcomes can differ from these
estimates. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant rislt of causing material adjustments to the
Company's fi~iancial slatemei~ts are addressed below.

(i) Clue $nil provision for income taxes which is included in the st~temez~ts of loss anti comprehensive
loss and composition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities included in the statements of
financial position.

FINANCIAL INS'1'ItUMI?N7'S ANI) KiSiCS

The Company's Financial insh~innents consist of cash, loans payable, and accounts payable, The carrying and
fair value an~ow~ts of the Coir~pany~5 f111~i1C1~I lllSh'1i1T1C11CS 1)'0 approximately equivalent due to the relatively
shorC periods to maCurit:Y of thcsc instrumenCs.

'Che Company's risk exposures ar~d the impact on the Company's financial instruments are s~~mmarized
below:
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a cotinterparty's inability to fu1811 its payment obligations.'1'he

Company 1amits its exposure to credit loss for cash Uy placing its cash with high quality financial institutions.

'the credit ris}c for cash is considered negl[gible since the counterparCies are reputable banks with high

quality external credit ratings and customers with no history of default.

Liquidity risk

I..iquidity risk is the risk Chat the Company will not have sufficient liquidity to meet its financSal obligations as

they come due. The Company has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds

t'equired to support tlae Company's normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company

cautions that there are insufficient funds to meet' its short-term business requirements, tatting into account

that there are no cash flows from operatioa~s and iCs holdings of cash and cash equivalents are inadequate to

meet its anticipated obligations.

Histor[cally, the Company's sole source of funding has been •the issuance of equity securities for cash,

primarily through private placemeirts, The Company's access to financing is always uncertai~~, 'There can he

zoo assurance of continued access Co significant equity funding. As at July 31, 201f3, the Company had a

working capital deficiency of $70,30G Quly 31, 2017 - $33,6'L1). In order to meet its longer-term working

capital, the Company Intends on securing further financing Co ensure that those obligations are ~»•openly

discharged. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional

financing on terms satisfacCory to Che Company, If additional Financing is raised by the issuance of shares

fa•om the treasury of the Company, contz•ol of the Company may change, and shareholders may suffer

additional dilution. If adequate financing is not available, the Company may be required to delay, reduce the

scope of, or eliminate one or more operating activities. The Company's financial liabilities generally have

contractual maturities of 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company does not have

sufficient working capital Co carry out all budgeted programs in fiscal 2019 and must secure additional

financing during fiscal 2019 Yo avoid disruption in planned expendihu•es.

Market nisi{

MarlceC risk is the risk of loss that may arise fran changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign

currency and price risk.

2) Interest race risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes iii the mar)cet interest rates,'I'he Company has non-ma[er•ia1 exposure at July 31, 201 3

to interest rate risk through its financial instruments.

b) Foreign currency risk

The Company's financial assets and liabilities are not exposed to foreign cun•ency ris]c

OTI~It;R iNGORMFITION

nff Balsmce Sheet Items

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Going Concern

'Phe financial statements for the year ended July 31, 207II have been prepared on agoing-concern basis,

which assumes the realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in tl7e normal course of business, Several

material uncet~tainties may cast a significant doubt on the validity of this assumption, The Company has

i~icuri•ed losses since inception and has no current source of revenue, Continuing operations, as intended, are

dependent on management's ability to raise required Funding through future equity issuances, its ability to

acquire resource property or business interests and develop profitable operations or a combination thereof,

which is not assured, given the volatile and uncertain financial markets.

'These financial statements do not include any adjustments to Che recoverability and classification of recorded

asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to

continue as a going concern, alt July 31, 2018, the Company had a deficit of $50,255,'790 (July 31, 2017 -

$50,213,1Q5) and a negative woY•Icing capital of $70,306 (July 31, 2017 • $33,621).

'Chere can be no assurance that the Company will be able Co continue to raise fwids, in which case the

Company may be unable to meet its obligations. Should Che Company be unable to continue as a going-

concern, the net eealizaUle values of its assets may be materially less than the amo~mts recorded on the

statement of financial position.

Manageaxae►ie of capital

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern in order to pursue suitable business opportl~nities and to rriaintain a flexiUle capikal structure
for its projecCs for the benefit of its sl'akeholders. Ati the Company is in the exploration stage and has not
ac}iieved commercia) operations from its projects, its principal source of funds is from Che issuance of
common shares.

!n Che mana~emenl of capital, the Company includes the components of shareholders' deficiency, The
Company manages the capital strucYw~e and males adjuse.men[s co is in light of changes in economic
conditio~is and the rislt characteristics of the underlying assets. Tv maintain or adjust the capital sCructw•e,
the Company m<ay at:ternpt: to issue debt, in tl~~e future issue new shares, enter info }oinC venCure properly
arrangements, acquire or dispose of assets or adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents and
investments.

In order to faciliCate the management of its capital requirements, fhe Company prepares nianChty and annual
exnendiCure budgets that are updated as necessary depending on various factors, including successful capita]
deployment and general industry conditions. 'Phe annual and updaCed budgets are approved by the Board of
DirecCors, The Company's investment policy is to invest its cash in highly liquid short-term interest-bearing
investments with maturities of three months or less front Che original date of acquisiCion, selected with
re~acds to the expected tSming of expenditua•es from continuing operaticros. The Company is uncereain as Co
wheU~er its current capital resotu-ces wi11 be sufficient to carry its futw-e exploration and development ~>lans
a xed operations through its cun~ent vperatinh period and, accordingly, management is reviewing the timing
and scope of cw~rent exploration plans and is also pursuing other financing alCernatives to fund the
Company's operations, There are no changes in the Corr~pany's <3pproach to capital mana~emenf,
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Oiikstanding Share Data

The table below presents the Company's common share data as of November 26, 2018.

Nunabe~• of
common shares Share Price Expiry Date_

Common Shares, issued and outstanding * 6,514,249 N/A N/A
Stock options convertible into common
shares Nil N j/# N/A

Warrants convertible into common shares Nil N/A N/tl

Total outskanding - fully diluted 6, 514,249 ~A N/A

*On July 11, 20:18 the Company consolidated its share capita] on a one-€or-Len basis, 1111 share acid per share

information have been restated to reflect this consolidation for all periods presented.

RISKS AND ~1NC~M2TAINTIF.S

early Stage -Need for Additional Funds

The Company leas no history of profitable operations and its presenC business is at an early stage. As such, tl~e
Company is subjeck to many risks co~tunon to such enterprises, including undercapitalization, cash shortages
and limitations with respect to personnel, financial and ocher resources and the lack of revenues. There is no
assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders' investments and the
lilcelihoad of success must be considered in lighC of its early stage of operations. The Company has no sow~ce
of operating cash flow and no assurance that additional funding, wilt be available to iC for fw•ther exploration
and clevelopmene of its projects when required. Althougk~ the Company has been successful in the past in

ohtaining financi~ig through the sale of equity secu~•ities, there can be no assurance that the Company will be
able to obtain adequaee Cnancin6rn the future or that the terms oP such financing will be favorable, especially
in today's volatile and uncertain financial markets, I'aSlure to obtain such additional financing could result in
the delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration and development of its pro~~erties.

Foreign Country and C'olitical Risk

'l'he Company might from lilac Co time pursue mineral properCies in unstable political or economic counh•ies.
'I'l~e Company would be subject to certain risks, including currency fluctuations and passible poliCical or
eco~iomic instability in certain jurisdictions, which r~~ay result in Clte impairment or loss of mineral
concessions or other mineral righCs. Mineral exploration and mining acCivities may be affected in varying
degrees Uy politic~il instability and ~;ovcrnment reg~~lacions relating to the mining i~ldustry. any changes in
regtilations or' shifts in ~~olitical attitudes may also ~~idversely affect the CoinC~~ny's business. 13xploration may
be affected in varying degrees by govertunent regulations with respect Co restrictions on future ex~>loication
and production, ~n-ice cc>>ltrols, export controls, foreign exchange controls, income taxes, expropri~cion of
piroperty, environmental legislaCion an<l mine and/or site safety. 'Phe Company does not presently
own/pirrsue foreign exploration projects.
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}21SKS AND UNCGRI'A1N'I'IBS (CONTINiJ~D)

I;nvirc>nmental Re6ulations, Permits and Licenses

The Company's operations are subject to varioas laws and regulations governing the protection of the

environment, exploration, development, production, taxes, labor sta~tdards, occupational health a~td safety,
waste disposal, and other maelers. Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and prohibitions on
spills, releases or emissions of various substances produced in association with certai~i mining industry
operations, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas, which would result in enviironmental pollution A
breach of suds legislation may result in impositions of fines and penalties, In addition, certain types of
operations requiz•e the submission and approval of environmental impact assessments, Environmental
legislation is evolving in a direction of stricter standards, and enforcement, and higher fines acid penaleies for
non-responsibility for companies including its directors, officers and employees. The cost of compliance with
changes in governmental regulations has the poCential to reduce the profitability for the Company and its
directors, officers and employees. The Company intends to fully comply with all enviromnental regulations.

Failure Co comply with applicable laws, regulations, and pet•tnrtting requirements may result in enforcement
actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operaeions to cease
or be cui•Cailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional
equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operaeions may be required Co compensaCe those
suffering loss oa• damage by reason of mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties
imposed for violations ofapplicable laws or regulations and, in particular, environmental laws. Amendments
to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining companies, or more
stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impace on the Company and cause increases
in capital expenditures or productions costs or reduction in levels of productions aC producing properties, or
reyuirc~ments abandonment, or• delays in development of new mining proa~erties,

Competition and Agreements with Other Parties

'Che mining industry is intensely competiCive in all its phases, The Company competes with other companies

that have greater financial res<~urces and technical capacity. Competition could adversely affect the

Company's ability Co acquire suitable properties or prospects in the future,

The Company may, in the fu hn•e, be tuiable co meet its share of costs incurred lender agreements to which it is
a party, and it may have its interest in the propet'ties subject to such agreements reduced as a result. Also, if

other parties to such agreements do not meet their share of such costs, the Company may not b~ able to

linance the expenditures required Lo complete recommended programs.

Price Volatility of Public SCock

1~1 recent years, securities markets have experienced extremes in price and volume volatility, The market
price of securities of many early sCage companies, amo~~g odlers, have experienced fluctuations in price which

may noC necessarily be related to the operating performance, w~derlying assei values or prospects of such
companies. It may be anticipaCed that any market for the Company's shares will be subject to mari<ec trends
~;~~nerally and the value of the Company's shares an a stock exchange may he affected by such volatility.

Iscono~a~ic Conditions

Unfavorable economic conditions may negatively impact the Company's financial viability as a result of
irlci•eased financing costs ancj limited access to capital m~rlcets.
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Dependence on l~auagement

T]~e Company is ve~•y depende~rt upon the personal efforts and commitment of iCs exlsCing management. To
the extent that mana6emenY's services would be tuiavailable for any reason, a disruption Co the operations of

tl~e Company could result, and other persons would be required to manage and operate the Company,

Conflicts of InteresC

The Company's directors and officers may serve as directors and officers, or may be associaCed with other
reporCing companies or have significant shareholdings in other public compaaiies. Ta the extent that such
other companies may participate in business or asset acquisitions, dispositions, or ventures in which the

Company tnay participate, the directors and officers of the Company may have a conflicC of interest in

negotiating and concluding terms respecting the transaction, If a conFlict of interest arises, ehe Company will
follow the provisions of the Business Corporations E~ct, EI'IC1S~1 COltill1~11 ~"Corporations pct°) in dea)ing with

conflicks of interest. These provisions state, where a director/ofecer has such a conflicC, that the

direcCor/officer must aC a meeting of the board, disclose his interest and refi-ain from voting on the matter
unless oCherwise permitted by the Corporations Act. lit accordance with die laws of the Province of British
ColumUia, the direcCors and officers of the Company are recJuSred to act honestly, in good faith and in the best
interests of the Company,

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUERS WI'I'iIQU'C SIGNIFICANT RtiVGNUE

/ldditional disdosw•e concerning Admira) Bay's general and adminiserative expenses and exploration and
evaluation costs is provided in the Company's statement of loss and note disclostues contained in its financial

statements for the year ended July 31, 2018, These sCatements are available on SI;DAR -Site accessed through
www.sedar.com.

n~v~ae~~as

The Company has no earni~lgs or dividend record and is uiililcely to pay any dividends in die foreseeable
future as it intends to employ available fields for mineral exploration and development, Any future

determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the board of directors and will depend on the

Company's financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and such ocher factors as the board

of directors deem relevant,
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Mai~agen~enYs t2esponsibility for rinaz~cial Statements

The information provided in this report, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of

management. In the preparation of these sCatements, estimates are sometimes necessary to male a

deCermination of future values for cerCain assets or' liabilities. Management believes such estimates have been

based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the accompanying financial statemenes. In

contrast to the certificate required under National Instrument 52.109 Certificate of Disclosure in Issuers'

annual and [ntei~im Filings ("NI 52-109"), the Venture issuer Basic Certificate does not include

representations relaCing to the establishment and maintenance of disclosiu~e controls and pr•ocedu~~es

("DC&P") and internal control over financial reporting ("ICrR"), as defined In NI 52-109, in particular, the

certifying officers filing this cerlif'icaCe are not making any ~•epresentations relating to the establishment and

maintenance of:

(i) controls anri ntlier procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be

disclosed by the Company in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under

securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified

insecurities legislation; and

(ii) a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparaCion of financial statements for external purposes in accordance wiCh the Company's GAAP.

'Phe issuer's certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes are in place to provide them with

sufficient la~owledge to support the representations they are malcin~ in this certificate. Investors should be

aware that inherent limitations on the ability of cei•eifying officers of a venture issuer to design and

implement nn acost-effective basis DC&P and [CFR as defined in NT 52-'109 may result in additional risks Co

the quality, reliability, eransparency and eimeliness of intea•im and annual filings and other reports provided

under securities leUisiation.

Natu►•e of tine Securities

The purchase of the Company's securities involves a high degree of rislt and should be undertaken only Uy
invesCoi•s whose financial resources are su[(icienC to enable them to assume such risks. The Company's
securities should not be purchased by persons who camiot afford the possibility of the loss of their euCire
investment. Furthermore, an investment in the Company's securities should not constitute a major portion of
an investor's portfolio.

Pa'oposed 'Il~ansactions

There sire cun~ent~ly no significant proposed Cransactions except as otherwise disclosed in C)~is iVID&A.
Confidentiality agreements and non-binding agreements may be entered into from time to time, with
independenC entities Co allow For discussions of the potential aeq~iisition and/or development of certain
properties.

A~>proval

'Che Board of Directors oversees manabement's responsibility for financial reporting and infernal conCrol
sysl~;~ms through an audit CommiCCee. This C~~mmittee meets periodically with management and annually
wiCh the indepe~ident auditors to review the scope and results of the au~ival ~i~diC and to review the financi~:il
statc:nlents and rei<itcd f~in~incial reporting and internal control matters before Che financial staCemenYs are
approved by the T~oard of Directors and submitCed Co Clue shareholders of the Company. The Board n£
I~ir-ectors of tf~e Company has approved the financial s~atement~s and Che disclosw~e conCained in this Mll&A, A
copy of ehis MD£ul1 will Le provided Co anyone who requests iC,
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Forward I.noking Information

Certain statements in this document constitute "forward-looking statements" and are haled on cui~rerri
expectations and involve ris}cs and uncertainties, referred to above and or in the Company's financial
seacements Por t:he year ended )uly 31, 'L01II, that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from
estimated or anticipated events or results reflected in the forward-looking statements. Gxatnples of such
forward looking statements include statements regarding financial resulCs and expectations for 2019, This list
is not exhaustive and should be considered carefully by prospective investors, who should not place tmdue
reliance ~n such forward-looking sCatements. Factors that could cause actual results, developments or events
to differ materially from those anticipated include, among others, the factors described or referred to
elsewhere herein including, without limitation, under the heading "Risks arui Uncertainties" and/or the
financial statements, and include wianticipated andJor unusual evenCs. Many of such factors are beyond the
Company's ability to control or pt'edict. Actual results may differ materially from those anticipated. Readers of
Chis MD&A are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward looking sCatements due Co their inherent
~mcertainty. forward-looking statements are made based upon management's beliefs, estimates and opinions
on the date the statements are made, which management believes are reasonable, and the Company
undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking statements if these beliefs, estimates and opinions or
other circumstances should change, except as otherwise required by applicable law. These forward-looking
sCatements should not be relied upon as rep~~esenting management's views as of any date subsequent to the
date of this MD&A, AddiCional information, including interim and annual financial statements, circulars and
other disclosure documents, array also Ue exam9ned and/or obtained through the lnterneC by accessing the

Canadian System for Electronic llocument nnalysis and Retrieval (°SLllAR") websike at www.sedar tom.
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['or the nine-month period ended April 30, 2019

July 2, 2019

This rnanagetnent`s discussion and analysis provides an analysis of our Jinancta! situation which wi!! ennble the

render to evaluate important variations in nur financial situntinn fnr• t:he nine-month period ended April30, 2019,

compared to the nine-month period ended ~►pril 30, 2a1Q. This report prepared as at July 2, ?.019 intends to
complement and supplement oi~r condensed interim financia(staternents (the "financial statements') as ut April
30, 2019 and should be read in conjunction with the firrancia! statements and the accompanying notes, for the
period ended April 30, 2019, which have been preJ~ared in accvrdrng with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Ourfir~ancia(statemer2ts and the management's discussion and ai~afysis are intended to provide a reasonable base
for Che investor to evaluate our financial situation.

Uur financial statements hove been prepnred using accountfng policies consistent wiCh lnternatronat Financial
Repor•tin9Standards ("lFRS'). All dol]aramounts contained in ti~is MD&A ai~e expressed in CanQdrnn dollars, unless
otherwise specified.

Where we say "we'; "us'; "our'; the "Company" or 'Admiral i3ay'; we mean ~ldmrra] Buy Resources Inc., as it may
apply.

Management is responsible for the preparation and inteyr-ity of the financial statements, including the
maintenance of appropriate information systems, procedw•es and infernal conh~ols. Mnna~ement is also
responsible f'nr ensuring that informaCrnn disclosed externally, inclur~ing the financial sCatements and
Management Discussion and ~inalysis ("MDBrA'), i.r compicte and reliable.

All dollar amounts included therein and in the Jnllowin,g MDBFl cn~e expressed in Canadian dollars except where
noted, 7'hrs discussion contains forward-(oolcittg statements that involve risks and uncei~tuinties, Such information,
although considered to be reasonablr~ by the CornE~any's n~anngemene atChe time of pre~nrntion, may prove Co be
inaccurate and actual results may differ• materially from those anticipntec! in thn. stntemenCs mode, AddiCional
information ot~ the Company is avarinGle f'or viewing on SEDAR at www.sednr.com.

OVGRVIGW ANU DIiSC1211''I'!ON OF BUSINESS

Admiral Bay Resources Inc, ("khe Company") was originally incorporated under the name Riviera Explorations
l.,td, ptu•suant to i:he Business Corporations 11cc ({3ritish Columbia) on September 3, 19 37. In 1993 the Company
eliangeci its name to ICenfttcicy Oil &Gas Inc„ and in .1994 to Integrated Card "technologies lac., in 1997 to
Arizona Ventw•es Ltd., anct on August 31, 199£3 to Admiral 13ay Resources lne. '1'he Company was a listed issuer
~n the'I'SX-V under d~~e symbol "l1llB". On December E, 2011 a Ceases trade order was issued by Che director of
the I3CSC for not meeting Che required financial st~atement~s filing; requirernent~s.

On February 23, 2016, the 13CSC issued a Partial Revocation Qrder Co solely permit each of Che Definitive
Agreement, including tl~e Fundi~i6 Provision, anti Che rleorganizaCion llgreement. 7'he Company proposed to
negotiate a lleFinite Agreem~:nt eo enter into yin arnalg,.irn~[ion agreement with an Alberta corporation and a
F3ritish Columbia corporation, both to be created, the Reor~aniration Agreement, 'Che L)efinitive agreement
would also contai~t Che Funding Provision [o cover Che costs to bring the re~~giiired filings tip to da[e.1'I~e DefiniCe
Agreement was noC completed.
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OVERVICW AND UGSCRIPTiON OF E3USWESS (CONTINUED)

On May 16, 201f3, the Company received tlae following revocation orders:

• Revocation Order dated May 16, 201E3 from the C3ritish Columbia Securities Commission to a Cease
Trade Order ("CTO") previously issued on December 6, 2011; and

• Revocation Order dated May 16, 201E3 from the Alberta Securities Commission to a CTO previously

issued an March 5, 20J.2,

The CI'Os were issued by the CiCSC and the ASC, as a result of Use failure oP the Company, under its previous

management, to file annual audited financial statements and related management discussion and analysis

within the required time.'Che Company has addressed all oFthe outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its

continuous disclosure records on SEDAR up to date. As a condiCion for receiving the revocation orders, the
Company has provided the Comm9ssions with an underCalcing to hold iCs annual shareholders' meeting within
three months after the C"1'Os are revoked.

Management is ctirr•ently seeking new opportunities as it does not hold any material resource properCy

interests at this time.

The Company is engaged in the business of acquiring, exploring and developing natural resource properties,

with a focus o» emerging unconventional gas production, Admiral Bay's registered office is located at 810

7II9 West Fender Street, Vancouver, t3ritish Columbia, V6C 1112,

CORP~RATF. DEV1iI.OPMEN'I'S AND SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND TACTORS AFrGC'1'ING RL'SUI,TS
QF OP~I2A`I'IONS

Annow~cements

D~u~ing the nine- mont:h period ended April 3U, 2019, Che Company announced ehc following;

• The resignation of Johannes van der Linde, Eugene I3eulctnan, Joel Dumaresq and Steven Tedesco 6•orri
the Board of llirectors; and,

']'lie appointment of Rajendi•a }Cushw~ll, Dr. Rahul ICasl~wal~, and Michelle Butler.

• "1'he Company entered into anon-Finding letter of intent with Cultivar 3loldings Ltd. With respect ro a

reverse Cake-over transaction which would iiltimately result in Che Company's common shares being
listed on the Canadian Sec~n-ities L'xchange.

Equity

D~u'ing the period ending April "30, 'L019 there were no equity transactions.

Daring the year ended July 3~1, 201£3, Che following equiY.y CransacCions were compleeed:

On July 25, 20:t~3, the Company compleked a non-bro)<ered private placement. and issued an aggregate of

6,000,000 co~iunon shares foi- gross proceeds of $6,000. Tk~e Company intends to use the private placement

funds for ~vorl<ii~b capital purposes.

On July 11, 201E3 Che Company consolidated its shire capil~il on a onE-for-t~c.n basis. III share and per share
information have been restated to reFlect ti~is consolidation f'or all periods presented.

Dw~inf; Che year ending )Lily 3'1, 217 there were no equiCy U~ansactions.
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QVERALL PBRE~RMANCG

At Apz~il30, 2019, the Company had no revenue had accumulated losses of $50,26(3,922 Quty 31, 201(3
$50,255,790) since its inception and has negative wori<ing capital of $83,43£3 (July 31, 2013 - A70,306), Tl~e

Company incurred losses of acid reported a net loss of $13,132 (201II - $22,323) for the nine- month period.

BUSINESS STRATF,GY

Management is cur~i•ently seeking new opportunities as it does not hold any material resource properly
interests at this time, The Company is engaged in the business of acquiring, exploring; and developing natural

resource properCies, with a focus nn emerging unconventional gas production.

R~SULTSOF'OPERATIONS

A11 of the balances set out in this and following sections, including Che swnmary of quarterly results that
conform Co 11~RS standards.

Three-month Nine- ~uonth
period ended period ended
Apri130, April '30,

2019 201fl 2019 201E3

$ $ $ $

Aci~niniscrative Cxpenses

Office and miscellaneous 37 19 SiQ 355

Professional fees - 1,620 7,500 5,005

Rent - 3,000 - 9,000

'Transfer ageciC and filing fees - 5,964 5,1141 7,963

37 10,603 13,13'L 22,3?.3

NeY (loss) aiad comprehensive {loss) for
the k~eriods {37} 10,603 (13,132} ('L 2,323)

(Loss) per share -basic and diluted (0.00) (0.00) (OAO) (0.00)

~iWeighted average number of shares .~~
outstandin basic end diluted 6,514,249 5,14'l,"L2G 6,514,249 5,7.h2,22Fi._

Foa• the nine-month period ended April 30, 2019 compared to the nine-month period ended A~~ril '30,

1' 0123

The Company recorder! net loss of $13,132 for the nine-mo~~tl~ period ended April 30, 2019 compared Co a net

loss of $22,323 Por the nine-month period end~~~d 11~~>ril 30, 201E3. Some otChe significanC charges to operations

are as follows:

• Pr~>fessional fees of X7,500 (2018 - $5,005) include general corporate legal, audit and accounting For Che

nine-month pct-iod.

• 12ent expense of $nil (2p1II - 99,040) for the period.
• 'I'r~~nsfer went and filing Fee of $5,1.78 ("J.,p18-:~7,963) for the peri~~d.
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Cash flow Analysis

Operating activities
During the period ended April 3D, 2019 and 2018, cash used in operatiTig activities was $S4,S1II and $23,225,
~•espectively, During llle nine- month period ended April '30, 2019, the Company paid off accounts payable of
$9.7;324• primarily utilizing the cash }'rom financing activities for• $4h,357,

SUMMARY OF Qt)ARTERLY RESULTS

The table below presents selected financial data for the Company's eight most recently completed quarters, all
prepared in accordance with IrRS,

April 30 Jan 31 OcC 31 Jul 31 tlpr 30 Jan 39. Oct 31 Jul 31
2019 2019 201Q 2Q1F3 2018 2018 20]7 20'17

Deficit and Cash Flow
Net income (loss) (37) (9,957) (3,138) (20,362) (1g603) (6,835) (4,t3~5) (1,500)
Basic and diluted loss
per share _ (0.00) ~o.00~ o.00~_---~o.os ~o.oa} ~o.os) ~o,o~~ (o.00

Ftalunce Sleet
Total Assets 1,57"L 1,6013 15,II40 17,671 12,II3II 20,232 2,II21 2,652

Over the last eight quarters operational expenses FluccuaCed mainly due to professional fees and rent charges
as spending as well as attempts to preserve cash spending nn general ar~d administrative and tl~e facC Chat
operalio~~s have Ueeal put on hold for a period of time. The quarter ending October 3:1, 2017 and Januazy 31,
2018 shows increased expenses as it includes rental expenses. ̀fhc Company had no reartal obligations in the
comparative periods. The quarters ended January 31, 2019 and 2018 also included transfer agent and filing
fees to comply with ics filing requirements. The quarter ending July 31, 201£? and April 30, 20'18 show increased
expenses as it includes rental ex~~enses and filing fees.

LIQUIDl1'Y AND CAPITAL RF.SOURCIS

The annual financial staeements have been ~n~epared on agoing-concern Uasis, which assumes the realization
of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. Continuing operations, as intended, are
dependent on management's ability to raise required fundin6 through loans, debentures and future equity
issua~aces, iCs abiliCy Co acquire resource pz~operty or business interests and develop prcifitable operations or a
comUinafion thereof, which is not assured, given today's volatile and unce~~tain Financial marlcets.'Che Company
may revise fuCure plans depending on its working capiCal posiCion.

As at ~lpi•i130, 2019 the Corr~pany had a wori<ing capital deficiency of $II3,h38 (July 31, 2018 - $70,306). Current
assets primarily consisted of, cash of x£357 (July 37, 'l01(3 - $11,O1E~), receivables of $715 (July 3'1, 2013 -
$6,653). Current, liabilities, being loans payable of a75,£3E33 (July 31, 201F3 - $31,5"L6), accounts payable and
accraed liabilities as at April 30, "L019 arnount~d Co 59,127 (July 31, 2018 - $S6,h51), 12efer to the condensed
interim financial statements dated ~rril 30, 'L019 and Che annual financial scateme»ts for the year ended July
31, 201£3 for more in Formation on tl~e tue of cash in nperatinf;, investing and financing activities.

Other th.u~ the above mentioned current liabilities, the Comp~iny has no short-terns capital spending
requirements and fUCure plans and expectations are based on Che assumption Chat the Company will realize its
assets rind discharge its )i~bilities in the n<>r~nal coursr~ of business rather Chan elu•ou~h a process of forced
liquidalion.'Phere can be no assin~ance that the Company will k~e able to obtain adequate financing in the fuCw~e
or if available that such financing will be on acceptable rern~s. If adequate fin~mcing is not ~~vaila~ile
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I.IQUiDI'I'Y AND CAPI'CAL RFSOURCIiS (CONTINUEll)

when required, the Company may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate various programs and may be

unable to continue in operation. The Company may seek such additional financing through debt or future equity

offerings. Any equity offering will result in dilution to Che ownership interests of the Company's shareholders

and may result in dilution to the value of such interests.

OFT-BALANCC SNiGET ARRA.N~GMGNTS

The Company has no off-balance sheet arr•angetneitts.

D1I2ECTORS AND OFFICERS

'The Directors and Officers of the Company for t:he period ended flpril 30, 2019 are as follows:

Rajendra lCushwah CC~O and Direceor
Rahul Kustiwah CEO and Directo~~

Michelle butler Uii•ector

TRANSACTIONS WITH ItELA'I'ED PAR'T'IES

ICey management compensation was $nil foi• the period ended April 30, 2019 and 201 H.

During the nineanoneh period ended April 30, 201f3 and 2017, the Company, has identified its direcCors and

certain senior officers as its 1<ey management personnel, No post-employment Uenefits, other long-term

be~iefits and termination benefits were inctu•red during the periods ended April 3d, 2019 and 2D18.

7'11e amounts due to related parties consist of ehe following as at April 30, 2019 and July 39., ?.018:

April 30, July 31,

2019 201E3

$ $
Included in accounts payable --- -̀T--- "~- '15,474

Included in loans uavable - 21,126

'Total 47.000

'J'lle <arr~ow~ts due to Yl~e related parties are unsecured,non-interesC beari»g and due on de~~~and.
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ADOPTION OT SIGNTI~MCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing these condensed Interim financial statements, die significant accounting policies and. Tlie

significant judgments made Uy management in applying the Company's significant accounting policies and I<ey

sources of estimation uncertainty wex•e the same as those that applied to the Company's audited consolidated

financial statements for the year ended July 31, 2018,

The preparation of condensed interim financial statemea~ts requires that the Company's management make

judgmeiils and estimates of effects of uncertain future events nn t}~e carrying amounts of the Company's assets

and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. Victual future outcomes could differ from present estimates

and judgmenhs, pe>tentially having material future effects on the Company's condensed interim financial

statemenks. Estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and other Pacts

and circumstances, Revisions to estimates and the restilting effects on the carrying amounts of the Company's

assets and liabilities are accounted for prospectively,

Several amendments to existing accounCing standards became effective januaz-y 1, 201II and were first adopted

by the Company commencing August 31, 201II;

IC~RS 15 Revenue from Captracts with Customers

I['RS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to aU contracts with customers, As the

Company does not have any revenue fi~om customers, this change had no impact on the financial staCements.

IFRS 9 Financia!lnstr~unents

A finalized version of IFRS 9 Financial insh•uments replaces (AS 39 Fittancial instruments: Recognition and

Measurement. The standard contains requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets and
liabilities; impairment of financial assets; hedge accounting; and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

carried Forward from !A5 39.'I'his change laad nn impact on the financial staeemenYs,

New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

The Company will be required to adopt the fallowing standards and atnendmenCs issued by the IASIi, as

described Uelow.

Applicable to the Company's annual period beginning on January 1, 'L019:

II~RS 16 Leases

IFRS 1G specifies how an 1FRS reporter will recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. 'Phe standard

pirovides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize asseCs and liabilities for all leases

unless the lease Perm is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value, I,esso~-s continue Co classify

leases as operaCing or finance, with IFRS 16's approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged fl-om its

predecessor, IAS 17 Leases.

The Company has not early-adopted this standard and is currenely assessing the imp~ic[ that Che standard will

have on the condensed interim financial statements.

E'TNANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 121S}{S

ThE^ Company's fin~incial ins4~umenCs consist of cash, ]vans payable, and acco~uiCs payable. ̀l'he cairrying and

Fair value amo~rots of tl~e Company's financial instruments arc tipproximat~c~ly equivalent due ro the rr~latively

short periocls to matw-ity of these insfrumenCs.

7'he Gompaiiy's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instrtunents are summari2.ed below
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TTNANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND R1S1C3 (f,ONTINl1CD)

Credit risk

Credit risk is tkae risk of loss associated with a coimterparty's inability to fulfill its payment obligations. 1'he

Company limits its exposure to credit loss for cash by placing its cash with high quality financial instiCttkions,
The credit risk for cash is considered negligible since the counterparties are i•epueable banks with high quality

external credit t•atings and customers with no history of default.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity rislt is the ris]< Yhat the Company will not have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial obligations as

they came due. The Company has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine ehe funds

required to supporC the Company's normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis, The Company cautions

khat there are insufficient Funds to meet iCs shcnt-term business requirements, taking into account that there

are no cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash and cash equivalents are inadequate to meet its

anticipated obligations.

Histoa~lcally, the Company's sole source of fwtding has been the issuance of equity securities for cash, primarily
through private placements. "I'he Company's access to fi~iancing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance

of continued access to significane equity funding. ~s at April "3U, "LD19, the Company had a working capital

deficiency of $£33,43£3 (July 31, 201£3 - $70,306). (n order to meet its longer-term working capital, the Company

intends mi secw•ing further financing co ensure 1:haC those obligations are propei9y discharged. There can be

no assurance Chat the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing on terms

satisfactory Co Che Company, If addiCional fi~~ancing is raised by the issuance of shares from the treasury of the

Company, contc•ot of the Company may change, and shareholders may suffer additional dilution. If adequate
financing is not available, the Company maybe required to delay, reduce Che scope of, or eliminate one ur more

operating activities. The Company's financial IiabiliCies generally have conG•actuat maturities of 30 days and

are subject to noranal trade terms. 'fhe Company does not have sufficient working capital to carry out all

budgeeed programs in fiscal 2019 and must secure additional financing during fiscal 2019 to avoid dasrupeion
in planned expenditw~es.

Market risa~

Market risk is the rislt of loss that may ~u•ise fYom changes in marltet factors such as interest rates, foreign

currency and price risk.

a) ]nterese rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of futtu~e cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in the mar•lcet interest rates. The Company has non-material exposure at April 30, 2019

to intet•est rate risl<through its financial insh~umencs.

b) Foreign currency risk

"I'he Company's financial assr~ts ar~d 1i~~6ilities <u~e not exposed to Foreign currency risk.

07'}lER INI~ORMA'C10N

Off i3alance Sheet Itet~~s

'1'lle Company has no off-bat~ance she~>t an-anf;ements.
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Going Concern

1'he condensed interim financial statements for Che period ended Apri130, 2019 have Ueen prepared on a gofng-
concern basis, which assumes tkie realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of

business. Several material uncertainties may cast a significant doubt on the validity of this assumpkion. The
Company has incurred losses since incepCion and has no current source of revenue. ConCinuing operaCions, as
intended, are dependent on managemenC's ability to raise required funding through future equity issuances, its
ability Co acquire resource property or business interests and develop profitable operations or a combination

thereof, which is not assured, given the volatile and uncertain Fina~~cial markets.

These financial statements do not include any adjustmenCs to Che recoverability and classification of recorded
asset amo~uits and classification of liabilities thae might he necessary should the Company be ~.u~able to
continue as a going concern, At April 30, 1 19, the Company had a deficit of $50,26fl,922 (July 31, 201II -
$50,255,790) and a negative working capital of $83,43II (July 31, 'L018 - $70,506).

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to r2ise funds, in which case the Company
may be unable to meet its obligations. Should the Company be viable Co continue as agoing-concern, the ~aet
realizable values cif' ies assets maybe materially less than the amounts recorded on the statement of financral
positSon.

Mava~;ement of capita]

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguat•d the Company's ability Co conCinue as a going
concern in order to pursue suitable business opportunities and to maintain a f]exible capital structure for its
projects for the benefit of its stakeholders. As t:he Company is in the exploration stage and has noC achieved
commercial operations from its projects, its principal source of funds is from the issuance of common shares.

In die management of capital, the Company Includes the components oFsliai•eholciers' deficiency.'I'he Company
manages fhe capital sh-ucttu-e and makes adjustrnenCs to it in light of changes in eco~ao~nic condiCions and the
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. 'Ib maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may
attempt Yo issue debt, in the future issue new snares, enter into joint venhn•e property arrangements, arc{uire
or dispose of assets oi• adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents and investments,

In order to Facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares monthly and annual
expenditure budgets that are updated as necessniy depending on various factors, including successful capital
deployment au~d general industry couditiw~s. Thy an~~ual and updaCed budgets are appiroved by Che Board ot~
DirecCors, The Company's inveshnent policy is to invest its cash in highly liquid short-term interest-be~arin~;
investments wiCh maturities of three monkhs or less from the original date of acquisition, selected with regards
to th~~ expected timing of~ expenditures li•om contim.iing operations.'l'he Coni}~>any is uncertain as Co whether
its curi-enC capital resotn~ces will be sufficient to carry ifs futtu~e exploration and development plans and
operations thro~igh its cw-rent operating period and, accordingly, management is reviewing thrt timing .and

scope of current exploration plans and is also pursuing ocher financing alternatives Co find the Company's
operations. 'There are no changes in fhe Company's approach to capital management.
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Outstanding Share Data

The table Uelow preseties the Company's common share data as of April '30, 2019.

[VumUer of
coran~on sliaw•es Shac•e Yrice

Common Shares, Issued and outstanding * 6,514•,249 N/A N/A
Stock options convertible into common
shares Nfl N/A N/A

Wari•anCs convertible into common shares Nil N A N A

Total outsCandin~ -fully diluted 6, 514,249 N/A N/A

*On July 11, 201II the Company consolidated its share capital on cone-for-ten basis. FlIl share and per share

information have been restaCed to reflect this consolidation for all }periods presented,

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Carly Stage -Need for Additional ~imds

The Company has no history of profitable operations and its pr•esenC business is at an early stage. As such, the
Company is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, including undercapitalizaCion, cash shortages
and limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and the lactc of revenues. There is no
assurance that the Company wilt be successful in achieving a reCurn on shareholders' investments and the

likelihood of success mustbe considered in light of its early stage of oper-aCions. The Company has no source of
operating cash flow and no assurance that additional fiuiding will be availaUle to it for further exploration and
development of its projects when required. ~Ithough the Company has been successful iii the past in obtaining
financing through the sale of equity securities, there can }>e no assurance that: the Company will he able to
obtain adequate financing in the futw'e or that the terms of such financing will be favorable, especially in today's
volatile and uncertain financial markets, Failure to obtain such additional financing could resulC in the delay or

indefi~iiCe postponement of fui-tJler exploration and developn~ient of its properties.

Foreign Country and Political Risl{

The Company mighC from time Co Lime pursue mineral properties in ~u~stable political or economic cotu~tries,

The Company would be subject to certain rislts, indudin~; currency fluctuations and possible political o~~
economic instability in certain jurisdictions, which rriay result in the im~~airn~eni: or loss of mineral concessions
or other mineral rights. Mineral exploration and mining activities m~iy lie aft'~~cted in varying degrees by
political instaUility and government regulaCioos relating to the mining industry. llny changes in regulations or
shifts in political attitudes may also adversely affect the Company's business, Exploration may be affected in
varying degrees by government rt~gulations with respect to restrictions on future exploitation and production,
price controls, export controls, foreign exchange conCrols, income taxes, expr~priatian of property,
environmental legislation and mine and/or siCe safeCy. The Company does not presenHy o~vn/~~u~sue foreign
exploration projects,
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Gnvi►•onme~ital Regulations, Permits a~ad l.ice~ises

The Company's operations are subject to various laws and regulations governing Nye protection of the
environment, exploa•aCion, development, production, taxes, labor standards, occupational health and safety,
waste disposal, and other mateers. Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and prohibitions on
spills, releases or emissions of various substances produced in association with cerCain mining industry
operations, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas, which would result in environmental polluCion. A
breac}~ of such legislation may result in impositions of fines and penalties. In addition, certain types of
operaCions require the submission and approval of environmental impact assessments. EnvirontnenCal
legislation is evolving in a direction of stricter standards, and enforcement, and higher fines and penalties for
non-responsibility for companies including its directors, officers and employees. The cost of compliance with
changes in governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability for the Company and its
directors, officers and employees. The Company intends to fully comply wiCh all environmental regulations.

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and permitting requirements may t'esult 9~1 enforcement
actions thereunder•, including ordet•s issued by regulatory or• judicial authorities causing operaCions to cease or
be cut•tailed, and may include ca~rective measures req~~iring capital expenditures, installation of additional
equipmenC, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations may be required Co compensate those
suffering loss oi• damage by reason of mining activities and may have civil or criminal k~ines or penalties imposed
for violations of app3icable laws or regulations and, in particular, environmeneal laws. amendments to current
laws, regulations and permits governing operaeions and activities of mining companies, oa~ more stringent
implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the Company and cause increases in capital
expenditua•es or productions costs or reduction in levels of productions at producing properties, or
requirements abandonment, or• delays in development of new mining properties.

Competition and Aga~eemenfs with Other Parties

The mining indusCry is intensely competitive in all its phases. The Company competes with other companies
that have greater financial reso~irces and technical capacity. Competition could adversely affect the Company's
ability to acquire suita~~le properCies or prospects in the future.

The Company may, in the futtu-e, be unable to meet its share oP costs incurred wider agreements to which it is
a party, and it may have its interest in the properties subjece to such a~;recments reduced as a result, Also, if
other parties to such agreements do not meet their share of such cysts, the Company may not be able to finance
the expenditures required to complete recommended programs.

Price Volatility of Public Stock

In recent yeax•s, securities marl<e[s have experienced exh•emes in price and volume volatility. The market price
of securities of many early stage companies, among others, have experienced fluctuations in price which may
noC necessarily be related ro the operating performance, underlying asset values or prosperts of such
companies. It may be anCicipaCed that any tnarlcet. for the Company's shares will be subjecC to market trends
generally and the value of the Company's shares on a stock exchange may be effected by such volatility.

liconomic C,onditio~is

Unfavorable economic conditions may negn[ively impact the Conipa~~y's financi~~~l viability as a result of
increased fi~lancinb costs and limited access to capital marl«t~s.

Dependetace on Managetnei~t

The Company is very dependent upon fhc personal c(torts and cornmit~menC of its existing management'Ib the
extent that management's services would he w~~lvailabie for any reason, a disruption Co Che operations of Che
Coi»piny could result, and ocher persons would be required t:o ~rianage quid oE>eraC~ the Company.



ADMIR~IL B11Y RESOURCES 1NC.

MAN~IGEMENT DISCUSSION &ANALYSIS
rOR TFTE NINE-MONTH PERIOD ENDED APRIL 30, 2019

Conflicts of Interest

The Com{zany's direcrors and officers may serve as directors and officers, or may he associated with other

reporting companies or have signiFicant shareholdings in ocher public companies. To the exeent khat such other

companies may partici~~ate in business or asseC acquisitions, dispositions, or ventures in which the Company

may participate, Che directors and officers of the Company may have a conflict of interest in negotiating and

concluding terms respecting the transact(on. if a conflict of interest arises, the Company will follow the

provisions of the business Corporations AcC, T3ritish Columbia ("Corporations Acl") in dealing wiCh conflicts of

interest. These provisions state, where adirector/officer has such a conflict, that the director/officer'must at a

meeting of the board, disclose )pis interest and ref'raitt from voting nn the matter unless otherwise permitted Uy

the Corporations nct. In accordance with the laws of the Province of British Columbia, the directors and off cers

of ehe Company are required to act honestly, in food Faith and in the best interests of the Company.

ADDITIONAL DISGLOSURB I'OR VENTURG 1SSIJERS WI'1'HQUT STGNIPICAN'P RGVGNUB

Additional disclosure concerning Admiral Bay's general and administrat9ve expenses and exploration and

evaluation costs is provided in the Company's staCement of loss and note disclosures contained in iks financial

statements For the period ended April 30, 2019. These statements are available on SEDAR -Site accessed

thtrougll www.secta~.,c~.I7~.

Dividends

The Company has no earnings or dividend record and is unlikely to pay any dividends in the foreseeable fiicure

as it intends to employ available funds for mineral exploration and development Any future detenninalion to
~~ay dividends will be at. the discretion of the board of directors and will depend on the Company's financial
condition, results of operations, capital requirements and such other factors as Che b~>ard of directors deem
relevant.

Management's Responsibility foa• Fi~~ancial Statements

The information provided in this reporC, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of
ma~iagemen[. In the preparation of these sCatements, estimates are sometimes necessary to matte a
determination of futin•e values for certain assets or liabilities, Management believes such estimates have been

based on carelul judgments and have been properly reflected in l:he accompanying financial staCements. In
contrasC to the certificate required under National Instrument 52-109 Certificate of Disclosure in Issuers'
annual and Into°rim F'ilin~;s ("Nl 52-109"), the Venture ]suer Basic Certificate does not inc)ude representations

relating co the establishment and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures (°DC&P") and internal
CO111:1'OI OVCI' f117F]IlC13I YC?~OI'f.117I, ("ICFR°), as defined in NI 5"Z-109, in particular, the certifying oPtire~s filing, this
certificate are not malting any representations relating eo the establishment and maintenance of:

(i) controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable ass~n•ance that information required to be
disclosed ~y the Company in its annual filings, interiri~ filings or other repores filed or siAbmitted unde~-

secin-ities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized a»d reported within the lime ~~eriocis s~:~ecif~ied

in sec~u•ities legislation; and

(ii) a process to provide reasonable aissurance regarding Che reliabiliry of Financial reporting and the
pr~:~para~ior~ of financi~il stat:en~~ents for external purposes in accordance with tl~e Com~~>~ny's Gr1AP.

'fhe issuer's certilying otficers are responsible for ensw-ing that processes are in place to provide c}iem with
sufficient I<nowled~e to support the representations they are making in this certificate. Investors should be
aware that inherent limitations on [he ability of certifying officers of a venliu~c issuer to desi6n and implemcr~t
on acost-effective basis DC&P and ICI~R as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risi<s to the quality,
reliability, transE:iarency and tirr~c:liness of ineerim sand annual filin6s and other• reports provided i~nd~~r
securities legislation.



ADMIRAL BAY RESOURCES TNC.

MANAGEMENT' DISCUSSION &ANALYSIS
FOR THE NING-MONTH PERIOD ENllET} APRIL 30, 2019

Nature of the Secuz•ities

The purchase of the Company's securities involves a high degree of risk and should be underta}cen only by
investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such risks. The Company's
securities should not be purchased by persons who cannot afford the possibility of the loss of their entire
inveshnent. Furthermore, an investment in the Company's securities should not constitute a mayor portion of
an investor's portfolio.

Proposed Transactions

'Phere are currenCly no significant proposed transactions exceph as otherwise disclosed in this MD&A,

Confidentiality agreements and non-Uinding agreements may be entered into from Lime to time, with
independent entitles to allow for discussions of the potential acquisition and/or development of certain
properties.

Approval

'I'lle Board of Directors oversees management's responsibility for financial reporting and internal cotatrol
systems. The Board of Directors of the Company has approved khe financial statements and ehe disclosure
contained in this MD&A. A copy of this MD&f1 will he ~~rovided to anyone who requests it.

forward Looking liaformation

Certain statements in this documenC constitute "forward-looking scaeemencs" and are based on curre~il
expectations and involve risks and uncertainties, referred to above and or in the Company's financial
statements for the yeas• ended July 31, 2016, that could caase actual evenes or results Co differ materially from
estimated or anticipated evetaCs or results reflected in the forward-looking staCements. Cxamples of such
forward looking statements include statements regarding financial restilts and expectations for "1019. This list
is not exhaustive and should be considet•ed carefully by prospective investors, who should noc place undue
reliance on such forward-looking sTaYements. Factors that could cause actual results, developments or events
to differ materially firom those anticipated include, among others, the factors described or referred to elsewhere
herein including, without limitation, under the heading "Risks and Uncertainties" and/or the financial
stacemen~s and include unanticipated and/or unusual events, Many of such factors are beyond die Company's
ability fo conh•ol or predict. Actual results may c~liffer maCerially from those anticipated. Readers of this MD&A
are cautioned not to pug widue reliance on forward looking scaeements due to their inherenC uncertainty.
I'orward-loolcirtg statements are made based upon management's beliefs, estimates and opinions ot~ the date
the staremenks are made, which management believes are reasonable, acid the Company underla)ces Rio
obligation to updatr~ Forward-looking statements if these beliefs, estimates and opinions or other circinnstances
sho~ild change, except ~s otherwise required by applicable Law. These Poi-ward-looking statr:ments should not
be relied upon as representing management's views as of any date suUsec3uent Co the dace of this MD&~1.
AddiCional information, incltading interim and annual financial statements, e:irculars and other disclosure
doclunents, may also be examined and/or obtai~led through the Intei•z~et by accessing the Canadian System for
lilectronic Doctur~entllnalysis and Retrieval ("SI;C~AR") websi~e at wwwseclar.com.



SCHEDULE "D"

CHL MD&A

Please see the attached.
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CTJLTIVAR ]TOLllINGS LTD.

MANAG~M~NT DISCUSSION ANA ANALYSIS

T+or the Year Ended Apri130, 2019

(Tnfo►•~n~tio►~ ~s at September 3, 2019 w~less otherwise noeed)

Tntroductio~a

Ivtan~ibement's Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") is z~ate~~ded to help the reader understand Cultivar
Holdings Ltd., (the "Company") consolidated financial statements for the year ended January 31, 2019.
T}ais MD&t1. should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the Company and
the notes thereto foz• the year ended January 31, 2019. 'I't~e effective date o{' this report is September 3,
2019. The consolidated financial statemea~ts are p~~epared in accordance with Iiaternational Financial
Repoz~ting Standards ("IFRS"). TJnless expzessly stated otherwise, all financial informaCion is ~~resented in
Cant~dian dollars. This MD&A co~itains certain forward-Iookiz~b information and involves risks and
uncertainties, includinb but not limited to, those described in the "Tusk Factors" section.

l~or•warcl-Lookiy~~ Statenaea~ts

Certain statements contained in the following MD&A constitute forward-looking st~jte~nents (within tl~e
meaning of the Canadian securities legislation and the U.S. I'z~ivate Securities Litibation Ref'oi7n t1ct. of
1995) that involve risks and uncertainties. }~orward-looking statements are frequently, but not always,
identified by words such as "ex~~ects", °anticipates", "believes", "intends", "estim~+tes", "potential",
°j~~SSlI)~0~~ a11C1 SI1171~~i1" L'X(71'E'SS10T1S~ OI' St~ltBtl]811tS Milt 2VCI)CS~ C011C~It10I1S OI" I'eSL1~tS ~~Wl~~°, °Ill~ly°, ~~C01,IlC~~~

or "should" occur or be achieved. "I'he forw~ircl-looking statements m~ty include statements regarding work
programs, capital expenditures, timelines, str~itegic plans, marizet price of commodities or other• statements
that are not statement o:f S.'~et. l~oz-ward-loolciri~ statements are staternents about tl~e future and are inherently
uncertain, anGl actual achievements of the Company n7~y differ inateri<~lly ti~orn those reflected in f~ot~vard-
lookinbstatements due to a variety of risks, ~incert~~inties and otter factors. I~or the reasons seC forth above,
investors should not price endue reliance nn Forward-looking staCements. ImE~ortant factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the Company's expectations include uncertainties involved in
elisputes axed litigatio~i, fiuctu~~tions in commodity pricr;s and ei.u~rency exchange rapes, uncertainty of
estimates of capital and operating costs, recovery rates, production ostiin:3tes and economic reCurn; the need
fi>r cooperation of government agencies; the need to obt<<in ~idditional tinancin~ end uncertainty as to the
availability and teens o~'ftiture financing; uncertainty related to the completion of the am~~lSa~n~tion.

It is the Co~np~tny's policies tkaat ~~tll fo~~;vard-lo<>kin~; statements :~z~e based on tt~e Company's beliefs ~md
assumptions which are based on i~1'orm~.~tion av~~il~i~le ~t tl~e time these assumptions are mode. Tl~e
forw~ird- loolcin~ statements cont~ine~i herein sire ~~s of J..inuary 31, 2019 ~+nct ~u e subject to change after this
ci~rte, and the Coiz~pany assumes no obligation to publicly upd~ite or revise the st~ite~:neni;s to re{lect new
events or circwnstances, except as ma}~ he required pursuant to ~ipplicablf: laws.



Althoubh management believes that the expectations represented by such forwaz~d-]ookinb informfltion ox

statements are rcasonaUle, there is significant risk that the f'ore~v~ir~l-lookinb information or statements mey

not Ue aciaieved, and the undei•lyinb assumptions thereto will not prove to lie accurate. Forward-looking

information ar statements iti this MDc4c~1 include, but are not limited to, information or statements
concerning our expectations regarding; the ability to x-aise additional lands, results of the research and
clevelopinent performed in relation to the products and services of the Cownpany, positive result due to the

change in busitxess model, possiUility of enterinb into strategic alliance, distribution agreements and otlaer
arrangements to rraarket their products and services and possibility of producing viable products tluou~h

Che use of'tl~e new technologies purchased and developed.

Ach~al results or events could differ ~n~terially fraiY~ the plans, inceptions and expectations expressed or

implied in any fozv✓ard-looking information or statements, including; tk~e underlyan~ assumptions thereto,

as a result of numerous risks, Lmcertainties ~nci f actors including: the possibility that opportunities will arise

that require more cash than the Company has or can reasonably obtain; dependence an key personnel;

dependence on coi~}~orate collaborations; potential delays; uncertainties related to early stage of technology

and product development; uncertainties as to fluctuation of the stock market; unceztainties as to future

expense levels and the possibility of unanticipated costs ox expenses or cost overruns; and other asks and

uncertainties which n ay not be described herein. T'he Company has no policy for upd~iting forward Ic~oking

information beyond the procedures required undez~ applicable securities laws.

CORPORATE OVLRVTEW

Cultivar I-ioldin~;s Ltd was incorporated on December 6, 20 L7, pursuant to the Ontario Business
Corpoz•ations Act is a holding company in tl~e cannabis space and through its three vertically integrated

businesses, is engaged in the globs~l cannabis market and, are offering products for testing technoloby,
Cultivation &Distribution of Extracts as well as Derivative Nutraceutical Pa~oducts.

On FeUilraty 15, 2018, the Comp~iny acquired a 49% interest in a newly incorporated Cultivar ,T/1 Limited,
(the "CJ~1") a corporation incorporated under die laws of Jamaica. 7'he remaining S1°/n interest is owned
by local business partners. C7~1 has ~ilready received the pre licenses (conditional licenses) fi•om CLA
Jamaica and once we setup ow~ infrastructure after CLl~ inspects our facilities, the conditional license will
be converted into a full license

On 7uly 1 C, 2~ 18 the Company acquired a 100% interest in a newly incorporated Cann IP I-Ioldings Inc.
(prior name 2C397~45 Ont~ii-io Inc.) (the "C~~nn") ~i corpor~itian incorpor~jted undez~ the laws of tl~e province
of Ontario. Cann is engaged in the development of cosmetic and edible product lines, as well as invesCment
in tecianoloby to detect ~n individual influence ot~c~inn<ibis.'1'he Company did a one Eor one share exchange
with Cann and issued 29,800,000 common s(<<~res to the shareholders of (",ann.

7'he Company's corporsite he<~d office is located ,~t 77, 1Cin~; Street West, Suite 3000, "I'oroi~to, Ontario,
Cen~t<1a, NISK 1G8.

'The leg~ilizaLion u~f c~~nrr3bis htis brought upon die issue of cannabis impair~~~ent to the forefront both for

la~~ enforcement agencies along with workpl<~cc. M~rcover, iu several inteznational jurisdictions with

fropic~l clim<<[e, cannt~bis does ~rc~w like a "weed" amd is in f~~ct a chet+per altezn~itive to alcohol. As such
c~innabis iinp~lia•Anent is hn~ning out Yo be ~i universal problem hart there is ~i complete l~jck of'tools to
identity ctlnnabis impairment.



Currently, companies a~•e in the process of trying to develop breathalyzers f'or THC
(Tetrahydz•ocanuabinol), the psychoactive ingredient in cannabis. TIowever, the biggest drawback with

TI C bresithalyzers is the lack of correlation with impairment which his been brot~~;ht up in several

studies conducted to date. furthermore, bz•elthalyzer technology (cannabis or alcohol) is not suited f'or use

at workplace.

Our first vertic~ii, PredictMedix has b~;en working towards development of flrtificial Intelligence powered

f~~cial end voice recognition technology to detect cannabis along with alcohol ilnpairment. Predict

MEDi~C i~as developed a m~r]cet viable product (MVP) to detect drub; ianpairment using proprietary

Artificial Intelligence (AI) technology algorithms with adecision-snaking ability to identify if'sorx~eaiae is

driving under the influence of cannabis and alcohol. The Al al~orithrns use several unique data points

with f'ticial and voice reeo~;nition to idenliiy impairment, Applications for detectinb dni~; impalz~ment can

~-anbe froth roadside impairment tests to workplace safety. We have filed patents t~ protect our technology

and are currently ~~~tent pending; these are effectively with the first set of patents in the world that

incorpo~'ate ~nci utilise AI to detect impairment. Predict MEDiX is in the process of starting a I~rge-scale

study with over 3500 participants, which will further solidify ot~r technology.

Predict M13T)iX signed a 7V with Tech Mahindra (subsidiary of Mahindra Group) t:c.~ allow them to se11

our drug impairment testing technology to their clients. Tech Mahindra was rated ranked 15th globally in

~̂ oz~bes digital 100; tl~e top 100 public companies shaping the digital econoany (which also included

Google and A.inazon). They are a provider of information i:echnology, networking tecliiaoloby solutions,

integrated engineering solutions and business process outsourcing to varioas industries. Tech Malaandr~j
h~id'~4,77 Billion (USD) of revenue an 2018 with a cuz~rent market capitalization of over 9.11 I3illaon

(USD).

Predict MEDiX has also sibned a MOU with I:Iindalco Tndust~•ies for conducting pilot studies using our
proprietary drug imp~~irment detection tecluiology to detect impairment among their em~~loyces and also

to explore business opportunities together. Hindalco Industries is one of the largest alwniniuzn rind copper

manufacturinh company globally and a subsidiary of'the I~ditya Birla Group; an Indian Muli:inational

Conglomerate with operations in 35 countries and outs $44 Billion (UST) in revenue. l.lindalco is one of

the largest aluminum rolling corna~anies in the world wltla revenue exceeding $18 Billion (USll) in 2018.

We will license our software to two distinct snorkels; law enforceanent agencies and a variety of indush~ies

that are concerned about impainnet~t in the workplace such as manufacturing, mining, rind avi~~[ion. Our
partnerships with Tech Mahindr~ and Ilindalco Industries Ltd will be of i~mnense value in in~irketin~ to

the workplace related maz-kets.

pus second vertical, Cultivar Jamaic~~ (Cultiv~r J11) is ti grower, supplier and distt-ibutor of camrabidiols

(Cl3D oils} ~~nd tetr~ihydrac4lnnabinols (THCs) with registration in 7~~cnaic~. Cultiv~ir's mission is to be a

n~am.ifacC~~rer and whoJcsaler of consumable ctmnabis products including cosmetics, natural hc<~lth

}~>rodi.icts, pharmaceuticals, veterinary health prociucts, vaporizer oil and edibles.

:1<im~~ica pry>vides many unique adv~ntap;es to grow and dist~~ibute cannabis. Jamaica's hot clim~ite cre~~ites

more L;ro~~tl~ cycles per ye<~r (5/6 8-week cyc;les). Crowing condiCions in J~trr~aicsi ~.~re signii~icantly less

expensive due t~ ukilitics rind labor cost w11en compared to indoor growers in Canada. "1~he Jamaic~~rA
gr<.~winb environment also provides tl~e ~dv~ntage of more unique strains than other traditional g~•oweis
giving Cultiv~u~ an edge in product cli~~lerentitriion, quanCity and price.



On May lst, 2019, the company has received four conditional approvals foz~ Ilcenses in:

I. Cultivation

2.1'rocessing

3. 'Transportation

4. Retail (I-Ierb I-iouse); Fharinacy/dispensary

Conditional approvals axe subject to the pzoperty meeting the Cannabis Licensing ~luthorSty's pre-license

site inspectio~i.

1'lie Comp~~ny is ta~<in~; a very disciplined approach with their Jamaican operations and firstly want to

prove our profitability on 2 acxes on land, Il is only after we can prrove our profitability in 2 acres that we

will expand fiirtlier. Additionally, with the Jamaican government finalising their export strategy over the

next couple of months, we anticipate targeting the export znarlcet.

Our third vertical, Dazed Leaf, is a cannabis nutraceutical company which is reinventing health and
wellness teas anti cosmetics liy offering unique health focused Cannabidiol (C;F3D) infused pz-oducts
which have been scientifically formulated and are free of chemicals rind preservatives.

Dazed Leaf saw a growing demand in C~3D infused products coupled with a growing health and ~~ellness
trend in North America. Theref.'ore, we sought to create scientifically proven health and wellness teas
infused with CT3D to be at the foz~efront o#'this new ind~~stry. Over a rigorous research and develop~aient

phase Dazed Leaf leas come up with eve unique tea blends.

~t hese five blends are: ̀i otal Detox, Atl~letic Power, Skin Glow, Immune Balance, az~d Passion Redefined.

E1c1~ of these teas has an unique herbal Ulenci which, once combined with the C~3D, creates very powerful

effects to pxoax~ote health and wellness. An initial survey saw massive custoaner dem~~nd aa~d excitement

over the possibility of this new and innovative product.

Vivir Cosmetics is part of Dazed Leaf C33D infused product. portfolio. Cl3I.) infused cosmetics has ina~ay
benefits including; z~educed inflammation, anti-gibing, moishuizing and efticacy in treating skin disorders.

C~irrently, we are worlcin~; on three product lines incl~iding a face mask, serum and moisttarizer.

Letter of Intent

On December 12, 2018, the Co~nptlny entered into ti non-binding letter of intent with Admiral ~}3ay

Resources Ina ("Admiz'al") with respect to ~ reverse tale-over transaction which would ultimately result
in the Coilapany's com~noa~ shares being; listed on the Ct~n,.~di,m Securities Exchange.

Directors and Management

7'he Corn~~any's current leadership teaul includes.

Sheldon ICales, CEC) and Director

I?uf;ene Anthony Iifolkes, Director

R,al<esh Msi)hvtaa, C;1~0



S~L~CTEll I~'INANCIAL INFOI2MA`1'ION

The following; table contains selected financial information of tl~e Company fox the perioc9 tiom December

1, 2017 (date of incorporation) to January 31, 2019.

I+ro~n Aecember
6, 2017 co ,Tanuary

31, 2019

Revenues ~---------

Total operating expenses (364,1.41)

Net loss and coni~rehensive loss for the period (364,141)

X.oss per share

~,oss per common share:

Basic ~,na a~it,t~a (0. O:l)

Weighted average number oFcommon shares
outstanding.

Basic axed diluted ~ 57,369,525

Tha chart below presents the stamm~ry financial inform4rtion of the Company:

As ~t

January 31,
2019

Cuxrent assets $1,715,621

Noncurrent assets X14,:10(

Total assets 1,729,'727

Current liabilities A7,113

Total long-teen liabilities

Share}~oldc~rs' equity X,G$2,(iJ4

Li~S~I C~1VICjC2lCjS jJCI' CO1711T10T1 S~lill'C ~]Y.



"~'he chart belo~~v prese»ts tl~e summary financial
ini'orrrzation c~f'the C;o~~ap~iny for the yeaz' ended
January 31, 2019:

Expenses
ndministxation and general 33,526

Amortization of property and equipment (Note 7) 4,395

Leasing costs (Note t0) 32,366

Legal fees 86,840

Management fees (Note l0) 59,955

Patent <<nd tracleinark expenses 17,288

Research and development 49,2Q5

S~inples and testing 21,88

Share based compensation (Note 8) 5,535

Taxes and related 2,697
Travel, entertainment and xetated 41,518

Vehicle use expenses (Nate 10) X1,750

Total operating expenses ~ 365,9 1

Gain on foreign exchange (1,820)

Loss arad Comprehensive loss $ 364, l41

OV:GRAI~L 1'ERI+ORMANC~ ANll 1tESUT.,TS OF OPERA'TTONS

expenses a~acl Net X~oss for the period from December 6, 2017 to ,Tanuary 31., 2019

'C'ot.al operating expenses for the period ended January 31, 2019, were $365,961.

significant items

Man~jgement. ['ees consist ol'feespaid to senioz- management or to Coanpanies owned by senior m~+nagement,
including (1) ;56,000 paid to the CEO for services and (2) ;63,955 paid to the CFO.

Share-based compensation of $5,535 consists of'the fair value (~31ack- Scholes calcul~~tion) of the vesting;

of 100,000 options to consultants.

12e~e~uch at7d development costs for $49,205 ire costs incwred by outside research provider f'or

development of'/~rtificisl Intelligence powered facial and voice recognition technology to detect cannabis
along with ~ilcohol irnpair»~ent.

No cash dividends have bee~i p~iid by the Company. "1'he Company h1s no present intention of paying cash
dividends on its common shares as it anticipates that all available kiinds will be invested to ~I~intince existing

~ictivilies.



CRITTCAI~ AGC(3UN7'IIVG ~.57'IMA~'T'S

Preparing ~nancia] statements in conformity with IPRS requires tl~e Company to select from possible

alternative accounting princi}~les. Estimates also af'f'ect: classification and reported ~unounts for vaz~ious

assets, liabilities, equity balances, revenues and expenses. T'z~ior estimates are revised as new information is

obtained ~md are subject to ch~jnge in future periods. Man~igement believes the accouzitinb policies and

estimates used in preparing the consolidated financial stat~rrients are considered appropriate in the

circumstances but are subject to nuanez•ous judgments end uncertainties inherent i~a the financill reporting

process.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires inanageanent to snake judgements

regarding the going concern of the Company, as well as the determination of timctiona] currency. The

functional currency is the currency of~the primary economic environment in which ~m entity operates and

has been determined for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for the Company and its

subsidiary has been detez~rr~ined to be the Canadian dollar.

Income taxes -There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of

business foz~ which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities based

on the Company's current understanding of tax laws pis applied to the Company's circumstances. Where

the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such

dif ezences will im~~aec the currc;nt and deferred tax provisions in the period in which suc}~ determination is

made.

Stock option valuation -Issuances and grants of share options are valued using the fair value method.

Management uses the IIlacic-Sctioles valuation model to estimate the fair value of options determi~~ed at

grant date. Grants of options result in non-cash charges to expense and a conespvndinb credit to share-

based payment reserves. Charges associated with ~;rant~d options are recorded over the vesting period.

Significant ~~ssmnptions affecting valu<<tion of options include the trading value of the Company's shares

at tl~e date of graxat, the exercise price, the term allowed for exercise, a volatility factor relatinb to the

Company's historical share price, forfeiture rates, dividend yield ~.tnd the risk-free interest rate,

Usetiil life of pxoperty and equipment -Property and equipment is depreci<3ted over its estimated useful

life. Estimated useful lives are detei7nined based on current t'acts and past experience and takes into

considez•ation the anticipated }>hysical life of the asset, potential f:oz technological obsolescence, and

regulations.

I.~IQU]DiTX AND CAPITAL ItESOU12Ci;S

At January 31, 2019, the Company had cash and c~jsh equivalents of ̀I~1,558,9~19 and working capital of

$1,668,508, lluring the period fi-om December 6, 2017 to :(~nu~ry 31, 2019 the Co~rapany received

:61,979,716 from financing activities (common shares), Lised X402,29( in oper~~Ciiab activities and $18,471

in investing ~ictivities.

The Comp~~ny hits financed it's oper~it~ions Ci~om inception to date tllrou~;1~ the issuance of equity shires.

T̀l~e Comp~uay currently ]las no source of revenues; as Such, administrative <+nd other expenses tn~y exceed

avrilable casl~~ ~~esom-ces and additiou~il ~Iitnding may be required to f'ur[hcz~ its projects and to meet ong<>u~g

requirements f'or' ~;ener~al oper~~tions. "Tl~e ability of the Company Co continue z~is a boing concern is deE~endeilt

on rising additional financing, development of its projects and ~enera~tion of profitable operations in the

future.



Subsequent to the year, the Company raised an additSonal $824,000 by issuance of shares, As such, the

Company believes it has enough cash to mai~itain itself for the next 12 ~noaztlas.

The Company's objectives when managing its capital sh•ucture are to preserve the Company's access to

c~pit~il markets and its ability to meet its financial obligations.

Based on available fwids, the Company ~x~anages its capital structu~~e and makes adjustments to it to

maintain flexibility while achieving the objectives stated above as well as support firture business

opportunities.

To manage the capital structure, the Company tray adjust its project plans, operating expenditure plans, or

issue new common shares. The Coiaapany monitors its capital stxuctuze using annual forecasted cash flows,

expenditure Uud6ets and targets for the year as well as corporate capitalization schedules. This as achieved

Uy the Board of Directors' review and acceptance of expenditure budgets that are achievaUle within existinb

resources and the timely matching; and release of the next stage of expenditures with the resources made

available from private placements or other funding,

Tl~e Board of Directors does n<~t establish qu~mtitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather

relies on tlae expertise of the Corn~~any's management to sustain future developnaeiat of the business. The

Company is nat suUject to externally imposed capital requirements or covenants.

OUTSTAlYDTNG STTAR~ DATA

.fit 7anuaiy 31, 2019, the Company had 93,277,500 common shares outstanding. As of date of the Ml~&A,

the Company has 97,439,900 carnmon shaz•es outst~~nding.

At 7anuary 31, 2019, the Co~~~p~iny had 350,000 outstanding stock options and nil warrarrts.

E1s of date of'this MD&A, the Company h1d 350,000 outstanding stock options and 1,648,000 warrants

outstanding.

Information with respect to ~utst~inding common shares, stock options and w~irrants as at January 31, 2019

and tl~e date of the MD&A are as follows:

Date of MD&A ,Tanuary 31., 2019

Common shires 97, 39,)00 93,2,77,500

Stock o~7tions 350,000 350,000

W ~~~~'ants 1,648,000

l~uily diluted sht+res

outst~mding
99,437,900 93,627,.500



a} Share issuances dw•in~ the period ended Janu~~y 3i, 2019:

• 'l,he Company issued 30,000,000 common shares, as founders' shares, for $30.
• The Company issued 29,800,000 common shazes in a shaz•e exchange abreement with Cann,

valued Fik 430 {Note 4).
• The Company zssued 24,995,000 common shares at $0.05 per share in private placements

and raised $1,249,750. The Company issued 275,000 common shares as finders shares.
• The Co~nE~any issued 8,207,500 common shares at $0.10 per share in private piaceinents and

raised x$20,750.

In conjunction with the above private placements, Che Company incurred cash share issu~ulce

costs of $29,3Q0.

b) Stock Options duria~~ the period ended,Tanuary 31, 2019:

In OctoUer 2018, tl~e Company granted options to a consultant to acquire a tot~il of 250,000 comanon
shares. 'These options were issued at an exercise price of 90.10 per shtize 4iz~d vested 75,000
immediately, grad balance 175,000 on completion of'milestones, with au expiry term of two years. T}~e
fair value of each option used for the purpose of estimating t4~e stock-based cvmpeaasation is esti~natect
using the ~31ack-Scholes option pricing model with the following ~issum~tions:

Risk free rate 2.26%
L?x~~ected dividends 0%
~xpecte<i forfeiture rate 0%
Iixpected volatility 100%
Expected life 2 years
Stock-based compensation cost expensed during the period $ 3,973
Uaavested stock-bused compensation expense !~ 9,272

In November 2U 18, the Company granted optioa~s to a coiast.iltant to acquire a total of~ 100,000 coimnon
shares. These options weze issued at an exercise prig of $U.IQ per share end vested 25,000
iininediately, and 25,000 each ozz Apri( 1, 2019, Scpteinber 1, 2Q19 and March 1, 2020 witl~ an expiry
term of three years. 'The f'~ir value of each option used far Che piir~ose ox~ estimating the stock-b~ised
compensation is estimated using the T31ack-Schc~les option pricing model with the following
assumptions:

Risk free rate 2.30%
F xpected dividends O%
Expected forfeiture rate 0%~
lixpected volatility 100°/~
Expected life 3 years
Stock-b~jsed compensation cost expensed during the period ~ 1,562
lJnvested stock-based compensation expense $ 4,68E

/~s oi'J,mu~iry 31, 201 ~), there was X 13,958 of unvested stack-based compens~ition expense.



As at January 3l, 2019, the Company tiad the following share purchase options outstac~ding and
exercisaUle:

Reanainin~ Lifc

Outstanding ~xe~•cisable ExeT•cise Trice (Years) expiry Date

250,000 75,000 90.10 ~ 1.73 October 25, 2020

100,000 25,000 $0. l0 2.77 November 8, 2021

350,000 LOO,000 X0.10 2.03

T+INANCIAL INS'I'RUM~'NTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the corasolidatecl statements of fir~aneial position

when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of~ the fanlncial instrument.

1'he fallowing; is the Company's accounting policy for financial instruments under IFRS 9:

Classification

The Company classifies its financial anstivments in the t~~llowing categories: at fair value tluou~;h profit

and loss ("FVTPL"), at fair value through other comi~rehensive income (loss) ("FVTOCT") or at amortized

cost. The Company determines the classification of financial assets ~.lt initial recognition. The classification

of debt instruments is driven by the Company's business model for managing the financial assets and their

contractual cash flow cliaa~acteristics. Equity inst~lan~ents that a~•e held f'or trading; ire classified as FVTPL.

Por other equity instruments, on the day of acquisition the Comp~iny can mike an irrevocable election (on

an instn~ment-Uy-instrument basis) to ciesignite them as at l~V'TOCI. i^in~mcia] li~it~ilities are measured at

amortized cost, unless they az-e z~equired to be measured at }^V'TPT~ (such as instruments held for trading oz•

derivatives) or if the Company has opted to measuz~e them at I~VTPL.

McHsurement

1~'inancial assets aizd lia.bililie,r at am.ortizecl co,sl

Financial assets and liabilities at amoz-tized cost are initially. recognized at fair value plus or miiaus

transaction costs, respectively, and subsequently caz~a-ied at amortised cost less any impairment.

Fi~zuracial astre[s a.~id liabilities at l~'VTPI

Financial assets and liabilities carz•ied at ~I~V'I'I'L ai•e initially recoi•de~j <it fair vah~e and transaction costs are

expensed in the coa~solidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Realized and unrealized gains and

losses ~irasin~ fi•oin cl~an~;es in tl~e fair value of~tlie financial assets and liabilities held ,zt FVTPLare included

iii Clue consolid~~t.ed statcit7ents of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in wlaicll they ~~rise,

Debi in.ve,sln~erats at l~'YOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at t<jir v~ilue. Interest income c~ilctilatecl usinb the ef£ectiv~ interest

method, foreign exch~mge gains rind losses t.md imps+irment sire recohnized in protit or loss, Other raet gains
and losses sire z-ecognized in OCI. Un dea~ecognition, ~;e~in~ ,ind loses <iccui»ulated in ULI axe reclassified

to profit or lass.

1_syuity i~ave,stnzeiat,s at 1~'VOCI
These ~issets are subsequently me~isizrecl at f~~ir v~jlue. Dividends <ire recognized as income in prof7C or loss
unless the dividend eleaz-ly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and
losses are recognized in OCI and ~~re never reclassif7ed to profit or loss.



Impairment of_financial assets ~t amorCize<l cost

The Company recobniaes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that az•e measured

at amortised cost. !~t each reportinb date, the Company measures the loss allowance foz• the financial ~~sset

at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if'the credit risk on the financial asset has increased

siKnific~+ntly since initial recognition. I1' rt the z~eporting date, the financial asset has i~pt increased

significantly since itaitial zecca~nition, the Company measures the loss zllowance for the financial asset at

an ~imount equal to the twelve mc:mth expected credit losses. The Company shall recognize in the

consolidated st~~tements of loss ~+nd comprehensive loss, as yin impairment fain or loss, the amount of

expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the

amount that is required to be recognized.

Dereco~niti~n

I'i~zanciul assets

The Company derecognizes f7nancial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the

tin~incial assets expire, or when it h•ansfers the financial assets and substantially all of the Associated risks

and rewards of ownership to another entity.

Fi~aa~zcial liabilities
The Company derecognizes ~i fin~mcial liability wkaen its contractual obligltions are discharged or cancelled

or ex~~ired, The Company also derecognizes a financial liability tivhen the teens of the liability axe modified

such that the teens end / or cash flows of the modified instniment are subsCantially differeait, in which case

a new financial liability based an the modified terms is recognized at fair value.

Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in profit or loss.

The Company's financial assets ~md liabilities <n-e recorded and treasured as follows:

Asset or• Liability Category Measu►•eia~ent
Cash ~VTPL Fair value
Loans and advances Loans and receivables Elmortized cost
Accrued liabilities Otiher liabilities amortized cost

T'he Company determines the 1'~.iir value; of'tinanci<il ir~struirienYs according to the followinb hiez~archy based
on ehe amount of observable inputs used to v~ili~e the instrument,

Level 1 -- Quoted prices are available in aceive markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reportii~~b
date. active mar]<ets are those in which lxansactions recur in sufficient ~t'z•equency and vohune t~o provide
pricin}; information on an ongoinb bz~sis.

Level 2 -- Pricins inputs sire ottler than quoted prices in Fictive markets included in Level 1. Prices in bevel
2 are either directly or indirectly observaL~le as of file reporting d~ite. Level 2 v~~fuations sire based on inputs,
including quoCcd for~~~r~rd prices t2~r commodities, time value and volatility factors, which coin be
subsCanli~lly observed <~r airroborated in the n~~rlcetplace.

i_,evel 3 -- V~~lu~lti~~ns in tl~~is level ~~re those wit( inputs foz~ tl~e asset or li~tf~ility that are not b~~sed on
observ~~ble market data.

Cash htis been measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs.



I+'inancial risk m~ii~gexnent and ob,jcctives

The Company's activities expose It to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity a•isk, and u~arket

risk (incJudirig interest rate risk, fi>a~eign cw•renc~ risk, and commodity price risk).

7̀'he Company thoroughly examines the various iin~mcial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the

impact and likelihood of those risks. Where material, these risks are revie~~ed and rnonitared by the

Board of Directors.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of~ an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financi~~l anstniment f ails to
meet its contractual obligations. 'the Compiny is not exposed to significant credit. risk.

Liquidity risk

I.,igl.iidity risk is tl~e risk t(aat the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to aneet its financial

obligations as they come due. The Cornparay's liquidity and operating; results may be adversely affected if

its access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of ~ downturn in si:ock market conditions

generally ox matters speci#'ic to the Canpany. The Company generates cash flows p~~iitiarily from its

fii~ancin6 activities.

The Com~»ny inf~nabes its liquidity needs by carefully monitorinb scheduled costs. Liquidity is measured

in various time bands, on day to clay and week-to-week basis, as well as on long team liquidity needs oven

180 day to 360 day look out pez~iods. Funding fbr long term liquidity ~aeeds is based on the ability of~the

Company to successfully complete private placements.

!~s at Januaz~y 3l, 2019, the Company had sufficient cash of $1,558,949 to settle c;wrent liabilities of

` 47,1 13.

Nlarlcet Tusk

Markel risk is the risk of loss that tray arise ~rorn changes in rr~~rket factors such as interest: rates,

commodity and equity prices, and foreign exchange rates.

(u) I~itere,st rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the f~iir value or future cash flows of a financial insh~umenl will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.

(b) Price risk

Tl~e Company is not exposed to sibni~cant pride risk ;~s it does ~~ot possess investments in publicly traded

SCCU1'tt1C5.

(c') C,'irrreitcy r•islc

CwTency risk is the risk thaC Clue fair value of future cash flows of ~ financit~l instrtnnent derlorriinated in ti
f~orei~;n ct.irrei~cy ~~ill flt~chtate because of cl~~riges in ('oreign exch~in£;e rates. 7'hc Company oper~ites
internationally, which gives rise to the risk that ca+~h flows inay be adversely impacted by exc}~s~nge rate

fluctu~iti~ms. Amounts subject to currency risk are prepaid expenses betel by a Director in US Dollars in



Jamaican bank account as well as operating expezases incurred by CJlA in US Doll~~rs and 7amaican
llollars. As a result, the Company is exposed to foreign exchange r<:ite risk with respects to the US Dollar
and the Jamaican Dollar. Tlae Company has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts to hedbe this
risk.

OFF=tiAI,ANCE SHEET ARIZA,NGEMENTS

The Coiaipany has not entered into any material off=balance sheet ~~rrangements such as buarantee contracts,
contin~;cnt interests in assets transferred to unconsolidated entities, derivative instrurraent obligations, or

with respect to any obligations under a variaUle interest entity arrangement.

TRANSACTIONS WTTII RELAT'~D PARTIES

Related parties include key management personnel, the Board of Directoa~s, close family members and
enterprises that axe contz~olled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing sirriilar functions.

Key management of the Company are members oL the Board of Directors, the Chief' Executive Officez•
("C1~0") and the Chief'I{inancial Officer ("C1~0").

Transactions with key nnanagement personnel not disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements include
the followinb:

Js~nYiary 31, 20].9

Management fees to the CI;O ~ 56,000
Management fees to the C}~O 4~ 3,055
Total Management fees ~i $ 59,955
Velxicte expense to the CEO 4,750
Leasing costs to the CL,O 14,250 

- ,9~--- 7$,955—~

~1 s of January 3l, 2019, there was ;617,113 due to the CLO included an accrued liabilities.

BUARD PURPOSE ANI~ FUNCTION

Tl~e directors and manage»~ent of the parent company h<<ve experience oper~.~tinb in Cai~ad~i rind the United
States rind taking; projects thxough to various stages ot~developmcnt.

Tlie Board's pw-pose is to ensure corpoz aec governance, risk, strategy a~ld shareholder intez-csts ai•e priorities
at all Limes. At tl~e end of the ~~inanci<<I year undez~ review, the board consiste<(of t~~o membczs.

PROl'OS~D 'I'RANSA CT101VS

Tlaa Company is continuing woz•k to complete the Tt`I'0 transaction with !1<I»~iral I31y Resources Inc.



C~MMl1'M~NTS ANll CON'T'ING~NCI~S

~f'fective July 1, 2018, the Company signed ~ two- year contract with a corporation owned and controlled
by tl~e CEO to pay monthly compensation of $8,000 for CEO services, In addition, the Company is
oblibated to pay monthly rent for $1,500 and an additional $500 f'or the use of'a personal vehicle.

The Company's operations were governed Uy governmental laws and regulations retarding environmental
protection. Environme~it~i( consequences are difficult to Uoth predict and idetatify, in terans of level, ianpact
or timeline. At tl~e present time and to the best k~aowledge of its ananageinent, the Company is in conformity
with tl~e laws ar7d regulations in effect. Restoaation costs will be accrued in the financial statements only
when they will be reasonably estimated and will be charged to the earnings at the time.

CONTROL ANll I'ROC~llU}2ES

The Chief ~;xecutive Officer aiad Chief' I~in~incial Officer nre responsible for designing inter~~al controls

over financial re~~orting in order to provide reasonable assurance rebarcting the reliaUility of financial

reporting and the preparation of the C;otnp~ny's financial statements for external pLuposes in accoz•dance

with IFRS. The design of the Company's internal control aver financial reporting was assessed as c~~~ the

date of this Management Discussion and Analysis.

Based on this assessment, it was deten7~ined that certain weaknesses existed in internal controls over

ftnancial reportinb. As indicative of anany small companies, the lack of segregation of duties and effective

risk assessment were identi#ied as azeas where weaknesses existed. The existence of these weakiaesses is
to be compensated f'ox by senioa• tnanagetnent monitoring, whzch exists. The officers will continue to
monitor very closely all financial activities of the Company and increase the level of supervision in key

areas. It is important to note th~it this issue would also require the Company to hire additional staff in order

to provide greater segrebation ofi' duties. Since the increased costs of such hiring could burden the
Company's financial resources, man~~gemenf li<~s chosen to disclose the potential risk in its filings and
proceed with increased staf#ing only when t}ae budbets and workload will enable the action. Tl~e Company

has attempted t<~ mi~igat:e t}aese weaknesses, through a combination ot'extensive and detailed review by tl~e
CT^O of the financial accounting and repoi~Ting.

RTSTCS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The (;nmpany is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties <1ue to the nature o1' its business and the
presezit stage of development of its business. Current atad potential investors should g3v~; special

consider~jtion to the risk factors involved, should the Company continue in the cannabis business.

Mana ement

Dependence on I<ey Personnel, Contractors and Seavice Providers, shareholders of our Company a~ely on
the ggo~i faith, exE~~erience and judZ;rnenf of the Company's n~~anageinent and advisors in supervising and

providinb f'or the effective ~T~an~i~;e~r~~:nt of the business rnd the operations of the Company and an selecting
and developing; new investment and r;xpansion np~ortunities. Tl~e ComE~any i~~~~y need do recruit additional

qualified contractors ~md service providers to supplement existing; n~~an~~ge~nent. Tl~e Company will be
dependent on <~ relatively small n~~mber of key pei;sons, the loss of any one of whoi~~ could hzive ~.m adverse
effect on tl~e Comp~iny.



Value of Ouz~ Common Shires

The value of the Company's common s}aares could be suUject to sibnificant fluctuations in response to

variations in quarterly and annual operating results, the success of the Company's business strategy,

competition ox other applicable regulations which may affect the business of the Company and othez~ f~~ictors.

.Additional I~undan~nd Financing Risk

Additional t'ui~ds will be required for future development. The source cif future i'unds available to the

Company is through the sale of additional enuity capital ar bo~rowin~ of funds. 'There is no ~~ssurance that

such funding will be av~~ilable to tl~e Company. Furlharanore, even if' such financing is successfully

completed, there can be no assurance th~it it will be obtained on terms f~~voraUle to the Company or will

provide the Company with sufficient funds to meet its objectives, which may adversely af'#'ect the

Company's business and financial position. Tn addition, any future equity financings by the Company may

result in substantial dilution for existing shareholders.

Environmental Risk

L,nvironmental lebislatiozl is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and en#'orcement,

increased flares and penalties for non-compliance, more sh~ingent c;nvironmental assessments of proposed

projects and a heiglatened degree o£responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees.

There can be no assurance that future changes to environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect

the Company's operations.

Uninsua•ed I-Iazards

The Company currently carries no insuz-ance covez~age. The potential costs that could Ue associated with

Amy liat~ilities not covered by insurtmce or compliance with <~pplic~ible laws and regulations may cause

substantial delays and rec]uire significant capital outlays, adversely aff~ectinb the Co~rapany's financi~il

position.

Conflicts of TnCerest

Cocain ~irectoa•s and Officers of the Company also serve as Directors rind officers oi' other companies

involved in develoE7ment and }production, Consequently, there exists the possibility th~it such Directors or

Officers may be an a position ot~ conflict of interest. luny decision made by such Dia~ectors or Of~ticers

involving the Company arc made in accordance with their duties and obligati~~ias to deal fairly and in good

faitla with the Com~>any and such other companies. In addition, such Directors »vill declare end refrain from

voting; on, any matter in which such Directors may have a materiel conflict of'interest.

I'ern~its, Licenses and flp~rcivals

Tl~e operations of'the Com}~any may require licenses and pcnnits from various goveznmental ~iuthorities.

'.['lie Company believes it holds or is in the process of obtaining a]! nec~ss~~z-y licenses and permiCs to carry

on the activities which it is currently conducting under applicable laws and regulations. Such licenses and

perrr~its are subject t~ changes in regulations and in various operatinb circumstances. T'liere can be uo

guarantee that the Co~~npany will be able to obtain alt necessary licenses and permits that nay be required

Co nl~iintain its activities, constxuct ~aciliti~,s and commence operations. of any of their properties. 7n

addition, if the Co~npariy proceeds to prodoclion on piny property, it i7iust obtain ,inel comply with permits

and licenses wl~icl> >nay cont~~in specific eondit.ions concerning operating procectiires, water use, the

clischar~;e ~~~1'v~arious m~iterials into or on l~~md, sir oz• 1~ater, w~~ste dispos~il, spills, envirnnmenis+l studies,



abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances. 'There can be no assurance that the Company

will be able to obtain such permits and licenses or that it will be able to comply with any such conditions.

~ulatory~M~~tters

The Company's business is subject to various federal, provincial and local laws ~;overnlnb prospecting; and
develop~neut, taxes, labor standards and occupational health, safety, toxic sr~bstances, environmental

protection and other matters. Cannabis cultivation and extraction are also subject to various federal,

provincial and local I~ws and rebulations relatinb to the protection of the environment. 'These laws impose

l~igl~ standards on the cannabis industry to monitor tlae discharge of~ waste water ar~d reE~ort the results of
such monitoring to regulatory authorities, to reduce or eliminate certain effects on or into land, watez• or air,

to progressively rehabilitate cannabis properties, to manage hazardous wastes anti materials and to reduce
the risk of worker accidents. A, violation oPthese laws may result in the imposition of substantial fines and
other penalties.

General Venture Company Risks

The coinnaon shares must be considered highly s~~eculative due to the nature of the Company's business,
tl~e early stage of its deployine«t, its cun•etxt financial position and ongoing; requirements f'or capital. An

investment in the common shares should only be considered by those persons who can affor<3 a total loss
of invest3ne~~t and is not suited to those investors who may need to dispose of their investment in a timely
fashion, l:nvestors should consult with their own professional advisors to assess the legal, financial end
other aspects ot~ aii investment in common shares.

Uncertainty. of Revenue Growth

'.Chore can be no assu~~ance that the Company can generate substantial revenue growth, or that any revenue
growth that is achieved can be sustained. Revenue brc~wth th~it the Comps+ny has achieved or may achieve
may not be indicative of fixture operating results. In addition, the Company may increase further its
opex•atin~; expenses in order to fund increase its sales and ~narlceting efforts and increase its adtriinish•ative
resources in anticipation of fiiture growth. To the extent tl~~it inercases in such expenses precede or are not

suUsequently followed by increased revenues, the Company's business, oper~+ting results and financial
condition will he materially adversely affected.

Maa-kef.iiig ~intl Disti-il~i~tion Cal~abilitics

In order to cornrnexcialize its technology, the Company must either acquire or develop an internal

marketing and sales force ~~vith technical expertise and with supporting distribution capabilities or arrange
for third parties to perform these services. In order to iu~u~ke~ certain of its products, Cho Company must
either acquire or develop a sales and distribution int~~~isrructlne. In order• to max'irnize sales of ot}aer
producCs, the C;oinpany inay detez~minc tta~t iC needs Co either ~icquire or develop a sales and distribution
infrastructure. "The Acquisition or devele>prnent of ~i s~iles rind distribution inPr~~st~rnclure: would require
substantial resources, «+laich ~n~iy divert the attention of its management and key pex;sonnel end dei~er its
product clevelopu~ient and deployment efforts. To the extent tl~~it the Comp~~ny enters into marketing and
sales arrangements with other companies, its revenues will depend nn the efforts of others. 'I'l~ese ef'fbrts
may not be successful. Zf the Company fails to develop subst~ntiai sales, marketing and distribution
ch~mnels, oz- to enter into ~~rrt~ngei~nents with third parries for those purposes, it ~~ill experience del,.iys in
pa•oduct salts and incur increlsed costs,



Rapid Technolo ~i I)evelopznent

The markets f'or the Company's products ai d services are characterized by rabidly changing teclmoloby

and evolving industry standards, which could zesult in product oUso(escence or sho~~t pz~ocluct life cycles.

Accordin~;iy, the Company's success is dependent upon its aUility to anticip~ite technolobic~~l ch~jn6es in

tf~e industries it serves and to successfully idtntif.'y, obtain, develop and market new products that satisfy

evolving industry requirements. T'hez•e can be no assurance that Che Co~np~~ny will successfully develop

new products or enhance and improve its existinb products or that any new pxo<lucts and enhanced at~d

improved existing products will achieve market acceptance. Further, there can be no assurance 'that

competitors will 'not m~~rket products t1~zt have perceived advantages over the Company's products or

which render the products cun•ently sold by the Company obsolete or less marketable. Regardless of the

Industry as a whole, the less lethal secCor moves somewhat slower in the adaptation and integration of

new products.

The Com~~any must commit sibnificant resources to developing new products before knowing whether its

investments will result its products the market will accept. "To remain competitive, the Company array be

required to invest significantly greater resources then currently antieipatecl in research and development

and pz•oduct enhancemE~nt efforks and result in increased operating; expenses.

Competition

The Company's industry is competitive ~~nd coia~posed of many foreign companies. The Company expects

to experience competition from competitoi:s who~~ it expects to continue to improve their products and

technologies. Competitors may announce and introduce new products, services or enhancements that

betk~;r meet the needs oi' eiid-users or ch~n~ing industry standards, or achieve greate~~ m~~rket acceptance

CIL1C. 10 ~I"1ClI]b, saes channels or other i'actors, Competitors may be able to respond more quickly than the

Company to chanties in end-user renuirements and devote greater resources to tlae enhancement,

promotion end sale of t}ieir prodt.icts.

Intellectual ProPert

T}te Comp~.my's ~iUility to compete effectively will cleperid, in port, on its tibility to ~riaint~~in the

proprietaa•y nature of its technology anti m~inufach~ring processes. Alil~ough the Company considez-s

cert~iin of its product designs ~~s well pis m~~nufacttzring processes involving certain cif its products to be

proprietary, patents or copyrights do not protect all design and in~inu~l.'aeCuring processes. The Coinpa»y

has adopted l:~z~~>cedures to protect its intellectual property and maintain secrecy of its confidential

business iniori~~i~ition and t~r~ide secrets. However, there c~+n be no ass~irance th~it such procedures will

afford complete protection of such intellectual property, confidential busia~ess inf'orination ~.md trade

secrets. There tali Ue no assurance that the Comptiny's competitors will not independently develop

technoIo~ies that are substanti~~lly equivalent oi• superior to thr; Company's technology.

To protect tl~e Company's intellectual property, it may become involved in litigatio», which could result

in subst~.~nti~al expenses, divert the attention of its management, cause significant delays and materially

disr~ipt the conduct of its business.



s•r~,~~ccx ANn ou~r~.00x

Our objective is to rnaximire the value of the Company for our shareholders and oar►• strateby to obtain this
result is to continually seek opportunities to participate i» new ventures in ~~ny sector.

The Company ,s short-tez-an list of objectives is as follows:

• The Company intends to work closely with .tldmiral Bay Resources Inc, to coanplc:te the proposed
RTO transaction

S~CMr,NT INFORMATION

The Company is a holdinb company whose subsidiazy in Jaanaic~ is in the early stage marijuana services
and products, and another subsidiary in Canada is in the early development of CBD product portfolio, ~i5
well as develoknnent of ~u~tificial intelligence powered technology to identify if someone is under the
influence of cannabis and to predict substance addiction.

There ire no revenues during the year. All assets are located in Canad~i except for proF~erty aric] equipment
f'or $14,10( and prepaid ex~~enses for $26,672 which are IocaCed in Jamaica.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

~~) On Ma~•c}~ 18, 2019, the Company executed a teaming agreement with Tech Mahindra Limited
("TechM") incorporated under the laws of India with the desire to act as a team f'or the purpose of
prepaz•ing and submitting a proposal of projects pertaining; to defection of cannabis rind alcohol
ianpairinent to customers.

U) On March 19, 2019, the C',o~npany executed an agree~r~enC with I-~ind~~lco ~Indi~stries Limited
("I3indalco"), a Company incorporated under the laws of India. Both p~~rties intend to establish an
ongoing co-operative business relationshi~~ in the field of addressing impairment related to drugs
aild alcoha] in the workplace.

c) On May ], 2019, the Company issued 550,000 common shares to a directoa foz• services ~md
250,000 common shares to a cozisultant for services.

d) On August 12, 2019, the Company closed a private placement ~~f~ 3;296,000 units at 90.25 per unit
for a consideratioz~ of $824,000. Lach unit is comprised of one corrimon share and one-h~ilf of one
common share purchase wairmt (e~~ch whole w~irrant, ~ "Warrant"),with each Wsu-rant exercis~~ble
into a common s1~a~~e o#~ the Company pit ttn exercise pz•ice of $0.50 per share for a period of ?_4
months. ':T'he Co~r~pany paid fiudeis fees for ; 49,320 in cz~sh and issued 66,400 cornmon s}~azes at
X0.25 per sh~jre.
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CUL1']VAR IIOLD.iNGS LTD.

MANAG~MTNT DISCUSSION ANll ANALYSTS

For t1~e Th►•ee ziicl Six Mo~it}~s F,nded July 3I, 2019

(Information as at September 30, 20X9 unless otherwise noted)

Introduction

Management's Discussion 1[1CI Al1flI~SIS ("MD&A") is intended to help the reader understand Cultivar
I-Ioldings Ltd., (the "Company") consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended July
31, 201). 'Phis MD&A should be read in conjunction with the consolidated fin~►ncial siateme~ats of the
Company and the notes thereto for the year ended January 31, 2019 and the interim condensed financial
statements for the three and six months ended Duty 31, 2019, The effective date of this ~•eport is September
30, 2019. The consolidated financial statements at•e prepared in accordance with International Financial
ReportiTig St~lndvds ("IFRS"). Unless expressly stated otherwise, all financial i~aformation is pr•esenled in
Chadian dollars. Phis Mll&A contains cea•tain forward-looking information a~~d involves risks and
unce~~tainties, including but not limiked to, those described in the "Risk factors" section.

Forw:~rd-Loolcin~ Statc:aiae~ats

CerCain stateme~~ts co~ltained iii the following MD&/1 constitute forward-looking statements (within tl~e
meaning of tl~e C~iraadian securities legislation and the U.S. Private SecuriCies Litigation Reform Act of
1995) that involve risks end uncertainties. :Forward-looking statements are frequently, but not always,
](~Critlfled ~)y WO]"vS SIIC)1 c1S °expects", "anticipates", 'believes", °117~~i1C~S~~, ~~GSIICri8~0S~~, '~~)O1~I1111~°,

~ ~J)OSSIU~O° £ltl<j S11771~i1i' ~Y}~1'CSS10)15, Ol' Sli11C171011tS thlt 0V011tS, co~lditions or ~~esults ~~Wll~~~, ~~Illfly", ~~COII~(~~~

or "should" occin• or be achieved. 'i'he forward-looking strite~~~ents may include statements regarding work
programs, capital expenditures, timelines, strategic plans, market price of commodities or other statements
that ire not statement af'fact. T~orward-looking statements are stzternents about the future a~~d are inherently
uncertain, and actual achievements of tlae Company may differ materially fi~om those z•eflected in forward-
looking stateanent:s due to a variety of risi<s, uncez~Cainties and other factors. Por the reasons set forth above,
investors should not place undue reliance on forward-loof<in~ st~itemenis. Important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the Company's expectations include uncertlinties involved in
disputes end li~i~~ition, fll~ctuations in commodity prices anal currency exchange t•1tes; uncertainty of
estimates o1'capitaf and operating costs, recovery r~~tes, prod~iclion estimates and eco~aomic return; the need
far cooperation of 6overnmei~t agencies; the need to obtain additional 'financing end uncertainty as to the
avail~ibility and terms of futi~irc finaucin~; uncertainty related to the completion of tl~e amalgamation.

It is the Cc~mpiny's policies t.l~at all forward-looki~ag statements err; based on the Cot~~pany's beliefs and
ass~unptions which ire based on information available ~t the time these assum~ations are made. The
foz•~vard- 1<~oking st~t~ten~cnis contained herein ire as of July 3~1, 2019 and are subject to change after this
date, and the Coinp~~ny asslin~ies no obligltia~ to publicly update or revise the statements to reflcct~ new
events or circumstances, except as may be required pursuant f~> applicable laws.



/1lthotigh management believes that the expectations represented by such forwaa~d-looki~~g information or

statements are reasonable, there is significant risk that the forward-loolcinb informatioia or statements may

clot be achieved, and the u~~dei•lying assumptions thereto will not prove to be accur~t:e. Forward-looki~ag

information or statements in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, iaiformation or siatemea~ts

concerning our expecCatioi~s regarding the ability to ruse additional f~ruids, results of the research and

develo~naeut performed in relation to the products end services of the Company, positive result due to the

chznge in business model, possibility of entering into strategic alliance, distribution agreements and other

arrangements to market their products and services and possibility of producing viable products through

the use of the new technologies purchased and developed.

Actual results or events could differ materially frown the plans, intentions and expectations ex{~a~essed or

implied in any forward-looking information or statements, includitag the underlying assumptions thereto,

as a result of numerous risks, uncertainties and factors including; the possibility that opporttmities will prise

that require more cash than the Company has oz• can reasonably obtain; depeaadence on key personnel;

dependence on corporate collabot•ations; potential dellys; uncertainties related to early stage of technology

and product development; wlcertainties as to fluctuation of the stock market; uncei~tai»ties as to firture

ex}~ense levels and tlae possibility of unanticipated costs oc expenses or cost overi•iuis; ai d other• risks and

uncertainties which inay not be described hecein.'Che Company has no policy foa~ updating forward looking

i~~formation beyond the procedures required under applicable securities laws.

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Cultiva~• 1-loldia~gs Ltd was incorporated on December 6, 2017, pursuant to the Ontario Business

Corporations Act is a holding company in the cannabis space ~~nd through its three vertically integrated

businesses, is engaged in the global cannabis market and are offering products for testing technology,

Cultivation &Distribution of Extracts as well as Derivative Nutraceutical Products.

On }~ebruary 15, 2018, the Company acquired a 49% interest in a newly incorporated Cultiv~r JA l.,imited,
(the "CJA"~ 1 C01'~OP1ti011 incorporated under the laws of .Tamaica. The remaining 51 %interest is owned
by local business pai~ti~ei•s. CJA }Zas ahead}~ received the pre licenses (condation~l licenses) fi•oJri CI.,A
Jamaica and once we setup our infrastructure aftet~ CI,A inspects our facilities, tl~~ conditional license will
lie converted info a full license

On July 16, 2018 the Company acquired a ]00% iiaterest in a newly incorporated Cann IP t-loldings Inc.
(~>rioi~ dame 2(>39745 Ontario lnc.) (tl~e "Cann") a corporation incor~~oi•ated under the laws of the province
of Ontario. Cann is engaged in Che development of cosmetic and edible product lines, as well as invesCment
in technology to detect an individual influence oi'cannabis. The Company did a one for one share exchange
wikh Caia~~ and issued 29,800,000 eommo~~ shares to the shareholders of Cann.

7"he Company's corporate head office is located ~t 77, Icing Street West, Sui(c 3000, "I~oronto, Ont<~rio,
Canada, MSIC 1G8.

~'he le~;ali;~ation of cannabis his brought upon the issue of cannabis imF~airmcnt to the forefront boils for
law enforceanent abencies along with workplace. Moreover, in several international jurisdictions with
tropical climate, cannabis does grow like a "weed" and is in fact a cheaper alternative to alcohol. As such
cannabis impairment is turning ot~it to be a universal problem but there is a complete lack of tools to identify
C111i1~~1S 1111~~1I'I11C11f.

Currently, evtnpenies are in tl~e process of flying t'o develop bre,~thalyrers for ~~l']-1C (Tetrahydrocan»abinol),
the psychoactive ingredient in caa~nabis. I-lowever, tl~e biggest drar~~bacl< wit117~I IL b~~e~iU~~ily~ers is the lack



of cara•elation with impairment which has been brought up in several studies conducted to date.

I'ua-thermore, breathalyzer technology (cannabis oe alcohol) is not suited for use at workpllce.

Our first vertical, PredictMedix has been working towards development of Artificial Intelligence powered

facial and voice recognition technology to detect c~t~nabis along with alcohol impairme~it. Predict MElliX

has developed a market viable product (MV1') to detect drug impairment using proprietaay artificial

Intelli~;enee (AT) tech~~ology al~o~•ithms with adecision-making ability to identify if someone is driving

under the influence of cannabis and alcohol. ']'he AI algorithms use several unique data points with facial

and voice t•ecognition to identify impairment. Applications for detecti~~g drug impairment can range fi~om

roadside ianpairment tests to workplace safety. We have filed patents to protect our technology atad are

currently patent pending; these are effectively with the first set of patents in the world that incorporate and

utilize AI to detect i~npairanent. Predict MF,DiX is in the process of starting alarge-scale study with over

3500 participants, which will further solidify our technology.

P►•edict MEDiX sig~~ed a JV with 'Tech Mahir~dra (subsidiaay of M~hindra Group) to allow them io sell our
drug impait•ment festing technology to t}aeir clients. 'Tech Mahindra was rated ranked 15th globally in
Forbes digital 100; the toy 100 public companies shapin6 the digital economy (which also ia~cluded Google
and Amazon). They are a provider of information technology, a~etworking technology salutio►~s, integrated
engineering solutions and business J~rocess outsourcing to various industries. Tech Mahia~dra had $4.77
Billion (USD) of revenue in 2018 with a current market capit~lirTtion of over Q~l 1 Billion (USD).

Predict M~DiX has also sibned a MOU with I-lit~dalco Industries for conducting pilot studies using our
proprietat~y drug impairment detection technology to detect impairment among their employees and also to
explore business of~portunitics together. I-lindalco ]ndustries is one of the 1ai•~est alumi~~ium aald copper
manufacturing company globally and a subsidiary of the Aditya Birla Group; an Indian Multinational
Conglonaecate with operations in 35 countries end over $44 13iliion (USD) in revenue. Hlndalco is one of
the largest aluminum rolling companies in the world with revenue exceeding ~l8 Billion (USD) in 2018.

We will license our soi~tware to two distinct mai~l<ets; law enforcement agencies and 1 variety of industries
that are concerned about impairment in the workplace such as manufacturing, training, at~d aviation. Our
pai~tneiships with Tech Mahinda•a and 1-lindalco Indl~stries I_,fd will be of immense va]ue in marketing to the
workplace related markets.

Out' second vertical, Cultivar lamaiea (Cultivar Jn) is a grower, supplier and distributor of cannabidiols
(CBD oils} anti tetr•ahydroeannabinols ("T'I-ICs) with registration in Jamaica. Cultiv~r's mission is io be a
n~at~ufaeturer and wholesaler of consu~T~able cannabis products including cosmetics, natu~'al health
products, pharmaceuticals, veterinary health products, vaporiser oil and edibles.

:lamaica provides many t.ulique ~dvanta~;es to grow and distribute ca~~n<ibis. Jamaica's hot climate creates
more growth cycles per year (5/6 8-week cycles). Growing conditions in Jamaica are significantly less
expensive due to utilii:ies and labor cost when compered to indoor gror~vei•s in Canada. The Jamaica~~
growing environ~neut also p~~ovides the advantage of more unique strains than other traditional growers
giving Cultivar an edge in prod~ict diCPerentiation, quantity ~~nd price.



On May l st, 201), the compan}~ has received four conditional approvals Por licenses in:

1. Cultivation

2, Processing

3. 'Transportation

4. Retail (~Terb I-louse): Pharmacy/dispensa2~y

Conditional approvals are subject to the property meetia~g the Cannabis Licensing Authority's pre-license

site inspection.

The Company is taking a very disciplined approach with their Jamaican operztions and firstly waa~t to prove

our profit36ility on 2 acres on land. It is only after we caax prove our profitability in 2 acres tl~at we will

expand fw•ther. Additionally, with the Jtunaic~n govenuneni ~milizing their export strategy over the neat

couple of months, we anticipate tai•geti~ig the export market.

Our third vertical, Dazed I..eaf; is a cannabis nutraceutical company which is reinventing health and

wellness teas az~d cosmetics by offering unique health focused Gannabidiol (CBll} infused pt•oducts which

have been scientifically Pormullted and ire free of chemicals and ~~reservatives.

Dazed leaf sew a g~~owing demand in CBD infused products coupled with a growing health and wellness

trend in North America. 'Therefore, we sought fo create scientifically proven health and wellness tees

infused with C~3D to be at the forefi~ont of this new industry. Over a rigot•ous research and development

phase Dazed Leal'has come up with five unique tea blends.

These eve blends are: 'Total l:)etox, At:hletie Power, Skin Glow, Inir►~iu~e Balance, and Passion Redefined.
F,ach of these teas has an u~~ique herb~il blend which, once combined with the CBD, creates very powerful
effects to promote health and wellness. An initial survey saw massive customer demand and excitement
over the possibility of this new and innovative product.

Vivir Cosmetics is part o1' Dazed Leaf C13D infused product portfolio. CS~D ital~used cosmetics has mtlny
be~~efits including reduced inflammation, ani~.i-aging, moisturianlg and efficacy in treating s]<in disorders.
Currently, we arc ~ua•king on three product. lines including a face mask, serum and moistu~•it.,er.

Mer er trans~ctio~a

Parties to the `t'ransaction: C:ultivar I-]oldi~lgs Tnc. (the "Corporation"), a public cou~pany existing under the
laws of I3ritisl~ Columbia, Cultivarl loldiilgs I~td. ("Company"), and 2693980 Ont:~rio ]nc. ("Ad~~~iral Sub"),
<i private conzp~iny inco~~porated under the laws of Ontario.

Description ot~ the Transactio~~: Ei'Iective Seplemt~er 23, 2019, the Corporation completed the previously
annouilce<l acquisition of all of the issued and o~~tstanding shares of the Company by wa~~ of a tl~i•ec-
~ornered amalgamation, purs~~ant to which the Admiral Sub amalgamated with tlae Company (the
"Transaction"). Pursuant to tlic "Tl'ansa~tion, e~ich registered shareholder o~P the Company (a °Company
Shareholder") received one (]) com~l~on share in the capital of the Corp~~ralion for es~ch Company common
share hcid (each a °Company Shv~e"), resulting; in the issl.iance of an aggregate of 97,439,900 common
shares of the Coreoration to Company Shareholders. As part of tl~e'~Il~ansaction, warrants of Company were
replaced ~~ith common share purchase ~~varrants of the Cot•poration. In addition, 500,000 Company Sh,~res
were set asicic fo be issued to members of Co~np~ny's ]]18118~;0I11C11t IC~UII upon the fiaa~l apF~roval of
.Jamaica's C~»nabis l.,icensing l~ui~l~ority for the licences i~~volved in the cuitiv~tion, processing, retail and



transpo~~t~tion of c~nnlbis. At the tiia~e of closing, Con~paaay also Ilad outstlr~ding warrants exercisable into
an ag~re~ate of 1,648,000 Company Shares at a price of ~Q.50 per share until nu~ust l2, 2021.

"l"he Corporation also changed its name from "Admiral I3ay Resoiu•ces Inc." to "Cultiva~• I-loldings Inc."
Following completion of the Transaction, the directors aiad officers of the Corporation are as follows:

Sheldon ICales (Director and Chief Executive Officer),
Dr. Rahul ICushwah (Director and Chief Operating Officer},
Rakesh Malhotra (Chief financial Officer),
'Loan Sipos (Director),
/ljit Kumar (Director).

STLECT~D FINANCIAL INFURMATiON

The following table contains selected consolidated ~nanclal infoa•m~tion of the Company for the three

months ended July 31, 2019 and 201$, ~ind the slx months ended July 31, 2019 and the; period from

incorporation oar Dece~~~ber 6, 201.7 to July 3l, 2018.

I~CYIOCi fY0!)i

3 months ended 3 months ender! 6 n7onihs ended December 6, 2017

July 31, 2019 July 31, 2018 July 31, 2019 to Jz~ly 31, 2018

~ ~ ~ ~

'Total expensas (166,19%) (41,181) (305,041) yi (̂116,639)

Net loss and comprehea~sive loss (iGC,197) (41,181)~ (305,041) (I 16,639}

T.,oss per conunon share —basic (0.002) (0.001) (0.003) ~ (0.004)

and diluted

- --Weibhted average number of ------~ --- --~

common shaves outstanding-
94,077,500 39,145,000 93,684,130 30,7)0,567

7'he chart below presents the summary fina~lcial information of the Company:

~~— -- As crl July 31, 2019 (,`5) its crJ Janumy 31, 2Q19 ($)

Cw rent assets 1,958,471 1,715,621

Non-current assets 2),588 14,106

'T'otal assets 1,988,059 1,729,727

Current liabilities 37,517 47,1 13

Total long-term liabilities 10,476 -

Shareholders' equity 1,940,066 1,682,614

Cash dividends ~~er common shire - -



OV~I2ALL 1'ERFOIZMANC~ AND R~~,SULTS OT' OPEIZA'TIONS

~x~~enses and Net I.~oss

Total expenses for the three months ended July 31, 2019, were $166,197 (July 31, 20]8 — $41,181) and for

the six ►~~onths ended July 31, 2019 were $305,041 (July 31, 2018 —$116,639).

Si€rni~cant variances

Opea•ations iii the prior period ended July 31, 207 8 wec•e in the very early start up phase of the Coi~~pany
with little activity beyond recognizing management efForts ht'QU~klt into the Com~~any. Therefore,
comparisons to the p►~io~- year period may not have sizable value.

Management fees for the three months ended July 31, 201 J consist of fees paid to senior management or to
~ampanies owned by senior inan~igement, and shares issued as compensation to the Company's director
including (1) $24,000 paid to the CEO for services, (2) $18,000 paid to a director for services and (3}
550,000 shares valued at $55,000 liven as compensation for services provided to a director fog• services,

Mana~en~ent fees for the six mo~iths ended July 31, 2019 consist of fees paid to senior' management or to
Companies owned by setaior manage~raent, and sltai•es issi.ied as compensatio~i to the Coiz~pany's director
including (1) $48,400 paid to the CEO for services, (2) $18,000 paid to a director for services, (3) 550,000
shares valued at X55,000 give~~ as com~~ensation for services provided to a director fox• services and (4)
~S,08S paid to the CFO for services.

Share-based compensation of :3,549 (July 31, 2018: $nil) for the six months ended 7t~ly 31, 2019, consists
of the taii• vahie (Black- Scholes c~lcul~ition) of the vesting of options to consultants.

Research and develo~~ment costs foa~ 973,733 for' the six months ended July 3l , 2019 (prior period: $ilil) are
costs incut'red by outside research providca• for development of 11i-t~ificial Ii~tellig~nce powe~~ed facial and
voice recognition technology to detect can~labis along with alcol~oi impairment.

Nn cash dividends have been paid by the Company. "I'he Company his no present intention oP paying cash
dividends on iCs common shares as it anticipates th~~t all available funds will be invested to finance existing
acfivilies.

cRt~rzc~1, Accourr~rrrrc ~~s~rimn~l~r;s
Prep~u•ii~g financial st~~lements in conformity with iFRS requires the Company to select from j~ossible
alternitive accounting principles. Estimates also affect cl~issification and reported amounts for various
assets, liabilities, equity balances, revenues and expenses. Prior estimates are revised as new infortxaation is
obtained and are subject to change in future ~~eriods. Management believes tl~e accounting policiEs and
estimates used ia~ preparing the interii~~ condensed cunsolid~~ted finanei~al statements are considea•ed
~ippro~~rilte in ll~e circumst<~i~ces but are subject Co munerous judgments and lincertaintics inherent iii the
financial reporting process,

"The preparation of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements requires mana~;etneut to make
judgements reg~rdin~ the going concern of the Company, as well as the determination of fianctional
c~.irrency. The functional currci~cy is the currency of the prim<~ry economic envn~onment in which ~n entity
operates ~tld h1s been determined for each entity within the Company. The functional currency for the
Company and its subsidiary i~as been determined to be tine Can~idian dollar.



Income taxes -There are many transactions and calculations ut~det•tal<en during the ordinary course of

business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 'The Company recognizes lilbilities blsed

on the Company's current unclerstandi~~g of tax laws as applied to tl~e Compaa~y's cit•cumstances. Where

tl~e final Y~tx outcome o1~ these makters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such

differences will impact the current and deferred tax ~~rovisions in tl~e periodu~ which such determination is

made.

Stock option valuation -issuances a~~d grants of share options axe valued using the fair value method.

Management uses the Blacl<-Scholes valuation anodel to estimate the fair value of options determined at

grant d~Te, Grants of options result in non-cash chat•ges to expense and a corresponding credit to skiare-

based payment reserves. Claaa•ges associated with granted options are recorded over the vesting period.

Significant assumptions affecting valuation of options include the trading value of tl~e Company's shares

at the date of gt~ant, the exercise price, tlae term allowed for exercise, a volatility factor relating to the

Com~~any's historical share price, forfeituz•e rates, dividend yield a~~d the risk-free inte~•est rate.

Useful life oP property and equipment —Property and equipmea~C is depreciated over its estimated useful

life. estimated useful lives are determined based on current f~cis and past experience and takes iaito

considea~ation the anticipated physical life of the asset, potential far technological obsolescence, and

regu I ations.

New standards aclo~~ted

(z) Leases and right-of-use assets

In Ja,~ua~y 2016, the 1/1.SB issued IFRS 16 -Leases ("7PRS 16"), replacing TAS 17 -Leases. TTiRS 16

provides a single lessee accot.inting model and requires the lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all

leases on its statement of Cnancial position, providing tl~e reader with greater transparency of an entity's

lease obligations.

At February 1, 2019, the Company adopted 7FRS l6 using the modified retrospective ap{rro~ch and

accordingly tl~e information ~~resented for 2018 has aiot been restated. Tt ren~~~ins ~s previously reporfed

under TAS 17 and related intea~pretatio~ls.

All leases ace accounted for by recognizing a 1•ight-oi=use asset and a lease liability except for•:

- L,eases of low value assets; and

I.,elses with a dtn~ation of twelve months or less.

Lease liabilities are measw•ed at the present value of tl~e coi7tractual payments due to the lessor over the

lease term, with the discount rate determined by the incremental borrowing rite o~~ commencemenE of the

lease is used. Variable lease payments are only included in tiie measurement of the lease liability if they

depend on an index or rate. ]n such cases, the initi<~1 measurement of the (ease li~~bility assumes the variable

element will remain unchen~;ed throughout the le~~ise term. Other variable lelse a~ayments are expensed in

the peciocl t'o which they relate,

On initial recognition, the c~iriying value o'P the lease liability also i»cludes:

Amounts expected to tie payable cinder any residual value guarantee;

-'The exercise price of any pw~chase option granted if it is reasonably certain to assess that option;

- any ~:~enalties payable for termiil~~tin~ the Lase, if tf~~e tet•n~i o~Pthe lease has been estimated on ~I~e basis of

terminition option beinb exercised.



Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for Duly lease

incentives received, and iner~ased for:

- Lease pay~x~ents ►Wade at or before commencement of the lease;
lnitill direct costs incurred; and

- The amount of a~~y provision recogni•red where the Company is contractually c~equired to dismantle,
remove or restore the leased asset.

Leese liabilities, on initial measul•ement, increase as a result of iaitea•est charged at a constant rate on tl~e
balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made.

Right-of use assets are aia~ortized on a straight-line basis over the remaia~ing term of the lease ar over the
remaining economic life of the asset if this is judged to be shorter than the lease term.

When the Company revises its estimate of the te►~m of any lease, it adjusts the carfyin~ amount of the lease
Liability to reflect tl~e payments to male over tl~e revised lea•m, which are discounted at the same discount
rate that applied on lease commencement, The cat'rying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when
the variable ele~a~ent of future lease payane~~ts dependent on a rate or index is revised. In both cases an
equivalent adjustment is made to the clrryi~~~ value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying
amount being amortized over the renlai~~ing (revised) lease term.

The Company adopted this standard and the impact oa tlic Company's unaudited condensed interim
consolSdated i"inancial statements are disclosed in note ]5 and 16 to tf7e interim condenser! consolidated
financial statements for period ended July 31, 2019.

(b) Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments: On June 7, 2017, the IASB issued 11~R1C Interpretation 23
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. The Interpretation provides guidance on the account-ing for
current aiad defen•ed tax liabilities and assets in circumstances in whirl! there is uncertainty over Inco~~le
tax treatments. The Conapa»y adopted this standard 1t February 1, 2019 and there was no material impact
on the Company's u~laadited condensed interim consolidaied financial statements.

Other lecow~ting sta~ldards a~~d amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued a~ad
have fut~u•e effective dates are not applicable ar are not expected to have a significant imp<~ct on the
Company's financial statements.

I..IQ'[1IDITY AND CAPITAL R~SOURCT,S

i1t July 31, 201 J, the Canpany ll~d cash of $1,7] 7,105 (January 31, 2019: g 1,558,949) and worl<in~ ca~,~ital
of $1,920,954 (.ianuary 31, 2019: $l,6fi8,508),

Dw-ing the six•iuonth period ended July 31, 2019, the Company received X478,944 as cash for share
subscriptions and expensed $46,]25 as deferred costs forihe rnergei• transaction, resulting; in cash provided
from financing Zetivitias foi• $432,819, used $270,SJ7 in operating activities and ~4,IA6 in investing
activities.

Dua•ing the period fi•om December 6, 2017 (incorpor'ation) to .fu1y 31, 20] 8, the Com~~any received :443,530
from issu<~nce o~f common shares Ii•om financing activities, used $151,150 in operating ~etivities and
$18,171 in investingactivities.

The Company has fina»eed its opeeations from inception to d~~e through U~i~ issuance of equity shares.



The Company cu~•rently Ilas ilo source of revenues; as such, admi~iistrat.ive and other expenses may exceed

available cash resources and additional t~undin~; may be required to f~u•the~~ its projects and to meet ongoing

requirements for general operations. "I~l~e ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent

an raising additional Financing, development of its projects and generation of profitable operations in tl~e

future.

On August 12, 2019, the Comp~my closed a pz•ivate placement of 3,296,000 units at $0.25 per unit for a
consideration of $824,000, of which $~478,94~ was received during the period ended July 31, 2019 (Note
14), Each unit is comprised of o~~e common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant
(each w}aole warrant, a "Warrant"), with each Warrant eYerclsablc into a common share of the Company at
an exe~•cise ~n•ice of $0.50 per share foz• a period of 24 months. The Company paid finder's fees of $49,320
in cash and issued 66,400 common s}iares at $0.25 per s}~are.

As such, tiae Company believes it has enough cash to maintain itself for the next 12 months.

The Company's objectives when managi~~g its ca~~ital structure are to preserve the Company's access to

capital markets and its ability io a~aeet its financial obligations,

Based on available £ands, tl~c Comp~iny manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it to

al~aintai~a flexibility while achieving the objectives stated above as well as support future l~usiatess
opportunities.

To manage the capital structure, tl~e Company may adjusi its project plans, operating expenditure plans, or

issue new common shares. "l'he Company monitors its capital structure using annual forecasted cash flows,
expenditure budgets and targets for the year 1s well as corporate capitalization schedules. This is achieved
by the Board oi'Directors' review and acceptance of expenditure budgets that are ~ichievable within existing
resources and the timely matching and release of the next stage of expenditures with the resources made

available from private placements or other funding.

Tlie ]3oard of Dii•ectois does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rathez~
relies on tl~e ex~ertisc of the Coanpatiy's managerrient to sustain future clevelopn~et~t of the basiness. The
Company is not subject to e:cfernally imUosed capital requirements or covenants.

D~UTSTANDTNG SMART+, llA'TA

At July 31, 2019, the Company had 94,077,500 common shires outstanding.

At ,Tuly 31, 2019, the Company I~ad 350,000 outstanding stiocJ< options aiad nil w1A•rants.

a) Share issua~xces driruig the period ended July 31, 2019:

]̀'he Comp~iiy issued 800,000 commo~l shares at $0.10 for services. "Phis includes 550,000 cotni~~on shares
issued to a director valued at $55,000.



b) Stock Options diiri~ig the period ended ,1tNly 3l, 2019:

a) ]n October 2018, t}~c Company granted options to a consultant to acqui►~e a total oi~ 250,000 common
shares. These options were issued at an exercise price of $O.10 per shac•e and vested 75,000 immediately,
37,500 at the dzte of engineering milestone (vested during the period ended July 31, 2019} and balance
13'7,500 on coiz~p{etion of additional milestones, includi~~g 75,000 on model development and 62,500 on
project haudover, with an expiry term of two years. `i'he fair value of each option used for the purpose of
cstimatin~ the stock-based compensltion is estimated using the Black-Scholes opiion prici~~g model with
the followi~~~ assumptions;

Risk free rate 2.2~%
Isxpected dividends ~°~a
Erected forfeiture rate po~a
Expected volatility 100%
Expected life 2 years
Unvested stock-based compensation expelase as of January 31, 2019 $ 9>272

During the 6-month period ended July 3l, 2019, tl~e Company expensed $1,987 relating to the vesting of
37,500 options, resorting in unvested stock- b~secl compensation expense of $7,285 as of July 31, 2019.

b) ]u Noveialber 2018, the Company gt~a~~ted options to 1 consultant to acquire a tots] of 100,000 common
shares. 'These ~pfions were issued at ~n exercise price of $0.10 per share end vested 25,000 inunediately,
ant125,~00 each an April 1, 2019, September 1, 2019 and Marcit 1, 2020 with an expiry term of three years.
The fair value of each opCion used for the purpose of estimating the stock-based compensation ]s estiix~~ted
using the Black-Scholes option pricln~ model with the Following assumptions:

Risk free rate 2.30%
l~xpected dividends ~°~a
] xpected forfeiture rate ~%
J=sxpecied volaCility ~ 1 ~~%
Expected life 3 yeaz~s
Unvested stock-eased compe3isation expense as of January 31, 2019 ~ X1,686

During t11e 6-month pea•iod ended July 31., 2019, the Company expensed X1,562 relating to the vesting of
25,000 options, resullin~; in ~~nvested stack- based cotnpe~asation expense of $3,124 as o1~July 31, 2U1).

As o1'July 3 I, 2019, there was $10,409 (Januaz•y 31, 2019: $13,958) of unvest:ed stock-based compensation
expense.

No options ti~ere issued during the period ~fi•om incorporation oil December 7, 2017 to ,luly 31, 2018, ~n~l
hence no stock-based compensation was incurred during that period.

f1s ~~t Jul} 31, 2019, the Company ltad Che following share ~~urchase options outstan<ting an~i exercisable:

Outstanding exercisable I~:xercise Price 1Zemaiaaing life (Years) Prxpiry llate
25O,000 1 12,500 :0.10 l .24 October 25; 2020
1 00,000 50,000 $0.10 2.28 Noven~iber 8, 21)21
350,000 162,500 $0.10 1.54



Financial risk management and objectives

The C,ompany's activities expose it to a Variety of fiaiancial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk

(including interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, and commodity price risk).

The Company thoroughly examines tl~e various Ct~ancial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the

impact and likelihood of those risks. Where material, t.l~ese risks a~-e reviewed and monitored by the Board

of Directors.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an uiiex~~ected loss if a customer or third party to a finvicial i~~strwnent fails to

meet its contractual oUligations. The Company is not exposed tv signi~ca~~t credit risk.

~uidiC, risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Com~~any will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its ~nai~cial

obligaCions as they come due. The Company's liquidity and operating results may be adversely arfected if

its access to tlae capital market is hi~idea•ed, whether as a result of a downturn in stock m~irket conditions

geiaerally or maCters sk~ecife to the Company. The Company generates cash flows primarily from its

iinaa~cing activities.

T'he Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring schcdulcd casts. Liquidity is measured

in various tithe bands, o►i day to day a~~d week-to-week basis, as well as on long term liquidity needs over
180 day to 360 day look out periods. Funding for long term liquidity needs is based on the ability ot~the
Company to successfully complete pf•ivate plticements.

As at Jtily 31, 2019, the Company had sufficient cash of X1,717,105 to settle current liabilities of $17,993.

Mai•1<et Risk

Market a•isJc is t:he risk of loss tkaat tnay arise fi~oui changes in market factors such as interest rates,
commodity and equity prices, and foreign exchange rates.

(u) Irzte~•es~ rate risk

Interest t•ate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of ~i {~lnancial instrument vrill fluctuate
because of changes in i~~arket interest rates. The Company is not exposer( to significant interest rate risk.

(h) Price risk

Ì"he ComE~any is noC exposed to sigiairieant price risk as it does not possess investments in publicly traded
securities.



(c) Currency t•isk

Currency risk fs tlae risk that the lair vahie of #~uture cash mows of a financial instrument denominated in a

foreign currency will fluctuate because of changes in fa~eign exchange rates. I'he Company operates

internatio~aally, which gives rise to the risk that cash flows may be adversely impacted by exchange rate

fluctuations. Amounts subject to clu~rency risk are prepaid expenses held by ~t Directoa~ in US Dollars in a

Jamaican bank account as well ~s operating expenses incurred by CJA in US Dollars and Jamaican Dollars.

As at July 31, 2019, the Company lead net financial assets denominated in US Dollars of appi•oxi~nately

$34,000 (January 31, 2019 — $26,700), Therefore, a 10% change in value of the US Dollar versus the

Canadian Dollar would give rise to a gain or loss of approximately $3,400 (Januaay 31, 201 J —$2,6'10).

The Company leas not entered into any foreign exchange contracts to hedge this risk.

OFF-BALANCI; SHLET Al2I2ANGLM~;NTS

The Company has not entered into any mai:e~•ial off-balance sheet arrange~nea~ts such as guarantee contracts,

contingent interests in assets transferred to unconsolidated entities, derivative instrument obligations, oc

with x•espect to 1ny obligations under a va~~iable interest entity arrangement.

TRANSACTIONS WITH l2T;LA'T~D PARTIES

Related parties include 1<ey management personnel, the F3oard of Directors, close family members and

enterprises that are conh•oUed by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions.

Key management of the Comp~~ny ~~re members of the Board of Directors, the Chief executive Officer

("CEO") and the Chief'i'inancial Office• ("CI O").

"Transactions with key management personnel not disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements include

tlae following:

Incorporation on
Six months ended December 6, 2017

July 31, 2Q19 to July 31, 2018

Management fees to the CEO
Management fees to a director

a8,000 $
18,000 $
55,000 $
5,085 $

2 111

Management fees (issued in shares} to a director
Management fees to the CFO

Total Management fees
Vehicle expense to the CEO
Rent to the GEO included in leasing and rent costs

126,085 $ 8,000
3,000 $ 1,750
9,000 $ 5,250

13F3,085 $ 15,000



Three months Three months

ended July 31, ended July 31,

2019 2018

Management fees to the CEO

Management fees to a director
Management fees (issued in shares) to a director

Total Management fees

Vehicle expense to the CEO

Rent to the CEO included in leasing and rent costs

$ 24,000 $ 8,000

$ 18,000 $ -

$ 55,000 $ -

$ 97,000 $ 8,000

$ 1,5Q0 $ 1,750

$ 4,500 $ 5,250

103,000 $ 15,000

As of July 31, 20l 9, there was $nil due to any related parties. (January 31, 2019 - $17,113 due to the Ct~O,

inclUdecl in accrued liabilities)

130ARD PURI'OSI~; AND FUNCTION

T'he directors and management of the parent company have experience operating; in Canada and the United

States and taking projects through to various stages of development.

The Board's purpose is to ensure corporate governance, ~~isk, strategy and shareholder interests are priorities

at all times. At the end of the t7n~nci~il year under review, Che board consisted of lwo members.

PI20I'OS~D TRANSACTIONS

On September 23, 20l ), Cultivar I-lolclings laic. (formerly Admiral ~3ay Resow~ces tne.) ("Corporation"),

closed its previously announced transaction (t}ae "Transaction") with Culiivar Iloldin~s Ltd. ("Company").

'I~he "fr~iilsaction consisted of tl~e acquisition by the Corporation of all of the issued and outstanding

securities in the capital of Company by way of athree-cornered amalgamation, pursuant to which a wholly

owned subsidiary of the Corporation am~lg~imat-ed with the Company in a reverie merger transaction.

Ptn~sli<mt to the't'r~inslction, e<~ch ComE~ant sh~ireholder received one (1) common share in the capital of the

Corporation for• each Company common share held, resulting in the issuance; of'an ag~i•egate of 97,439,900

common shares of the Corporation to shareholders of Company. ~1s part of the Transaction, w~rr~nts of

Company were repl~~ced with common share purchase ~vTrranYs of the Corporation.

Following the corn~~letion of fhe Transaction (on apost-acquisition basis), the Corporation has a total of

103,954,149 common sh~~res outstanding, as well as common share purchase ~~varr~~nts exercisable to

purchase up to 1,64 ,000 common sh~i•es 1t an exercise price of $0.50 per share.

"Tl~e Goi~porltion also changed its name {i•om "Admiral I3ay Resources Inc." to "Cultivar l loldings Inc."



COMMITMTNTS AND CONTINGrNCTI',S

Effective July 1, 20] 8, the Company signed atwo- year contract with a corporltion owned and controlled
by the CLO to pay monthly compensation of $8,000 for CEO services. In addition, the Company is
obligated to pay n~o~athly z~ent.far $1,500 end an ~clditionai $500 for t}ie use of a personal vehicle.

The Company's opea'ations were governed by governmental laws and ~•cgul~tions regarding environmentll

protection. environmental co~~seque~tees are difficult to both predict and identify, in terms of level, impact

oy timeline. At the present time acid to the best knowledge of its rr~anagement, the Company is inconformity

with the laws at~d ~~egulatioa~s iii effect. Restoration costs will he acc~~ued iia the financial statements only
when they will be reasonably estimated and will be charged to the earnings at the time.

CONTROL AND PROCI~DURES

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief ~inanci~l Offices• ire responsible for designing internal controls

over financial reporting in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding i:he relilbility of tin~nclal

reporking at~d the preparation of the Company's financial stateanents for extel~x~al purposes in accordance

with IFIZS, The design of the Company's internal control over financial re~~orting was assessed as of the

slate of this Management Discussion end Analysis.

T3ased o~~ this assessment, it was determined that certain weaknesses existed iii i~itei•lial controls over

financial repo~~tin~. As indicative of many small companies, the lack of segregation of duties and effective

risk assessment were ident.i~ed as areas where weaknesses existed. The existence of these weaknesses is

to be compensated f'or by seallor management monitoring, which exists. The officers will continue do

monitor• very closely all ~iaancial activities of the Company and increase the level of supervision in key

areas. It is irriportant to note that this issue would also require the C;ompiny to hire additional staff in order

to provide bre~ter segregation of duties. Since the increased costs of such hiring could burden the

Company's financi~] resources, management has chosen to disclose the potential risk in its filings rind

proceed with increased staffing o»ly when the budgets and worl<lo~d will enable the action, "I~he Company

has attempted k~ mitigate these weaknesses, through a coinbin~tion of exte~~sive and detailed review by the

CFO of the ~nl~icial accounting and reporting.

RISKS AND UNCER'l'AINTII;S

The Company is subject to a z~tunber of risks and imcerfainties due fo the nature of its bi.~siness and the

present stage of development of its business. Current and potential investors should give special

considet~atiott to the t•isl< factors i»volved, should the. Comp~u~y continue in tl~e cann~ibis business.

Manaeement

Dependence on Key Personnel, Contractors and Service Providers, share(~olders of our Company rely on

the good faith, experience anti judgment of tl~e Company's manageme}~t end advisors in supervising and

providing foe the e~Pfective m~n~igement of the business <ind tl~e oper~3tions of Che Con~~p~ny and in selecting

and developing new investment and expansio~~ opportunities. "l~he Compt~ny may need to recruit additional

qualified contractors and service providers to sup~~lement existing; ma~~agement. The Company will be

dependent on a ~•elatively small number o~t~key persons, the loss oFany one of whom could have an adverse

et~t~ect on the Coanpany.



Value of Qur Common Shares

The value of the Company's common shares could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to

variations in quarterly acid annual operating resuh:s, the success of the Company's business strategy,

competition or other applicable regulations which may affect the business of the Company and other factors.

Additional Pundin~ acid Pinancing.Risk

fldditional funds will be required for futw~e development. The source of future funds available to the

Company is through the sale of additional equity capital or borrowing of funds. 'There is tao assurance that

such futading will be available to the Company. Furthezanore, even if such financing is successfully

completed, there can be no assurance that it will be obtained on terms favorable to the Co~npai~y or will

provide the Company with sufficient funds to aneet its objectives, which ►nay adversely affect the
Company's btasiness arld tina~lcisl position. 7n <jddition, any future equity finanei~lgs by the Company may
result in substantial dilution for existing shareholders.

Eaavironmental Ris]<

Lnvironmental legislaCion Is evolvia~g in a manner• which will require stricter standards and enforcement,
lncceased fines aa~d pe~~alties for ~~oia-compliance, more stringent environmental lssessments of proposed
projects and a heightened degree ofresponsibility for companies aalcl their o{firers, directors and employees.
There can be no assurance that fuhu•e changes to environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect
the Company's operations.

Uninsua•ed ~Iazards

Tl~e Company cun•ently carries no insiu-ance cove►~a~e, The potential costs that could be associated with
any liabilities not covered by insurance or compliance with applicable laws and 2•egulations may cause
substantial delays end requi~•e significant c~ipital outlays, adversely affecting the Company's f7nancial
position.

Conflicts of Interest

Certain Directors and Officers of tl~e Company also serve as Directors ai d officers of other companies
involved in development and production. Consequently, there exists the possibility that such Directors or
Officers may be in a position of coni7ict of interest. Any decisial made by such DirecYoi•s or• Officez~s
involving the Cornpa~ry are made in accordance with their duties and ohli~ations to deal fairly and in good
f'aitll r~itl~ the Company ~1I1CI SIICII OIIIGC COt11})~1118S. 71l 1dCllti011, such Directors will declare and refi•ain fa~on~
votiaag on, any nlattei• in which such llirectoz-s may leave a material eoiif7iet of interest.

:Permits, Licenses and A~~}~rovals

The operations of the Company may require licenses and J~ea•mits from various governmental authorities.
7'he Company believes it }colds or is in the E>rocess oTobtaining all necessary licenses and permits to carry
on the activities which it is ew~rently conducting under applicable laws and rebulations. Such licenses and
permits are sul?ject to changes in regulatio~~s rind in various operating circumstances. "l~hcre can be no
guarantee t~l~at the Canpany will be able to ot~tain all necess~iy licenses and permits chat may be required
t~o maintain its activities, eonsU~uct facilities acid commence operations, of any of their prope~~ties. In
addii~ion, it'th~ Company proceeds to production on any property, iC must obt<~in and comply with permits
and licenses which may contain specific condieioi~s ebncerning operating E~roccdw~es, water use, the
clischai•ge of various materials into or on land, air oa~ water, waste disposal, spills, e~~vicoi~~3~ental studies,



abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances. There can be no assurance that the Company

wil(be able to obtain such pe~•mits and licenses or that it will be able to comply with any such conditions.

Re~;ul~tary Matte~~s

7'he C'.omp<~ny's business is subject to various federal, provincial and local laws governing prospecting and

development, taxes, labor standards and occupational health, safety, toxic substances, environmental

protection and other i7~aiters. Cannabis cultivation and extraction are also subject to various federal,

proviracial and Iocal laws and regulatioias relating to the protection of the envira~unea~t. These I~jws impose

hill standards oii the cannaUis industry to mo~aito~~ tl~e discharge of waste water and report the results of

such monitoring to regulatory authorities, to reduce oc eluninate ce~~tain effects on or into land, water oz• air,

to progressively rehabilitate cannabSs properties, to manage Hazardous wastes and mtiterials and to reduce

the risk of worker accidents. 11 violation of these laws may result in the imposition of substantial fines and

other pe~ialties.

Gene~•al Veiltu_e Com~~n  XiZislcs

The common shares must be considered highly speculative due to the mature of the Company's business,

the early stage of its deployment, it:s cu~•recat financial position and ongoing requircancnts for capital. An

i~~vestn~ent in tl~e commoa~ shares should only be considered by those ~~ersons who can afford a total loss

of investment and is noC suited to those investors who may need to dispose of their Investment in a timely

fashion. Investors should consult with their own professional zdvisors to assess the legal, financill and

other aspects of an investment in common shares.

Uncertainty of Revenue Growth

'I'laere can be no ~~ssurance that the Company can genea•ate substarlti~l revenue growth, or th~f any revenue

growth that is achieved can be sustained. Ttevez~ue growth that the Company h1s achieved or may achieve

may plot tie indicative of~ future operati~ag results. In addition, the Company may increase further its

operating ~xptnscs in order to Lund iner•ease its sales and marketing ei'forts end iilcre<~se its administrative

resoin ces in anticipation ot~ future growth. 1'o the extent that increases in such expenses precede or are not

subse<~uently followed by increased reve~aues, the Corn~~any's business, operating results and iui<lncial

condition will be materially adversely aff~cte~l.

M~rl<etingand Distribution C.a~~abilities

In order to coinmerci~lize its technology, the Company must either acquire or develop air internal marketing

and sales force with technical e;~~~ertise a~~d with supporting distribution capabilities or arrange ~('or third

parties to perform these services. In order to market certaita of its products, the Company must either acquia•e

or develop a sales and disCributioi~ infr~isfruct~urc, 7n order to u~~aximize sales of other produces, the Company

may determine that it~ needs t~o either acquire or develop a sales and distribution inli-astructure. "]~he

acquisitio~l or development of a sales at~d disTribution infi•astr~ictlire ~~~ould require substantial resources;

which a~nay divert the tittention of its mant~tgement atad key personnel and defer its product dcvclopn~ent and

de}aloyment efforts. ~I'o the extci~t t}lat tl~e Com~~any e»ters i~ato marl<eti»g and sales arr~~n~;ements with other

coi7ipanies, its revenues will de}~end on the efforts of others. These efforts may not be successful. if the

Company Tails Yo develop substantial sales, tnarl<eting end dist~~ibution cha~lnels, or t~o errter into

~irrangements with third }parties for those purposes, it will experience delays i❑ prodi.ict sales Vinci incur

increased costs.



]tauid Technolo icg al Development

The markets for the Coin~any's products end services are characterized by rapidly changing technology
and evolvi~ig indust►y standards, which could result in product obsolescence or• short product life cycles.
Accordingly, the Company's success is dependent upoa~ its ability Yo anticipate technolo~icaJ chanties in
tl~e ia~dustries it serves and to successfully identify, obtain, develop and mlrket new products that satisfy
evolving industry requlreme~ats. There can be no assurance that the Company will successfully develop new
products or cnhanoe and improve its existing products oa• that any new products antl ezal~aa~ced and improved
exisking products will achieve market acceptance. Furthea•, there can be no assurance that competitors will
not market products that have perceived advantages over tfae Company's products or which render the
pa~oducts currently sold by the Company obsolete or less mlrketable. ~te~;ardless ol~the L~dustry as a whole,
the less lethal sector moves somewhat slower in the ada}~tatioz~ and integration of new products.

The Compa~~y must commit significant resources to developing new p~•oducts before Knowing whether its
investments wiJ1 result in products the market will accept. "To remain competitive, the Company may be
required to invest significantly greater resources then currently anticipated in research and development
and product enhaalceme~it eft'orts and result in increased operating expenses.

Com  petitian

'The Company's Industry is competitive and com}~osed of many foreign ccnnpanies. 'I'lie Co►npany expects
to experience competition from conapeCiCors whom it expects to continue to improve their products aaad
t:echnolo~ies. Cornpetitoa•s may 1nT~ounce and introduce new products, services or enhancements that better
i~~eet the needs of end-users o~~ changing; industry standards, or achieve greater market acceptance due to
pricing, sales channels or ocher factot•s. Competitors may be able to respond more quici<ly than the Company
to changes iii egad-user requirements and devote greater resources to the enhancement, promotion and sale
of their products.

Intellectual I'z•o~eriy_

7'he Com~~any's ability to compete effectively will depend, in part, on its ability to maintain the proprietary
nature o{' its technology and manufacturing processes. /1lthough the Company considers certain of its
p~•oduct designs ~js well as manufacturing processes involving cer(~~iri of its products to be propriet~~ry,
patents a• copy~~i~hts do not protect all ciesibn and manufacturing processes. The Company has adopierl
~~rocedures to protect its intellectual property and maintain secrecy of its confidential business information
and trade secrets. however, there can be no assurance that such proced~ires will aFford complete protection
aFsueh intellectual property, conficl~ntial business informatio~~ and trade secrets. "]here c1n be no ~ssuranee
that the Company's competitors will not independently develop technologies that <~re substantially
equivalent or superior to tije Comp<~ny's technology.

'To protect the Company's inte(lectiial property, it maiy become involved in liCigztion, which could result in
sl~bstantial expanses, divert the <~ttention of its m<uiagement, cause significant delays and materially disrupt
the conduct of its business.



SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is a holding company whose subsidiary in Jamaica is in the early stage maa•iju~na services
and products, and another subsidiary in Canada is in the early dev~lopmeut of a CBD product I~oitfolio, as
well as development of artificial intelligence powered technology to identify if someone is under the
influence of caaanabis and to predict substance addiction.

There are no revenues during the periods presented. All assets are located in Canada except for ~n~o~erty
and equipment for ~1 ],300 (January 31, 2.019 - $1 4,106), right of use asset for $18,288 (Jrmua~•y 31, 2019
$Nil) and prepaid expe~lses for ~3~4,2~11 (January 31, 2019 - $26,672) which are located in Jamaica.



SCHEDULE"~"

PRO-FORMA CONSOLIDATEll FINANCIAL STATTMENTS

Please see the attached.



cut,T~vnri i~o~.n~~cs rh~c.
U naudited I'rq Forma Coudensed Slaternenl of I~in:uiciol Position

Juh'.31, 207J

(In CAT) llnllars)

1lisi~~ric;il 1'ro Torm;~

C11C.1'IV~AIt (as al July Admiral (as al
31, 2111)) 1pri1 30, 201)) Adiuslia~c»Is Notes Combined

A Sti('~S

C II I'I'l'Il~ i15ti1'1S:

C~~sh ~ 1,717,10 ~ 857 $ 345,056 a $ ?,063,013

Sales tas receivs~blc - 715 71$

I.,uans and ad~~ances 99,i?~~ - (99,526) c -

I)eicrrcd costs 107,599 - (107,599) d -

Tolnicurrenl assets 1,)53,471 ], 72 137,931 2,097,974

Nnn-Currcaal assets

Properly and egiiipmcnt 11,300 - - 11,30(1

Rig1~t-oFuse asset i S,2S3 - - 1 S.23S

'Ib~al assets 1,953,059 1,572 137,)31 2,127,562

►.i;tbililics

Cw'renl liabilities

accounts payable and other pay~iblc ~; - $ 9,127 - $ 9;177
Accrued li.ibilities 2 ,;91i - 2j,i9(i
Loans payable 75,533 33,643 0 -

I.ca~c abligaiion 1 1 ,9?i - 1 1,921

To~alcurrcnl liabililics 57, 17 SS,010 (7 ,t~3) 4/i,(i44

1~on-cw rent li;ibililics

I.c,uc obligation 10,-176 - - 10,47(1

7'~N:il liabilities 47))93 S~_010 (7~,SS3) ;7,11.0
Slocl<holdcrs' T?quih'

Shm~c Capiwl 700,717 0

1 .3(17.))2 b

U1,9j4,1-19 shares istiucd ;md uutst.mdiuL ], ~ ~ ~,??U ;0. I S?,dSd (U; I S?.~i~d) 4. 1 SO;q~q

tiharc subscrip~iun~ .J7~,9-1-! (-t7~,9~i 1) u

\V:urams reserve I ~1.?~3 ~i I X3.3$3

~o?~>s,~~_»

~ in7:~~~» ~i

l~ccuinulatcddcficit _ -— (4IL9701_------(~ll '6S.)~2) (L~1~1.~J{0) b (3,194,1i~13)



3~on-cunu'alline iulerest

Tol~rl sb:ueholdcrs' equity

1,)97,275 (83,435)

(17,212)

1,940,()66 (33,d~3)

zi3,s~a

213,514

?J27.(i~~{

~,07Q,442

Tolat Ii:ibitilics and slodtholticrs' equity ~ 1,953,059 $ 1,57?. ~ 137,931 ~ 2>127,SC>2



ru~.,Tavnri not.r»hc.s Tnc;.
Uunuilited F'~ro Forma Condensed Siatcmenl oi' l~in:wci~l Position

.luly 31, 2079

N0~@S:

a) On August 12, 2019, the Company closed a p.rivatc placement of 3,296,000 units at X0.25 per unit For a considei-aCion of
h824,000 of which $478,944 was received during the period ended July 31, 2019. Each unit is comprised of one couunon
sha.ee and oue-half of one common share pw•cl~asc warrant (each ~vl~ole warrant, a "W~rrant"), with eac}a V~Jarrant
exercisable into ~ common share oP the Comp~iny at an exercise price of X0.50 per share for a period oI'24 months. The
~I~lack-Scholes option pricing ivodel was used to determine tl~e fair vtilue of ti c waa-a•anls using the Following weight
average assumptions: Expected dividend yield oP0°/n; risk free interest rate oP 1°-4~; expected volatility of 100%; expected
life of 2 years. Tl~e i-~lalive fair value oP the warrants has been valued at $123,?83 and common shires at 5700,717
(9;0.21).

b) Parties to i1~e Tr~ns~etion: Admiral I3ay Resources ]na (the °Corpor~jtion"), a public cornpauy existing under tl~e laws oP
~3ritisl~ Colui~~bia, Cultivar Holdings Ltd. ("Goa»p~ny") and 2(93980 Ontario I»c. ("Acltniral Sub"), ti private company
incorporated under the laws oP Ontario.

Description oP the Transaction: Effective September 23, 2019, the CorpoA-ation completed the acquisition of all of the
issued and outstanding shares of the Company by way of'a three-cornered amalgamation, pursuant to which the Admiral
Sub amalgamated with the Company (the "Transaction°). Pwsuanl to the Transaction, each registered sl~areholcier of the
Coia~pany (a °(.'ou~pany Shareholder")received one (I) comi~~on share in the c~.i~~ital of the Corporation for each Coia~pany
common share held (each a "Company Share"), resulting; in the issuance of an ~iF;p;regate of )7,439,900 common shares
of the Cor~~oratiou to Cou~pany Shareholders resulting in a lot~l issuance o1' 103,)54,149 common shares. As part of the
Transaction, warrants of Company were replaced with oou~nrion shire purch~sc warrants of the Corporation. In additio~~,
500,000 Cuu~J~any shares wea~e set aside to be issued to oiembers of Comptiny's man~gci~~ent team upon the final ap~~roval
oP Jamaica's Cannabis Licensing Authority for the licences involved in the cultivation, processing, retail and
transportation oT cannabis. ~1Y the Buie of closing, the Co~~~pany also had outstanding warrants exercisable into an
aggregate of 1,648,000 Comptmy shares at a price of X0.50 per sh<n-e until nugust 12, 2021. On coro~.>letiou of the
transaction, the Coaporalion chanbcct its nau~~e fro» "Admiral I3ay Resources Inc." to °C'ultiva~r Ilc~ldi~~gs Inc.".

1Jnder IPRS, this was considered to be a Reverse Merger and Rccapitaliration (commonly referred to <is a Reveisc Tale
Over or "RTO").

The Company issued 6,514,249 shires to tl~e sharcholcic~:s of former Cori>oration valued at X0.21 per share (refer to no~c
I), with a total value of $1,367,902 lbr the ~ice~uisition.

The Lair value of the ~cc~uired assets and liabilities assumed is as follo~~s (infornialion based on Cnancit~] statements oT
Admiral 13ay 1Lesources Ina available vs of April 3(7, 2Q I )):

Assclt ticquirc<l by the C'ornpany:
Cash ~ X57
Sales tax receivable 715

Liabilities assumed by the Company:
l~ccouuts payable and other liabilities (9>!27)
Loans p~iyab(c (15,883)

Vet liabilities assumed (83,43$)
l ei, value of issued (1,3(i'1,992)
1_.oss on acquisition S (1,451,430)

c) Loans and advances receiv361e and payable i~<~vc lien currecie~l to ncl to nil <is lhc;se ure inter-cumpriny receivable beuvccn
t he mcrccd entities

~I) Deferred costs have b~eu cxpensecl on completion of the u;in>~ic(ion.


